# UCLA UCLA Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

Many Facets of PNPase - Uncovering the Role of PNPase in the Mitochondria

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/4b23r8k3

**Author** Shimada, Eriko

Publication Date 2018

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

#### UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

Los Angeles

Many Facets of PNPase - Uncovering the Role of PNPase in the Mitochondria

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the

requirements for the degree Doctor of Philosophy

in Molecular Biology

by

Eriko Christine Shimada

2018

© Copyright by

Eriko Christine Shimada

2018

#### ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

Many Facets of PNPase - Uncovering the Role of PNPase in the Mitochondria

by

Eriko Christine Shimada Doctor of Philosophy in Molecular Biology University of California, Los Angeles, 2018 Professor Michael Alan Teitell, Chair

PNPase is a conserved 3'-5' exoribonuclease localized in the mammalian mitochondria. Its expression is essential for embryonic development and mitochondrial homeostasis. PNPase has been recently implicated in regulating mitochondrial RNA import. Utilizing yeast mutants and knockdown systems in human cell lines, we show that porin or VDAC may function as a possible import channel in the mitochondria. The radiolabeled RNA that is imported into the purified mammalian mitochondria crosslinks specifically with VDAC1 suggesting that the imported RNA may go through this outer membrane channel.

In order to further study the role of PNPase, we attempted to create a knockout cell line by adjusting the culture conditions to allow cells to survive without functional mitochondria. Interestingly, the resulting cell lines did not have any mitochondrial DNA shown by the lack of signal from the PCR performed using probes designed to detect the mitochondrial DNA, and these cells also did not respire. Overall, PNPase knockout cells showed a transcriptional profile that was similar to rho<sup>0</sup> cells that lack mitochondrial DNA. Further, PNPase knockout cell lines showed changes in genes involved in cholesterol biosynthesis and regulating neuronal function. This study underscores the unexpected role of PNPase in affecting mitochondrial DNA maintenance.

Finally, we characterized endogenous RNA targets of PNPase, its effect on steady state levels of mitochondrial RNA when PNPase expression is knocked down, and its interaction partners. We find that PNPase binds all mitochondrial tRNAs, mRNAs and rRNAs but specific regions that include tRNAs are enriched in the PNPase CRAC assay. When PNPase expression is knocked down, the steady state levels of sense strands RNAs do not change significantly, but specific antisense strands RNA transcribed from the mitochondrial DNA accumulate at high levels. Using the proximity based BIOID2 biotin labeling system and mass spectrometry analysis, we identified that PNPase may interact with mitochondrial ribosome assembly factors such as FASTKD2, DDX28, and DHX30, and other members of the FASTKD family. Our research suggests that PNPase plays an essential role in the mitochondria where it may regulate mitochondrial DNA maintenance and mitochondrial RNA levels, and it interacts with specific mitochondrial ribosome assembly factors and RNA processing proteins.

The dissertation of Eriko Christine Shimada is approved.

Carla Marie Koehler

Alexander M. Van der Bliek

Catherine F. Clarke

Michael Alan Teitell, Committee Chair

University of California, Los Angeles

2018

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Figures Acknowledgements Vita

Chapter 1	Introduction - PNPase function in bacteria, plants and mammalian systems	s 1
Chapter 2	Porin/VDAC1 may be involved in mitochondrial RNA import	16
Chapter 3	PNPase knockout results in mtDNA loss and an altered metabolic gene exp	pression
	program	40
Chapter 4	PNPase binds mitochondrial RNAs, affects accumulation of antisense RNA	As and
	binds mitochondrial ribosome assembly and RNA processing factors	103
Chapter 5	Future Directions	131
Appendix I	Correcting Human Mitochondrial Mutations with Targeted RNA Import	138
Appendix II	PNPase and RNA trafficking into mitochondria	145
Appendix III	Mitochondria-Targeted RNA Import	156

#### LIST OF FIGURES

Chapter 2		
Figure 2-1	PNPASE mediated mitochondrial RNA import is sensitive to Trypsin	
	shaving of the mitochondrial outer membrane proteins	29
Figure 2-2	Yeast mitochondrial outer membrane protein Por1 is required for	
	PNPASE-mediated mitochondrial RNA import	. 30
Figure 2-3	RNase P RNA translocates through porin/VDAC in mammalian cells	31
Figure 2-4	VDAC1 knockdown affects stable level of <i>RNase P</i> RNA in	
	mitochondria and processing of mitochondrial transcripts	. 32
Figure 2-5	VDAC1 knockdown shows similar effect on mitochondrial functions as	
	PNPASE knockdown	. 33
Chapter 3 Figure 3-1	PKO results in loss of mtDNA	. 59
Figure 3-2	PKO cell gene expression patterns converge and diverge with rho0 MEFs	61
Figure 3-3	PKO and rho0 MEFs have similar cell growth, cell cycle and metabolic	
	gene expression profiles	. 63
Figure 3-4	Loss of PNPase results in hearing loss	. 65
Figure S3-1	Heatmaps of selected overrepresented pathways in DEG clusters (related	
	to Figure 3-2D)	. 66

Figure S3-2	PKO and rho <sup>0</sup> MEFs show highly correlated metabolic gene expression profiles (related to Figure 3-3B).	68
Chapter 4		
Figure 4-1	PNPase binds to regions of mtRNA that contain tRNAs	116
Figure 4-2	Steady state level of sense RNAs encoding for ND-X transcripts do not	
	change significantly upon knockdown of PNPase	117
Figure 4-3	Steady state level of sense RNAs encoding for non ND-X transcripts do	
	not change significantly upon knockdown of PNPase	119
Figure 4-4	Steady state level of 12S rRNA and 16S rRNA decrease upon knockdown	
	of PNPase	121
Figure 4-5	Steady state level of specific antisense ND-X transcripts accumulate upon	
	knockdown of PNPase	122
Figure 4-6	Steady state level of specific antisense non ND-X transcripts accumulate	
	upon knockdown of PNPase	124
Figure 4-7	PNPase interacts with ribosome assembly factors and RNA processing	
	factors in the mitochondria	126

#### LIST OF FIGURES

Chapter 4		
Table 4-1	Potential PNPase interaction partners identified from the BIOID2	
	proximity labeling assay.	127

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank Dr. Michael A. Teitell and Dr. Carla M. Koehler, for trusting me and giving me the opportunity to work on the PNPase project. Mike has always been supportive and I have learned a lot in terms of science and what it takes to become successful in ones career. I am very appreciative of the discussions I had with Carla and her insightful inputs for biochemical assays. I would also like to thank Dr. Alex van der Bliek, Dr. Guillaume F. Chanfreau, and Dr. Catherine F. Clarke for their advice and guidance over the years.

I would like to thank Dr. Geng Wang and Dr. Mahta Nili, for their help on the PNPase project. Dr. Janos Steffen has especially been helpful for technical assistance and having scientific discussions on the PNPase project. I would like to thank Dr. Kevin Roy for his generosity suggesting to perform the CRAC analysis and analyzing some of the data. I would also like to thank Dr. Elizabeth Petfalski and Dr. David Tollervey for performing the CRAC analysis, Dr. Brian Gergory, and Xiang Yu for analyzing the CRAC and SELEX data. Dr. Perrin graciously constructed the *Atoh1-Cre* – PNPase knockout mice and performed the auditory brainstem recording and SEM experiments.

I would like to thank past and current members of the Teitell Lab: Dr. Alex Patananan, Alex Sercel, Dian Huang, Dianne Kim, Fasih Ahsan, Jason Hong, Chris Pang-Gonzalez, Dr. Laura Jimenez, Lynnea Waters, Dr. Perrine Dahan, Stephanie Kennedy, Dr. Tara Tesla, Thang Nguyen, Dr. Nicole Walsh, Dr. Rani Najdi, Dr. Jessica Fowler, Robert Nguyen, Vivian Lu and past and current members of the Koehler Lab: Dr. Non Miyata, Dr. Meghan Johnson, Dr. Colin Douglas, Eric Torres, Vivian Zhang, Jennifer Ngo, Gary Schmorgan, Dr. Deepa Dabir, Jisoo Han, Christina Jayson, Thao Vi, Michael Conti, Dr. Matthew Maland and Dr. Janos Steffen, Dr. Sonya Neal, Dr. Moses Liau, Dr. Esther Neubel and Dr. Geng Wang.

I would like to thank the members of the Chanfreau Lab: Dr. Shakir Sayani, Dr. Kevin Roy, Dr. Jason Gabunilas, and Charles Wang, for their time in teaching me all the necessary techniques needed to work with RNA.

I would like to sincerely thank Fasih Ahsan for his tremendous work in helping with the RNA-seq analysis of PNP-KO but also general support for all of my projects. He has worked beyond anyone's imagination to support, not only my project but every member's work in the Teitell lab, and I truly owe my work and degree to his help.

I would like to thank Patrick Commins, who helped me through this exciting but tough journey. I would also like to thank Jose Espinoza for my inspiration. I would like to thank my mother and father for their never-ending support and love. I would like to thank Gourishankar Ghosh for introducing me to the world of research. Sean Atamdede has helped significantly in the last year of my graduate career. And I also would like to thank Jesmine Cheung, Jun Wang, Mariko Yoshida, Salvador Estrada, and Star Kim Quach for their irreplaceable friendship and support.

Chapter 3 is a version of **Shimada.E**., Ahsan, F., Nili, M., Huang, D., TeSlaa, T., Case, D., Atamdede, S., Yu, X., Gregory, B.D., Perrin, B.J., Koehler, C.M., and Teitell. M. A. PNPase knockout results in mtDNA loss and an altered metabolic gene expression program. (2018) – submitted

Author Contributions. E.S., F.M.A., M.N., C.M.K., and M.A.T. conceived and designed experiments. E.S., M.N., D.H., T.T., D.C., S.A., B.J.P. performed the experiments. E.S., F.M.A., M.N., D.H., T.T., X.Y., B.D.G., B.J.P., C.M.K., and M.A.T. analyzed the data. E.S., F.M.A., C.M.K., and M.A.T. drafted the article. E.S., F.M.A., C.M.K., and M.A.T. drafted the digital images and figures.

Appendix I is a co-authored work published in PNAS. Wang G, **Shimada E**, Zhang J, Hong JS, Smith G, Teitell MA, Koehler CM (2012). Correcting Human Mitochondrial Mutations with Targeted RNA Import. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, **109**: 4840-4845.

**Author Contributions.** G.W., E.S., C.M.K., and M.A.T. conceived and designed experiments. G.W., E.S., J.Z., J.S.H., AND G.M.S., performed the experiments, G.W., E.S., J.Z., J.S.H., AND G.M.S., contributed new reagents/analytic tools, G.W., E.S., C.M.K., and M.A.T. analyzed the data. G.W., C.M.K., and M.A.T. drafted the article.

Appendix II is a review published in Biochimica et Biophysica Acta Wang G, Shimada E, Koehler CM, and Teitell MA (2012). PNPase and RNA Trafficking into Mitochondria. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*.1819:998-1007.

Author Contributions. G.W., E.S., C.M.K., and M.A.T. drafted the article.

Appendix III is an RNA import methods paper published in Methods in Molecular Biology. Wang, G., **Shimada, E.**, Nili, M., Koehler, C.M., and Teitell, M.A. Mitochondria-Targeted RNA Import. (2015) Methods. Mol. Biol. **1264**:107-116

Author Contributions. G.W., E.S., M.N., C.M.K., and M.A.T. drafted the article.

The work in this dissertation was supported by National Institutes of Health Ruth L. Kirschstein National Research Service Award NS076228; Whitcome Pre-doctoral Training Program (UCLA); and an MBI-IDP Special Award (UCLA).

VITA

2004-2008	B.S. in Biochemistry University of California, San Diego
2008-2009	M.S. in Chemistry University of California, San Diego
2009-2017	Graduate Student Researcher Molecular Biology Interdepartmental Doctoral Program University of California, Los Angeles
2010-2012	Teaching Assistant Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry University of California, Los Angeles

#### **PRESENTATIONS AND PUBLICATIONS**

- Wang G, Shimada E, Zhang J, Hong JS, Smith G, Teitell MA, Koehler CM (2012). Correcting Human Mitochondrial Mutations with Targeted RNA Import. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 109: 4840-4845.
- Wang G, Shimada E, Koehler CM, and Teitell MA (2012). PNPase and RNA Trafficking into Mitochondria. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*.1819:998-1007.
- Wang, G., Shimada, E., Nili, M., Koehler, C.M., and Teitell, M.A. Mitochondria-Targeted RNA Import. (2015) Methods. Mol. Biol. 1264:107-116.
- Wang, G., Shimada, E., Koehler, C.M., and Teitell, M.A. Correcting Human Mitochondrial Mutations with Targeted RNA Import. Third World Congress on Targeting Mitochondria, 2012, Berlin, Germany, November 8-9, 2012
- Wang, G., Shimada, E., Koehler, C.M., and Teitell, M.A. Correcting Human Mitochondrial Mutations. 12th Asian and Oceanian Congress of Child Neurology (AOCCN), Riyadh, Saudi Arabia, September 14-18, 2013. Published in Neurosciences, 18(4):399-400, 2013
- Nili, M., Pang-Gonzalez, C., Case, D., Shimada, E., Koehler, C.M., and Teitell, M.A. Regulation of Mitochondrial-Associated RNAs by PNPase. Keystone Symposium on Mitochondrial Dynamics & Physiology, Santa Fe, NM, February 18-23, 2014
- Stroh, M., Weidling, I., Shimada, E., Teitell, M., Koehler, C., and Zhu, H. Import and Expression of Exogenous Transcripts in Mitochondria. Kansas University Medical Center Faculty Research Day, Kansas City, MO, October 30, 2014

Nili, M., Shimada, E., Pang-Gonzalez, C., Teslaa, T., Koehler, C.M., and Teitell, M.A. Regulation of Mitochondrial RNAs by PNPase. Mitochondrial Biogenesis and Dynamics in Health, Disease and Aging. FASEB Research Conference, Palm Beach, Florida, May 18-22, 2015

#### HONORS AND AWARDS

2011-2012	Whitcome Predoctoral Training Program Award University of California, Los Angeles
2012-2014	F31 National Service Research Predoctoral Fellowship National Institute of Health, Bethesda
2017-2018	MBI-IDP Special Award University of California, Los Angeles

# **Chapter 1:** Introduction – PNPase function in bacteria, plants and mammalian systems

# Introduction

If one were to choose an organelle to study in the cell, the mitochondria would be the most curious one to select. Because of its proteobacterial origin, the mitochondria hold its own genetic material, transcribe and translate it and even possess the machinery to repair DNA damage (1). The organelle also undergoes fusion and fission, which allows itself to connect to other mitochondria in the cell to intermix its content or to sequester a piece of the organelle (2). Since the mitochondria do not encode enough material in its DNA to function self sufficiently, it must also coordinate with the gene expression and translation machinery to import the majority of its proteins into the mitochondria (3,4). In addition, the mitochondria regulates essential cellular processes such as, oxidative phosphorylation, metabolic regulation, heme synthesis (5), cellular apoptosis (6), and antiviral response (7). It is no wonder that researchers are drawn to study this organelle.

The Teitell Lab has been specifically interested in understanding the function of a protein called polynucleotide phosphorylase, which is an exoribonuclease localized in the mitochondria. Its biochemical activity and cellular function has been classically studied in the bacteria. It was initially mistaken to be the RNA polymerase and has been part of the research that was awarded a Nobel Prize. More than 50 years later from its initial discovery, the PNPase was found to strongly interact to an

oncoprotein T cell leukemia 1 (TCL1) in an immunoprecipitation experiment, though this interaction has not been confirmed to occur endogenously inside the cell. Regardless of this finding, PNPase proved to serve essential roles in the mitochondria and development processes and has captured more attention to be studied in mammalian systems in recent years.

## **Biochemical characterization of PNPase**

PNPase is an evolutionarily conserved protein that is expressed in bacteria and most of eukarya but is not expressed in archae (1,2). It can catalyze an RNA degradation reaction, degrading its substrate from the 3' to 5' direction utilizing inorganic phosphate and polymerize RNA by adding any of the four available ribonucleotide diphosphates (3,4). In vitro, PNPase activity can be modulated by the amount of inorganic phosphate or ribonucleotide diphosphates and triphosphates (5,6) and the human PNPase has been shown to require significantly lower levels of inorganic phosphate to degrade RNA (7). *E. Coli* and chloroplast PNPase exhibit high binding affinities to polyadenylated RNA where as the human PNPase has not been shown to do the same (6). However, opposing results have been reported on the preference of PNPase on degrading polyadenylated RNA (7,8). Thus, human PNPase has been shown to degrade and polymerize RNA like its bacterial and chloroplast counterpart despite minor differences in cofactor requirement and binding affinities to polyadenylated RNA.

Structurally, PNPase contains 5 defined domains in the following order: the first RNase PH domain,  $\alpha$ -helical domain, the second RNase PH domain, the KH and S1 RNA binding domains (2,6,9-11). The crystal structures of PNPase expressed in *E. coli, S.* 

antibiotics, C. crescentus, and H. sapiens have been solved and all of these structures show a trimeric complex where the catalytic PH domains assemble into a doughnut shape (12-15). The KH and S1 domains reside on one side of the doughnut shape to allow threading of the single stranded RNA through its central cavity formed by the RNase PH domains (12-16). In bacteria and humans, the main catalytic activity is derived from the second RNase PH domain (7,14,16), whereas in spinach chloroplast, both the first and second RNase PH domains have been shown to participate in RNA degradation (6). In addition to the inorganic phosphates and nucleotides, several metal ions and citrate have been shown to modulate PNPase activity. In E. coli, the metal chelated citrate has been shown to inhibit enzymatic activity whereas lower concentration of metal-free citrate enhances polymerization and high concentration of citrate increases degradation activity (17). Magnesium chelated citrate also inhibits degradation activity of H. Sapiens and S. Solfataricus PNPase (18). Bacterial PNPase requires Mg<sup>2+</sup> for RNA degradation and its activity can be inhibited by high amounts of  $Mn^{2+}$  (19), however the bacterial polymerization activity can be stimulated by  $Mn^{2+}$ , or Fe<sup>2+</sup> and is inhibited by  $Mg^{2+}$  (20-23). In contrast, human PNPase degradation and polymerization occur in vitro in the presence of  $Mg^{2+}(7)$ .

Interaction partners of PNPase have been studied most heavily in bacteria and limited information is available about proteins binding to chloroplast and human PNPases. In bacteria, PNPase exists in many different complexes. It can function as a homotrimeric complex on its own, interact with the RhlB helicase for degradation, or exist as a large canonical degradosome complex by interacting with RhlB, RNase E, and enolase (24-26). During coldshock, the RhlB helicase can be replaced by CsdA in the RNA degradosome (27). In *D. Radiodurans*, PNPase associates with an Rho autoantigen ortholog Rsr through the scaffold created by a noncoding y RNA for degrading RNA to form the RYPER complex (28), which degrades structured RNAs like rRNA during stationary phase (29). In contrast, no interacting protein has been found for chloroplast PNPase and it has been proposed to exist as a homotrimeric or homo hexameric complex (30). The human PNPase is purified mostly as a homotrimeric complex in the blue-native gel (31), however, hSUV3, a mitochondrial localized RNA helicase, has been identified in several immunoprecipitation experiments as its major interacting protein (32,33). Upon treatment with glycolysis inhibitor 2-D- deoxyglucose and cytochrome c oxidase inhibitor, sodium azide, PNPase also interacts with hSUV3 and poly adenylation polymerase in the mitochondria (32). Also, recent studies on mitochondrial RNA processing and mitochondrial ribosome assembly factors have also shown preliminary evidence of interacting with PNPase (34).

## **Functions of PNPase in bacteria**

Bacterial functions of PNPase are intriguingly diverse. The most well studied function of PNPase is its role in mRNA turnover (35,36). Of the 3 major exonucleases responsible for the bulk RNA decay in *E. Coli*, PNPase is thought to degrade the most RNA targets compared to RNase II and RNase R (36,37). In addition to RNA turnover, PNPase also functions in two other aspects of RNA metabolism. In *E. Coli*, it is implicated in rRNA and tRNA processing (38-40) and quality control (37,41,42). Also, PNPase is implicated in degradation of small noncoding RNA, sRNA (37,43,44) and maturation of sRNA from its precursors (45).

The enzymatic and RNA binding activity of PNPase is also involved in various aspects of E. Coli survival including stress responses, regulation of virulence, and biofilm formation. As mentioned above, PNPase plays an important role during cold shock response for both gram positive and negative bacteria (46-49). In addition, PNPase has also been suggested to function in ribosome assembly during cold shock (50). PNPase interaction with RhlB is necessary for degradation of the mRNA encoding the transcriptional activator of the cysteine biosynthesis operon in E. Coli for management of oxidative stress response (51). PNPase has recently been shown to be involved in nucleic acid stress response, and is implicated in damaged RNA removal through its binding to 8hydroxyguanine residues (52-54). PNPase has also been shown to cause spontaneous mutations (55) and has been suggested to participate in DNA repair through binding to RecN and RecA proteins in various bacteria (56,57). The role of PNPase in regulating virulence in bacteria varies significantly and its mechanism of influence is quite unknown. In Y. pseudotuberculosis and Y. pestis the RNA binding of PNPase to an unidentified RNA is suggested to promote secretion of Yop effectors (58). In S. aurelius, the degradation activity of PNPase is important for regulating virulence (59). In several strains of E. Coli, PNPase has been implicated in negatively regulating the operon involved in extra-cellular polymer synthesis (60) and degrading RNAs encoding for adhesion molecules (37).

## **Function of PNPase in plants**

In plants, PNPase is expressed in both the mitochondria and chloroplast and have been shown to have similar functions in both organelles. In plant mitochondria, PNPase degrades rRNA, tRNA processing intermediates and noncoding RNAs (68,69). Plant mitochondria also requires PNPase for 3' termini removal of mRNA (70,71). In chloroplasts, PNPase has been suggested to be responsible for adding poly-A tails and non-poly A tails to RNAs in order to mark them for degradation (12,72). PNPase in chloroplast functions to process 3' ends of mRNA and rRNA (72-75), degrade tRNA leader sequences (75) and intronic sequences (72).

### Function of PNPase in mammalian mitochondria

As a nuclease in the mitochondria, PNPase has been shown to affect levels of RNAs in the mitochondria and other RNAs traditionally known to exist outside of the mitochondria. Although the mechanism is not very clear, PNPase has been described to regulate CMYC RNA levels by interacting with EGFR (61). Curiously, it has also been observed that PNPase may play a role in the decrease of CMYC levels and mir-221, a regulator of cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor p27KIP1, upon interferon(r)β treatment of cultured cells (62,63). The role of PNPase regulating mitochondrial noncoding RNA has also been explored (64), and it seems that both SUV3 and PNPase both affect the accumulation of these noncoding RNAs in the mammalian mitochondria (65). Thus, in the context of mammalian cultured cells, hSUV3 and PNPase seems to exist mainly in the matrix to perform its functions. In addition, PNPase has also been implicated in regulating RNA import into mammalian mitochondria (31,66). PNPase's role in mitochondrial RNA degradation has become slowly established in recent years and it is very interesting to speculate how this function in the mitochondria affects the metabolic changes brought about by altering PNPase expression in different cellular contexts.

Recent studies have shown that the level of PNPase expression in induced pluripotent stem cells are shown to correlate with the extent of cellular respiration, where inhibition of PNPase expression is associated with decreased oxidative capacity and overexpression increases oxidative phosphorylation (67-69). In addition, overexpression of PNPase is associated with increased mtDNA content and ATP/AMP ratio (68). It is reasonable to assume that decreased PNPase expression may inhibit oxidative phosphorylation capacity of the cell by interfering with normal mitochondrial function. However, it is an interesting avenue to understand why overexpression of PNPase may lead to enhanced cellular respiration.

Finally, PNPase has been long been known to be an IFN induced gene. Its RNA levels are significantly increased upon IFN $\beta$  treatment in many cell types (69-71). However, the protein level changes do not necessary correlate with this increase and suggests another level of regulation for PNPase expression (72). Mitochondria has been recently associated with IFN signaling pathways through mitochondrial ROS production, the presence of the MAVS/Cardiff complex on the outer mitochondrial membrane and the mtDNA sensing mechanism that triggers the innate immune response (73,74). This area of study also warrants further work to elucidate the intriguing role of PNPase in the mitochondria.

### **PNPase mutations and human disease**

Recent advancement of sequencing technology has quickly uncovered PNPase mutations that causes human diseases. Many of these diseases are associated with neurological disorders. It has been known that point mutations of PNPase cause encephalomyopathy and hearing loss (75,76). In addition recent studies have connected

delayed myelination, chorioretinal defects, gut disturbances and Leigh syndrome to defects in PNPase activity or expression (77-79). Therefore, understanding the basic cellular function of PNPase may reveal insights into how these processes impact human neurological health.

PNPase, is a 3'-5' exoribonuclease that initially became an interest to the Teitell Laboratory when it was discovered to be the most abundant protein that interacted with an oncoprotein TCL1 (T Cell Leukemia 1) in an immunoprecipitation experiment (8). This interaction has not been confirmed to occur in vivo but our lab continued to study PNPase because of its essential role in maintaining mitochondrial homeostasis (69). At the time of discovery for our lab, the mammalian PNPase had been identified in an overlapping pathway screen and has since been implicated in cellular senescence and terminal differentiation (70). Since then, we have sought to uncover the elusive role of PNPase in the mammalian mitochondria.

# References

- 1. Lin-Chao, S., Chiou, N. T., and Schuster, G. (2007) The PNPase, exosome and RNA helicases as the building components of evolutionarily-conserved RNA degradation machines. *J Biomed Sci* 14, 523-532
- 2. Leszczyniecka, M., DeSalle, R., Kang, D. C., and Fisher, P. B. (2004) The origin of polynucleotide phosphorylase domains. *Mol Phylogenet Evol* **31**, 123-130
- 3. Littauer, U. Z., and Grunberg-Manago. (1982) Polynucleotide Phosphorylase. in *The Enzymes* (Boyer, P. D. ed.), 3rd Ed., Academic Press, New York. pp 518-553
- 4. Grunberg-Manago, M. (1999) Messenger RNA stability and its role in control of gene expression in bacteria and phages. *Annu Rev Genet* **33**, 193-227
- 5. Yehudai-Resheff, S., Hirsh, M., and Schuster, G. (2001) Polynucleotide phosphorylase functions as both an exonuclease and a poly(A) polymerase in spinach chloroplasts. *Mol Cell Biol* **21**, 5408-5416
- 6. Yehudai-Resheff, S., Portnoy, V., Yogev, S., Adir, N., and Schuster, G. (2003) Domain analysis of the chloroplast polynucleotide phosphorylase reveals discrete functions in RNA degradation, polyadenylation, and sequence homology with exosome proteins. *Plant Cell* **15**, 2003-2019
- 7. Portnoy, V., Palnizky, G., Yehudai-Resheff, S., Glaser, F., and Schuster, G. (2008) Analysis of the human polynucleotide phosphorylase (PNPase) reveals differences in RNA binding and response to phosphate compared to its bacterial and chloroplast counterparts. *RNA* 14, 297-309
- French, S. W., Dawson, D. W., Chen, H. W., Rainey, R. N., Sievers, S. A., Balatoni, C. E., Wong, L., Troke, J. J., Nguyen, M. T., Koehler, C. M., and Teitell, M. A. (2007) The TCL1 oncoprotein binds the RNase PH domains of the PNPase exoribonuclease without affecting its RNA degrading activity. *Cancer Lett* 248, 198-210
- 9. Jarrige, A., Brechemier-Baey, D., Mathy, N., Duche, O., and Portier, C. (2002) Mutational analysis of polynucleotide phosphorylase from Escherichia coli. in *J Mol Biol*, England. pp 397-409
- Symmons, M. F., Williams, M. G., Luisi, B. F., Jones, G. H., and Carpousis, A. J. (2002) Running rings around RNA: a superfamily of phosphate-dependent RNases. *Trends Biochem Sci* 27, 11-18
- Stickney, L. M., Hankins, J. S., Miao, X., and Mackie, G. A. (2005) Function of the conserved S1 and KH domains in polynucleotide phosphorylase. *J Bacteriol* 187, 7214-7221
- 12. Shi, Z., Yang, W. Z., Lin-Chao, S., Chak, K. F., and Yuan, H. S. (2008) Crystal structure of Escherichia coli PNPase: central channel residues are involved in processive RNA degradation. *RNA* **14**, 2361-2371
- Hardwick, S. W., Gubbey, T., Hug, I., Jenal, U., and Luisi, B. F. (2012) Crystal structure of Caulobacter crescentus polynucleotide phosphorylase reveals a mechanism of RNA substrate channelling and RNA degradosome assembly. *Open Biol* 2, 120028
- 14. Symmons, M. F., Jones, G. H., and Luisi, B. F. (2000) A duplicated fold is the structural basis for polynucleotide phosphorylase catalytic activity, processivity, and regulation. in *Structure*, England. pp 1215-1226
- 15. Nurmohamed, S., Vaidialingam, B., Callaghan, A. J., and Luisi, B. F. (2009) Crystal structure of Escherichia coli polynucleotide phosphorylase core bound to

RNase E, RNA and manganese: implications for catalytic mechanism and RNA degradosome assembly. *J Mol Biol* **389**, 17-33

- 16. Lin, C. L., Wang, Y. T., Yang, W. Z., Hsiao, Y. Y., and Yuan, H. S. (2012) Crystal structure of human polynucleotide phosphorylase: insights into its domain function in RNA binding and degradation. *Nucleic Acids Res* **40**, 4146-4157
- Nurmohamed, S., Vincent, H. A., Titman, C. M., Chandran, V., Pears, M. R., Du, D., Griffin, J. L., Callaghan, A. J., and Luisi, B. F. (2011) Polynucleotide phosphorylase activity may be modulated by metabolites in Escherichia coli. *J Biol Chem* 286, 14315-14323
- Stone, C. M., Butt, L. E., Bufton, J. C., Lourenco, D. C., Gowers, D. M., Pickford, A. R., Cox, P. A., Vincent, H. A., and Callaghan, A. J. (2017) Inhibition of homologous phosphorolytic ribonucleases by citrate may represent an evolutionarily conserved communicative link between RNA degradation and central metabolism. *Nucleic Acids Res* 45, 4655-4666
- 19. Reiner, A. M. (1969) Characterization of polynucleotide phosphorylase mutants of Escherichia coli. *J Bacteriol* **97**, 1437-1443
- Chou, J. Y., and Singer, M. F. (1971) Deoxyadenosine diphosphate as a substrate and inhibitor of polynucleotide phosphorylase of Micrococcus luteus. 3.
  Copolymerization of adenosine diphosphate and deoxyadenosine diphosphate. J Biol Chem 246, 7505-7513
- Gillam, S., and Smith, M. (1974) Enzymatic synthesis of deoxyribooligonucleotides of defined sequence. Properties of the enzyme. *Nucleic Acids Res* 1, 1631-1647
- 22. Beljanski, M. (1996) De Novo Synthesis of DNA-Like Molecules by Polynucleotide Phosphorylase In Vitro. *J Mol Evol* **42**, 493-499
- 23. Cardenas, P. P., Carrasco, B., Sanchez, H., Deikus, G., Bechhofer, D. H., and Alonso, J. C. (2009) Bacillus subtilis polynucleotide phosphorylase 3'-to-5' DNase activity is involved in DNA repair. *Nucleic Acids Res* **37**, 4157-4169
- 24. Lin, P. H., and Lin-Chao, S. (2005) RhlB helicase rather than enolase is the betasubunit of the Escherichia coli polynucleotide phosphorylase (PNPase)exoribonucleolytic complex. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **102**, 16590-16595
- 25. Portier, C., van Rapenbusch, R., Minh Nguy, T., and Grunberg-Manago, M. (1973) Quaternary structure of polynucleotide phosphorylase from Escherichia coli. *Eur J Biochem* **40**, 77-87
- 26. Liou, G. G., Chang, H. Y., Lin, C. S., and Lin-Chao, S. (2002) DEAD box RhlB RNA helicase physically associates with exoribonuclease PNPase to degrade double-stranded RNA independent of the degradosome-assembling region of RNase E. in *J Biol Chem*, United States. pp 41157-41162
- 27. Prud'homme-Genereux, A., Beran, R. K., Iost, I., Ramey, C. S., Mackie, G. A., and Simons, R. W. (2004) Physical and functional interactions among RNase E, polynucleotide phosphorylase and the cold-shock protein, CsdA: evidence for a 'cold shock degradosome'. *Mol Microbiol* **54**, 1409-1421
- Chen, X., Taylor, D. W., Fowler, C. C., Galan, J. E., Wang, H. W., and Wolin, S. L. (2013) An RNA degradation machine sculpted by Ro autoantigen and noncoding RNA. *Cell* 153, 166-177

- 29. Wurtmann, E. J., and Wolin, S. L. (2010) A role for a bacterial ortholog of the Ro autoantigen in starvation-induced rRNA degradation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **107**, 4022-4027
- Baginsky, S., Shteiman-Kotler, A., Liveanu, V., Yehudai-Resheff, S., Bellaoui, M., Settlage, R. E., Shabanowitz, J., Hunt, D. F., Schuster, G., and Gruissem, W. (2001) Chloroplast PNPase exists as a homo-multimer enzyme complex that is distinct from the Escherichia coli degradosome. *RNA* 7, 1464-1475
- Wang, G., Chen, H. W., Oktay, Y., Zhang, J., Allen, E. L., Smith, G. M., Fan, K. C., Hong, J. S., French, S. W., McCaffery, J. M., Lightowlers, R. N., Morse, H. C., 3rd, Koehler, C. M., and Teitell, M. A. (2010) PNPASE regulates RNA import into mitochondria. *Cell* 142, 456-467
- 32. Wang, D. D., Guo, X. E., Modrek, A. S., Chen, C. F., Chen, P. L., and Lee, W. H. (2014) Helicase SUV3, polynucleotide phosphorylase, and mitochondrial polyadenylation polymerase form a transient complex to modulate mitochondrial mRNA polyadenylated tail lengths in response to energetic changes. *J Biol Chem* 289, 16727-16735
- 33. Wang, D. D., Shu, Z., Lieser, S. A., Chen, P. L., and Lee, W. H. (2009) Human mitochondrial SUV3 and polynucleotide phosphorylase form a 330-kDa heteropentamer to cooperatively degrade double-stranded RNA with a 3'-to-5' directionality. in *J Biol Chem*, United States. pp 20812-20821
- 34. Antonicka, H., and Shoubridge, E. A. (2015) Mitochondrial RNA Granules Are Centers for Posttranscriptional RNA Processing and Ribosome Biogenesis. *Cell Rep*
- 35. Donovan, W. P., and Kushner, S. R. (1986) Polynucleotide phosphorylase and ribonuclease II are required for cell viability and mRNA turnover in Escherichia coli K-12. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **83**, 120-124
- 36. Mohanty, B. K., and Kushner, S. R. (2003) Genomic analysis in Escherichia coli demonstrates differential roles for polynucleotide phosphorylase and RNase II in mRNA abundance and decay. *Mol Microbiol* **50**, 645-658
- 37. Pobre, V., and Arraiano, C. M. (2015) Next generation sequencing analysis reveals that the ribonucleases RNase II, RNase R and PNPase affect bacterial motility and biofilm formation in E. coli. *BMC Genomics* **16**, 72
- 38. Sulthana, S., and Deutscher, M. P. (2013) Multiple exoribonucleases catalyze maturation of the 3' terminus of 16S ribosomal RNA (rRNA). *J Biol Chem* **288**, 12574-12579
- Mohanty, B. K., and Kushner, S. R. (2007) Ribonuclease P processes polycistronic tRNA transcripts in Escherichia coli independent of ribonuclease E. *Nucleic Acids Res* 35, 7614-7625
- 40. Mohanty, B. K., and Kushner, S. R. (2010) Processing of the Escherichia coli leuX tRNA transcript, encoding tRNA(Leu5), requires either the 3'-->5' exoribonuclease polynucleotide phosphorylase or RNase P to remove the Rhoindependent transcription terminator. *Nucleic Acids Res* **38**, 597-607
- 41. Cheng, Z. F., and Deutscher, M. P. (2003) Quality control of ribosomal RNA mediated by polynucleotide phosphorylase and RNase R. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **100**, 6388-6393

- 42. Li, Z., Reimers, S., Pandit, S., and Deutscher, M. P. (2002) RNA quality control: degradation of defective transfer RNA. *EMBO J* **21**, 1132-1138
- 43. Andrade, J. M., and Arraiano, C. M. (2008) PNPase is a key player in the regulation of small RNAs that control the expression of outer membrane proteins. *RNA* 14, 543-551
- 44. Andrade, J. M., Pobre, V., Matos, A. M., and Arraiano, C. M. (2012) The crucial role of PNPase in the degradation of small RNAs that are not associated with Hfq. *RNA* 18, 844-855
- 45. Briani, F., Del Vecchio, E., Migliorini, D., Hajnsdorf, E., Regnier, P., Ghisotti, D., and Deho, G. (2002) RNase E and polyadenyl polymerase I are involved in maturation of CI RNA, the P4 phage immunity factor. *J Mol Biol* **318**, 321-331
- 46. Goverde, R. L., Huis in't Veld, J. H., Kusters, J. G., and Mooi, F. R. (1998) The psychrotrophic bacterium Yersinia enterocolitica requires expression of pnp, the gene for polynucleotide phosphorylase, for growth at low temperature (5 degrees C). *Mol Microbiol* **28**, 555-569
- Zangrossi, S., Briani, F., Ghisotti, D., Regonesi, M. E., Tortora, P., and Deho, G. (2000) Transcriptional and post-transcriptional control of polynucleotide phosphorylase during cold acclimation in Escherichia coli. *Mol Microbiol* 36, 1470-1480
- 48. Luttinger, A., Hahn, J., and Dubnau, D. (1996) Polynucleotide phosphorylase is necessary for competence development in Bacillus subtilis. *Mol Microbiol* **19**, 343-356
- 49. Haddad, N., Burns, C. M., Bolla, J. M., Prevost, H., Federighi, M., Drider, D., and Cappelier, J. M. (2009) Long-term survival of Campylobacter jejuni at low temperatures is dependent on polynucleotide phosphorylase activity. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **75**, 7310-7318
- 50. Zhou, Z., and Deutscher, M. P. (1997) An essential function for the phosphatedependent exoribonucleases RNase PH and polynucleotide phosphorylase. *J Bacteriol* **179**, 4391-4395
- 51. Tseng, Y. T., Chiou, N. T., Gogiraju, R., and Lin-Chao, S. (2015) The Protein Interaction of RNA Helicase B (RhlB) and Polynucleotide Phosphorylase (PNPase) Contributes to the Homeostatic Control of Cysteine in Escherichia coli. *J Biol Chem* **290**, 29953-29963
- 52. Hayakawa, H., Kuwano, M., and Sekiguchi, M. (2001) Specific binding of 8oxoguanine-containing RNA to polynucleotide phosphorylase protein. *Biochemistry* **40**, 9977-9982
- Wu, J., Jiang, Z., Liu, M., Gong, X., Wu, S., Burns, C. M., and Li, Z. (2009) Polynucleotide phosphorylase protects Escherichia coli against oxidative stress. *Biochemistry* 48, 2012-2020
- 54. Wurtmann, E. J., and Wolin, S. L. (2009) RNA under attack: cellular handling of RNA damage. *Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol* **44**, 34-49
- 55. Becket, E., Tse, L., Yung, M., Cosico, A., and Miller, J. H. (2012) Polynucleotide phosphorylase plays an important role in the generation of spontaneous mutations in Escherichia coli. *J Bacteriol* **194**, 5613-5620

- Alonso, J. C., Cardenas, P. P., Sanchez, H., Hejna, J., Suzuki, Y., and Takeyasu, K. (2013) Early steps of double-strand break repair in Bacillus subtilis. *DNA Repair (Amst)* 12, 162-176
- 57. Register, J. C., 3rd, and Griffith, J. (1985) 10 nm RecA protein filaments formed in the presence of Mg2+ and ATP gamma S may contain RNA. *Mol Gen Genet* **199**, 415-420
- 58. Rosenzweig, J. A., and Chopra, A. K. (2013) The exoribonuclease Polynucleotide Phosphorylase influences the virulence and stress responses of yersiniae and many other pathogens. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol* **3**, 81
- 59. Bonnin, R. A., and Bouloc, P. (2015) RNA Degradation in Staphylococcus aureus: Diversity of Ribonucleases and Their Impact. *Int J Genomics* **2015**, 395753
- 60. Carzaniga, T., Antoniani, D., Deho, G., Briani, F., and Landini, P. (2012) The RNA processing enzyme polynucleotide phosphorylase negatively controls biofilm formation by repressing poly-N-acetylglucosamine (PNAG) production in Escherichia coli C. *BMC Microbiol* **12**, 270
- Yu, Y. L., Chou, R. H., Wu, C. H., Wang, Y. N., Chang, W. J., Tseng, Y. J., Chang, W. C., Lai, C. C., Lee, H. J., Huo, L., Chen, C. H., and Hung, M. C. (2012) Nuclear EGFR suppresses ribonuclease activity of polynucleotide phosphorylase through DNAPK-mediated phosphorylation at serine 776. *J Biol Chem* 287, 31015-31026
- Das, S. K., Sokhi, U. K., Bhutia, S. K., Azab, B., Su, Z. Z., Sarkar, D., and Fisher, P. B. (2010) Human polynucleotide phosphorylase selectively and preferentially degrades microRNA-221 in human melanoma cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 107, 11948-11953
- 63. Sarkar, D., Park, E. S., and Fisher, P. B. (2006) Defining the mechanism by which IFN-beta dowregulates c-myc expression in human melanoma cells: pivotal role for human polynucleotide phosphorylase (hPNPaseold-35). *Cell Death Differ* **13**, 1541-1553
- 64. Borowski, L. S., Dziembowski, A., Hejnowicz, M. S., Stepien, P. P., and Szczesny, R. J. (2013) Human mitochondrial RNA decay mediated by PNPasehSuv3 complex takes place in distinct foci. *Nucleic Acids Res* **41**, 1223-1240
- Szczesny, R. J., Borowski, L. S., Brzezniak, L. K., Dmochowska, A., Gewartowski, K., Bartnik, E., and Stepien, P. P. (2010) Human mitochondrial RNA turnover caught in flagranti: involvement of hSuv3p helicase in RNA surveillance. *Nucleic Acids Res* 38, 279-298
- 66. Wang, G., Shimada, E., Zhang, J., Hong, J. S., Smith, G. M., Teitell, M. A., and Koehler, C. M. (2012) Correcting human mitochondrial mutations with targeted RNA import. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **109**, 4840-4845
- Nishimura, K., Aizawa, S., Nugroho, F. L., Shiomitsu, E., Tran, Y. T., Bui, P. L., Borisova, E., Sakuragi, Y., Takada, H., Kurisaki, A., Hayashi, Y., Fukuda, A., Nakanishi, M., and Hisatake, K. (2017) A Role for KLF4 in Promoting the Metabolic Shift via TCL1 during Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell Generation. *Stem Cell Reports* 8, 787-801

- Khaw, S. L., Min-Wen, C., Koh, C. G., Lim, B., and Shyh-Chang, N. (2015) Oocyte Factors Suppress Mitochondrial Polynucleotide Phosphorylase to Remodel the Metabolome and Enhance Reprogramming. *Cell Rep* 12, 1080-1088
- Chen, H. W., Rainey, R. N., Balatoni, C. E., Dawson, D. W., Troke, J. J., Wasiak, S., Hong, J. S., McBride, H. M., Koehler, C. M., Teitell, M. A., and French, S. W. (2006) Mammalian polynucleotide phosphorylase is an intermembrane space RNase that maintains mitochondrial homeostasis. *Mol Cell Biol* 26, 8475-8487
- 70. Leszczyniecka, M., Kang, D. C., Sarkar, D., Su, Z. Z., Holmes, M., Valerie, K., and Fisher, P. B. (2002) Identification and cloning of human polynucleotide phosphorylase, hPNPase old-35, in the context of terminal differentiation and cellular senescence. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **99**, 16636-16641
- 71. Leszczyniecka, M., Su, Z. Z., Kang, D. C., Sarkar, D., and Fisher, P. B. (2003) Expression regulation and genomic organization of human polynucleotide phosphorylase, hPNPase(old-35), a Type I interferon inducible early response gene. *Gene* **316**, 143-156
- 72. Gewartowski, K., Tomecki, R., Muchowski, L., Dmochow Ska, A., Dzwonek, A., Malecki, M., Skurzak, H., Ostrowski, J., and Stepien, P. P. (2006) Up-regulation of human PNPase mRNA by beta-interferon has no effect on protein level in melanoma cell lines. *Acta Biochim Pol* **53**, 179-188
- 73. Sandhir, R., Halder, A., and Sunkaria, A. (2017) Mitochondria as a centrally positioned hub in the innate immune response. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1863**, 1090-1097
- West, A. P., Khoury-Hanold, W., Staron, M., Tal, M. C., Pineda, C. M., Lang, S. M., Bestwick, M., Duguay, B. A., Raimundo, N., MacDuff, D. A., Kaech, S. M., Smiley, J. R., Means, R. E., Iwasaki, A., and Shadel, G. S. (2015) Mitochondrial DNA stress primes the antiviral innate immune response. *Nature* 520, 553-557
- 75. Vedrenne, V., Gowher, A., De Lonlay, P., Nitschke, P., Serre, V., Boddaert, N., Altuzarra, C., Mager-Heckel, A. M., Chretien, F., Entelis, N., Munnich, A., Tarassov, I., and Rotig, A. (2012) Mutation in PNPT1, which encodes a polyribonucleotide nucleotidyltransferase, impairs RNA import into mitochondria and causes respiratory-chain deficiency. *Am J Hum Genet* **91**, 912-918
- 76. von Ameln, S., Wang, G., Boulouiz, R., Rutherford, M. A., Smith, G. M., Li, Y., Pogoda, H. M., Nürnberg, G., Stiller, B., Volk, A. E., Borck, G., Hong, J. S., Goodyear, R. J., Abidi, O., Nürnberg, P., Hofmann, K., Richardson, G. P., Hammerschmidt, M., Moser, T., Wollnik, B., Koehler, C. M., Teitell, M. A., Barakat, A., and Kubisch, C. (2012) A mutation in PNPT1, encoding mitochondrial-RNA-import protein PNPase, causes hereditary hearing loss. *Am J Hum Genet* **91**, 919-927
- Alodaib, A., Sobreira, N., Gold, W. A., Riley, L. G., Van Bergen, N. J., Wilson, M. J., Bennetts, B., Thorburn, D. R., Boehm, C., and Christodoulou, J. (2016) Whole-exome sequencing identifies novel variants in PNPT1 causing oxidative phosphorylation defects and severe multisystem disease. *Eur J Hum Genet* 25, 79-84
- 78. Sato, R., Arai-Ichinoi, N., Kikuchi, A., Matsuhashi, T., Numata-Uematsu, Y., Uematsu, M., Fujii, Y., Murayama, K., Ohtake, A., Abe, T., and Kure, S. (2017)

Novel biallelic mutations in the PNPT1 gene encoding a mitochondrial-RNAimport protein PNPase cause delayed myelination. *Clin Genet* 

79. Slavotinek, A. M., Garcia, S. T., Chandratillake, G., Bardakjian, T., Ullah, E., Wu, D., Umeda, K., Lao, R., Tang, P. L., Wan, E., Madireddy, L., Lyalina, S., Mendelsohn, B. A., Dugan, S., Tirch, J., Tischler, R., Harris, J., Clark, M. J., Chervitz, S., Patwardhan, A., West, J. M., Ursell, P., de Alba Campomanes, A., Schneider, A., Kwok, P. Y., Baranzini, S., and Chen, R. O. (2015) Exome sequencing in 32 patients with anophthalmia/microphthalmia and developmental eye defects. *Clin Genet* 88, 468-473

# **Chapter 2:** Porin/VDAC1 may be involved in mitochondrial RNA import

# Introduction

Many macromolecules translocate into and out of mitochondria. In addition to metabolites, mitochondria import the majority of its proteins to sustain its function. Recent studies have also shown that RNA can be imported into the mitochondria (1-4). The most heavily studied area of RNA import pertains to the translocation of tRNAs(2,5). However, other noncoding RNAs have also been identified in the mitochondria(3,4,6-10). Up to date, there are roughly 5 categories of import pathways that have been characterized in eukaryotic mitochondria. For simplicity, these import pathways are described as separate processes in which different proteins factors contribute to the delivery and translocation of substrates. However, many translocation channels for these import pathways have not been characterized and it is possible that several of these pathways may share one or more import translocation channels.

Yeast mitochondria can import tRNA<sup>Lys</sup> <sub>CUU</sub>, utilizing the translocases of the protein import pathway. This import is membrane potential dependent (2,5), and the tRNA must associate with the precursor of mitochondrial lysyl-tRNA synthetase and be aminoacylated to allow for import into the mitochondria (5,11,12). The glycolytic enzyme, enolase helps deliver the tRNA<sup>Lys</sup> –lysyl tRNA synthetase complex to the import machinery (12). The structural or sequence motifs essential for the tRNA import has also been determined (13). In addition, the human mitochondria has been shown to import the

yeast tRNA<sup>Lys</sup> and artificial RNAs that contain tRNA import signatures in the presence of mammalian enolase, ENO2 and mitochondrial lysyl tRNA synthetase (pre-KARS2) (14). Interestingly, another tRNA import pathway that is independent of the protein import machinery has also been identified. In addition, the mammalian mitochondria has been shown to import its own endogenous tRNA<sup>Gln</sup> <sub>CUG</sub> and tRNA<sup>Gln</sup> <sub>UUG</sub> through a mechanism that requires ATP but no mitochondrial membrane potential or cytosolic protein factors (15).

The ancestral mitochondria had kept all of its ribosomal RNA, but it has been suggested that through evolution, mitochondria had gradually lost some its ribosomal RNA including the 5S rRNA (16). Thus 5S rRNA must be imported into the mitochondrial to allow mitochondrial ribosomes to function correctly. In the cytosol, 5S rRNA is known to be part of the ribosome complex but its role is still not clearly understood (17). Also, it has been known that the nuclear encoded 5S rRNA also exist inside the mitochondrial organelle (3,18). Recently, the mammalian matrix protein rhodanese has been shown to be important for the import of 5S rRNA(19). Structural element on the 5s rRNA that signals for import of the RNA has also been identified(20). In addition, a mitochondrial ribosomal protein, MRP (mitochondrial ribosomal protein)-L18 was shown to assist this import process, where the pre-MRPL18 binds to the import sequence of 5s rRNA and cause a conformational change that allows the RNA to be recognized by rhodanese (21). The 5S rRNA is thought to interact with MRPL18 in the matrix and potentially affect mitochondrial translation efficiency (22).

Aside from tRNAs and the 5S ribosomal RNA, RMRP and RNase P is another class of noncoding RNAs that are imported into the mitochondria. RMRP is the RNA

component of mitochondrial RNA-processing endoribonuclease complex and has been shown to function in the 5'end maturation of 5.8S rRNA for cytosolic ribosomes (23,24) and is also involved in cell cycle progression by affecting the degradation of cyclin B mRNA during mitosis (25). RMRP has been shown to interact with telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) and synthesize double stranded RNA that is recognized by DICER1 and this can be further processed into short interfering RNA (26). In addition, the nuclear encoded RMRP has also been found in the mitochondria (1,27,28), and is known to be responsible for synthesis of RNA primers to allow for the replication of mitochondrial DNA(29,30). The import of this RNA is thought to be mediated by PNPase, and a specific stem loop structure that allows import of this substrate has been identified (1). Recent studies have also suggested that matrix residing mitochondrial RNA granule protein GRSF1 to be important in increasing the abundance of RMRP in the mitochondria (27). In addition to RMRP, RNase P is the RNA component that has been thought to be part of the RNase P complex functioning in 5' tRNA processing though the participation of RNA in this complex has been debated to be controversial(31-33). This RNA is also imported into the mitochondria with the help of PNPase, and the stem loop signature that is important for import has been identified (1).

micro RNAs (miRNAs) are a recent class of RNAs that have been identified to exist in the mitochondria (34,35). miRNAs are ~ 22nt RNA that inhibit translation of mRNA or induce mRNA degradation (36,37). miRNAs are transcribed from the DNA as primary micro RNA (pri-miR), and is processed in the nucleus by DROSHA/DGCR8 complex to pre-miRNAs. The pre-miRs are then exported to the cytoplasm where they are further processed by DICER into mature miRNA and associates with the rna binding protein argonaute 2 (AGO2) and is directed to its target mRNA (38-40). miRNAs typically have multiple targets (41) and its dysregulation has been associated with disease and cancer (42). Although, nothing is known about its import mechanism, pri-miRNA, pre-miRNA and mature miRNAs and AGO2 has been shown to exist in mitochondria (6,9,10,43-45). Only AGO2 of the Argonaute family proteins are known to be imported into the mitochondria (35), and it has been shown to interact with mitochondrial transcripts by RNA crosslinking assays (6).

Recent studies have been uncovering different biological aspects of miRNAs present mitochondria. Most miR found in the mitochondria are nuclear encoded but some have been found to come from mtDNA (43). miR-181c has been shown to regulate translation of mitochondrial encoded cytochrome c oxidase subunit 1 (COX1) in rodents, and the over-expression of miR-181C was shown to produce higher ROS production and resulted in lower exercise capacity and appearance of cardiac dysfunction (46). A carefully controlled studied using thoroughly purified mitochondria and mitoplasts and showed that miR1 increase COX1 and ND1 translation but it differentially regulates translation of its targets in the cytoplasm and mitochondria during muscle differentiation (35). Interestingly, several miRNAs were found to be imported into rho<sup>0</sup> cells, such as, miR-181c-5p and miR-146a-5p (7,47). In diabetic heart and HL-1 cells, miRNAs including mir -378 translocates into the mitochondria following diabetic insult, and it was shown to downregulate the mitochondrially encoded  $F_0$  component, ATP6 expression

With regards to RNA import channels in mitochondria, the import of tRNAs are mediated through the voltage dependent anion channel on the outer membrane of plant and trypanosome mitochondria (49,50). In addition, components of the protein import machinery such as TOM20 and TOM40, have been shown to be important for tRNA binding to the mitochondria and internalization (49,51). However, the exact translocation channel for these RNAs in the mitochondria has not been identified in mammalian mitochondria. This aspect of mitochondrial RNA import has long remained an interest to the field especially because it is intriguing to understand how such a large negatively charge molecule can be translocated across the charged inner membrane of the mitochondria. Thus we have attempted to answer this question by using yeast and mammalian model systems.

# Results

# Mitochondrial outer membrane proteins are required for PNPase dependent mitochondrial RNA import in yeast

To examine whether mitochondrial outer proteins are involved in mitochondrial RNA import, yeast mitochondria with or without PNPase were isolated and treated with Trypsin in an isotonic buffer. The treatment led to degradation of the outer membrane protein marker Tom70 without significantly affecting the level of mitochondrial intermembrane protein Mia40, suggesting the integrity of the mitochondria was not compromised. The treated or untreated mitochondria were then used for the RNA import assay (Figure 2-1A). As expected, expression of PNPase in untreated mitochondria resulted in a significant increase of protected RNA import substrate, *RNase P* RNA, after incubation and nuclease digestion (Figure 2-1B). However, in the trypsin treated

mitochondria, the amount of imported *RNase P* RNA was reduced to the basal level, suggesting one or more of mitochondrial outer membrane proteins are required for PNPase dependent mitochondrial RNA import in yeast.

# Mitochondrial outer membrane protein, porin is required for PNPase dependent mitochondrial RNA import in yeast

To identify the outer membrane proteins that are involved in mitochondrial RNA import, the import assay was performed on mitochondria isolated from strains lifted from a yeast deletion collection. It has been shown that in plant Solanum tuberosum, outer membrane protein VDAC (voltage dependent anion channel) and two components of the TOM (translocase of the outer mitochondrial membrane) Tom20 and Tom40 are all involved in mitochondrial tRNA import (49). We examined the PNPase dependent RNA import into mitochondria isolated from a por1 (yeast VDAC) deletion strain and *tom70* deletion strain (Figure 2-2A). The import of *RNase P RNA* is severely reduced in the *Apor1* PNPase mitochondria, but unaffected by deletion of tom70, suggesting that Porin channel but not the protein import channel is involved in PNPase dependent mitochondrial RNA import (Figure 2-2B).

# VDAC is involved in mitochondrial RNA import in mammalian cells

To examine whether the results in yeast can be transferred to mammalian cells, shRNA was used to knock down VDAC1 expression in HeLa Cells. There are three VDAC proteins (VDAC1, 2, 3) in human. However, VDAC1 is the most abundant one in almost all cell types (52,53). A three-fold reduction in VDAC1 level was achieved using the shRNA (Figure 2-3A). Mitochondria were isolated from the wild-type and VDAC1 deficient cells and the in vitro import assay was performed using radiolabeled RNase P RNA. A ~2 fold reduction in the amount of imported RNA was observed in the VDAC1 deficient mitochondria (Figure 2-3B). The reduction, however, could be due to a general effect on the mitochondrial function by VDAC1 knockdown. To rule out the possibility, antibody-blocking approach was used in the import assay. Only wild-type mitochondria were used in the approach guaranteeing the consistence of mitochondrial functions. Mitochondria were incubated with VDAC1 antibody, Tom40 antibody or the buffer only. The in vitro import assay was then performed using the antibody treated or untreated mitochondria. Treatment of wild-type mitochondria using VDAC1 antibody led to a  $\sim 2$ fold reduction of imported RNase P RNA compared to the control mitochondria, suggesting that human VDAC mediates mitochondrial RNA import in mammalian cells (Figure 2-3C). Tom40 antibody partially inhibited mitochondrial import of a protein precursor Su9-DHFR, but had no significant effect on mitochondrial RNA import, indicating that unlike in the plant mitochondria, the TOM translocase is not directly involved in mitochondrial RNA import (Figure 2-3C). To confirm that VDAC directly mediates in mitochondrial RNA import, a co-immunoprecipitation assay was performed using antibodies specific for either VDAC or TOM40. Radiolabeled *RNase P* RNA or a control  $tRNA^{Lys}$  precursor was incubated with the wild-type mitochondria in the import
buffer, and the samples were UV-crosslinked (Figure 2-3D). After the incubation and UV-crosslinking, Mitochondria were lysed and VDAC or TOM40 was isolated from the lysates by immunoprecipitation. Only when *RNase P* RNA was used as the import substrate and VDAC antibody used for immunoprecipitation, the radiolabled RNA was copurified with the protein, suggesting a direct interaction of the import RNA substrate with the VDAC channel.

# VDAC1 knockdown affects steady state levels of *RNase P* RNA in mitochondria and the processing of mitochondrial transcripts

Mitochondrial RNAs are transcribed as long polycistronic transcripts, which then undergo processing to generate the individual mRNAs, tRNAs and rRNA (54). One of the RNA processing steps is mediated by *RNase P* complex, and *RNase P* RNA is one of the essential components of the *RNase P* complex (33,55). If VDAC1 serves as the outer membrane RNA import channel in vivo, its deficiency would lead to reduction of *RNase P* RNA level in mitochondria and in turn lead to insufficient processing of the long transcripts. The mitochondrial *RNase P* RNA level in the wild-type mitochondria and VDAC1 deficient mitochondria was examined using RT-PCR. Significantly higher level of *RNase P* RNA is detected in the wild-type mitochondria compared to the VDAC1 deficient mitochondria (Figure 2-4A). The levels of partially processed RNA transcripts were next examined by RT-PCR using primers individually annealing to mRNAs separated by two or three tRNAs: *COX1* and *COX2* separated by *tRNA<sup>Ser</sup>* and *tRNA<sup>4sp</sup>*, and *ND4* and *ND5* separated by *tRNA<sup>His</sup>*, *tRNA<sup>Ser</sup>* and *tRNA<sup>Leu</sup>*. Significantly higher amount of partially or unprocessed RNA precursors were observed in the VDAC deficient mitochondria compared to the wild-type mitochondria (Figure 2-4B). The negative effect on the downstream processes of mitochondrial RNA import by VDAC knockdown further confirms the direct involvement of VDAC in the import.

#### VDAC1 knockdown negatively affects mitochondrial functions

Our previous studies showed that knockdown of an essential component of mitochondrial RNA import pathway PNPase reduced OXPHOS and disrupted the integrity of mitochondrial structure (1,56). These mitochondrial functions were also examined in the VDAC1 deficient cells. Like the PNPase deficient cells, a 1.5-2 fold decrease of the stable level of mitochondrion-encoded COX2 was observed in the VDAC1 deficient cells, while no significant difference of mitochondrial proteins encoded in the nucleus was detected. The lower stable protein level can be attributed to lower translation level, as in vivo translation of mitochondrion-encoded proteins showed a significant lower yield (1/2) in the VDAC1 deficient cells. Staining of mitochondria was examined, and the cells showed a significantly lower (~70%) respiration rate compared to the wild-type cells.

#### **Concluding Remarks**

As the mitochondria regulates the charge balance within the organelle, in order to maintain the mitochondrial membrane potential, the question of how the mitochondrial membrane can accommodate the movement of large negative charge molecule like RNA is extremely intriguing. Using the yeast *in organello* import and RNA crosslinking and pull down assays in the mammalian VDAC knockdown system, we show that VDAC1 may possible be responsible for allowing *RNase P RNA* to be imported to the mitochondria. Since the RNA translocation process requires the channel to accommodate a large negatively charged molecule, a biophysical characterization of how this transport takes place through the outer mitochondrial membrane is warranted. In addition, the inner membrane channel that is responsible for RNA translocation and any other factors directing the RNA to the mitochondria for import still remains to be identified for many of the RNAs imported into the mitochondria.

#### **Materials and Methods**

*Mitochondrial RNA purification*. Mitochondria were treated with 25 µg/mL S7 micrococcal nuclease at 27°C for 30 minutes in nuclease buffer (0.6 M Sorbitol, 20 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 5 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 20 mM Tris-pH 8.0). The reaction was stopped by addition of 20 mM EGTA. The mitochondria were then solubilized in SDS buffer (100 mM NaCl, 1 % SDS, 20 mM Tris-Cl pH 7.4) at 65°C for 5 minutes. RNA was extracted using TRIzol (Invitrogen) reagent, treated with DNase I (Roche) for 1hr at 37°C in the manufacturer supplied buffer and DNase I was heat inactivated at 65°C for 10 min.

*In Vitro Transcription and Import Assay.* Import substrate RNA were transcribed from PCR templates by incubating 800 ng PCR template with SP6 RNA Polymerase (NEB) at 40°C for 15 minutes in SP6 transcription buffer (40 mM Tris-Cl pH 7.5, 6 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 2 mM spermidine, 0.1 mg/mL BSA) with 0.5 mM rNTP without GTP, 5 mM methyl G-Cap (NEB), 10 mM DTT and trace amounts <sup>32</sup>P rCTP (MP Biomedicals). The rGTP was then added to the reaction to a final concentration of 0.5 mM and allowed to incubate for 90 minutes at 40°C. Import substrates for mammalian experiments were transcribed using Ambion Sp6 MEGAscript<sup>®</sup> Kit according to manufacturer's protocol.

All yeast strains were grown at stationary phase for 2 days in selection medium. Yeast and mammalian mitochondrial isolation procedure were previously described (56,57) . The import assay for yeast mitochondria was performed in 200 µL volume by incubating 100 µg of isolated mitochondria at room temperature for 5 minutes in import buffer (0.6 M Sorbitol, 2 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 50 mM KCl, 50 mM Hepes-KOH pH 7.1, 10 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 2.5 mM EDTA, and 1 mg/mL BSA 5 mM ATP, 2 mM DTT, 5 mM NADH) and subsequently adding 5 pmol of radiolabeled RNA and incubating for 5 more min at room temperature for import. Then, mitochondria were spun down at 11,000 *g*, and rinsed with wash buffer (0.6 M Sorbitol and 20 mM Tris-Cl pH 8.0), treated with 25 µg/mL S7 micrococcal nuclease at 27°C for 30 minutes. Total RNA was isolated as described above, analyzed by 8M Urea 5% Acrylamide gel electrophoresis, and visualized by autoradiography. Mammalian import assays were performed using buffer containing 0.225 M Mannitol plus 0.075 M Sucrose instead of 0.6 M Sorbitol, and 20 mM succinate instead of 5 mM NADH were used. *Western Blot.* 25-50 µg of protein lysates were separated by SDS-PAGE, transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane and blocked by incubating for 1 hour with 5% milk in TBS-Tween-20 and primary antibodies incubated at room temperature for 1h or at 4°C overnight. The following dilutions were used for each antibody: PNPase (1:5000) (57,58), Porin (1:5000) (Abcam), VDAC1 (1:1000) (Abcam), TOM40 (1:2000) (ULAB4), COX2 (1:1000) (Santa Cruz Biotech.), and HRP-conjugated mouse and rabbit secondary antibody (1:10,000) (Thermo Fisher Scientific). The blots were visualized using the ECL reagent from Thermo Fisher Scientific.

*Crosslinking and Immunoprecipitation Assay.* Immediately after import, the imported RNA and mitochondrial proteins were UV crosslinked (1.8 J in Stratalinker). The mitochondria were then solubilized in lysis buffer (150 mM NaCl, 10% glycerol, 1% Triton X-100, 2 mM EDTA, 20 mM Tris-Cl pH 8.0) containing protease inhibitor (Roche). Insoluble materials were removed by centrifugation at 20,000 g for 30 min at 4°C. The lysates were pre-cleared with protein A-Sepharose beads (Pharmacia) by incubating for 1 hour at 4°C, and immunoprecipitated using 5  $\mu$ g of antibody conjugated to protein A-Sepharose beads for 2 hours at 4°C. The beads were then washed 6 times with lysis buffer. The immunoprecipitates were boiled in SDS loading buffer, separated on SDS-PAGE and analyzed by autoradiography.

*RT-PCR*. Isolated mitochondrial RNA were subject to RT-PCR using the AccessQuick<sup>TM</sup> RT-PCR kit (Promega) and a specific reverse primer. The AMV reverse transcriptase

were denatured at 95°C for 5 min and PCR amplification were performed in the same tube after addition of the specific forward primer.

*Plasmids.* All the PNPase, Su9-DHFR and RNase P RNA plasmids were previously described (1,56,57). The shRNA vectors for VDAC1 silencing were purchase from Sigma.

*Yeast Strains.* The wild type and mutant yeast strains were previously described (59,60). All the strains were grown and maintained in synthetic complete media minus the amino acid for marker selection.

*Cell Lines.* HeLa and HEK293 cells cultured in DMEM supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum. Stable VDAC1 knockdown cell lines were established by transfection of HEK293 cells with VDAC1 shRNA construct, VSVg and Hit60 packaging vectors using BioT reagent (Bioland Scientific LLC). The harvested viruses were used to infect HeLa cells and cells were selected with 3 µg/mL puromycin.

*Oxygen Consumption Measurement.* Cells were seeded at 50,000 cells/well in a XF24 Extracellular Flux Analyzer cell culture plate (Seahorse Bioscience) and incubated in the  $37^{\circ}$ C incubator with 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 24 hr. The oxygen consumption rate was measured using the XF24 Extracellular Flux Analyzer.

### **Figures**



Figure 2-1. PNPase mediated mitochondrial RNA import is sensitive to Trypsin shaving of the mitochondrial outer membrane proteins. (A) Western blot show that the trypsin shaving was efficient and the outer mitochondrial protein, Tom70 is degraded.
(B) Import of *RNase P* RNA into isolated mitochondria treated with Trypsin.



Figure 2-2. Yeast mitochondrial outer membrane protein Por1 is required for PNPase-mediated mitochondrial RNA import. (A) Western blot showing that the  $\Delta por1$  strain does not express any porin. (B) Import of *RNase P* RNA into isolated mitochondria.



Figure 2-3. *RNase P RNA* translocates through porin/VDAC in mammalian cells. (A) Western showing VDAC1 knockdown. (B) Radiolabeled *RNase P* RNA was imported into isolated *VDAC1* knock down HeLa cell mitochondria and detected by autoradiography. (C) Antibody blocking assay showing import of *RNase P* RNA is partially blocked by VDAC1 antibody treatment, which has no effect on protein import. (D) Crosslinking of radiolabeled *RNase P* RNA and immunoprecipitation of porin/VDAC. *tRNA<sup>bys</sup>* was used as negative control for non-imported RNA and TOM40 was used as a negative control for immunoprecipitation.

COXI				HI RNA			
Total		Mito		Total		Mito	
WT	KD	WT	KD	WT	KD	WT	KD
-	1	-	-		_	-	

В



**Figure 2-4**. **VDAC1 knockdown affects steady state levels of** *H1* **RNA in the mitochondria and processing of mitochondrial transcripts.** (A) RT-PCR showing steady state levels of *H1* RNA. (B) RT-PCR showing that unprocessed mitochondrial transcripts accumulate in the VDAC knockdown cells.



**Figure 2-5. VDAC1 knockdown shows similar effect on mitochondrial functions as PNPASE knockdown.** (A) Western blot showing that the steady state protein level of mitochondrion-encoded COX2 is lower in VDAC1 knockdown cells. (B) Immunofluorescence image demonstrates that the mitochondria are fragmented in

VDAC1 knockdown cells. 8 fields, over 160 cells were examined for each strain. (C) *In organello* translation reveals that defect in mitochondrial translation for VDAC1 knockdown cells. (D) Seahorse measurement of oxygen consumption demonstrates that VDAC1 knockdown cells do not respire as well as wildtype cells.

## References

- Wang, G., Chen, H. W., Oktay, Y., Zhang, J., Allen, E. L., Smith, G. M., Fan, K. C., Hong, J. S., French, S. W., McCaffery, J. M., Lightowlers, R. N., Morse, H. C., 3rd, Koehler, C. M., and Teitell, M. A. (2010) PNPASE regulates RNA import into mitochondria. *Cell* 142, 456-467
- 2. Martin, R. P., Schneller, J. M., Stahl, A. J., and Dirheimer, G. (1979) Import of nuclear deoxyribonucleic acid coded lysine-accepting transfer ribonucleic acid (anticodon C-U-U) into yeast mitochondria. *Biochemistry* **18**, 4600-4605
- 3. Magalhaes, P. J., Andreu, A. L., and Schon, E. A. (1998) Evidence for the presence of 5S rRNA in mammalian mitochondria. *Mol Biol Cell* **9**, 2375-2382
- 4. Topper, J. N., Bennett, J. L., and Clayton, D. A. (1992) A role for RNAase MRP in mitochondrial RNA processing. *Cell* **70**, 16-20
- Entelis, N. S., Krasheninnikov, I. A., Martin, R. P., and Tarassov, I. A. (1996) Mitochondrial import of a yeast cytoplasmic tRNA (Lys): possible roles of aminoacylation and modified nucleosides in subcellular partitioning. *FEBS Lett* 384, 38-42
- Das, S., Ferlito, M., Kent, O. A., Fox-Talbot, K., Wang, R., Liu, D., Raghavachari, N., Yang, Y., Wheelan, S. J., Murphy, E., and Steenbergen, C. (2012) Nuclear miRNA regulates the mitochondrial genome in the heart. *Circ Res* 110, 1596-1603
- 7. Dasgupta, N., Peng, Y., Tan, Z., Ciraolo, G., Wang, D., and Li, R. (2015) miRNAs in mtDNA-less cell mitochondria. *Cell Death Discov* 1, 15004
- 8. Srinivasan, H., and Das, S. (2015) Mitochondrial miRNA (MitomiR): a new player in cardiovascular health. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol* **93**, 855-861
- Sripada, L., Tomar, D., Prajapati, P., Singh, R., Singh, A. K., and Singh, R. (2012) Systematic analysis of small RNAs associated with human mitochondria by deep sequencing: detailed analysis of mitochondrial associated miRNA. *PLoS One* 7, e44873
- 10. Sripada, L., Tomar, D., and Singh, R. (2012) Mitochondria: one of the destinations of miRNAs. *Mitochondrion* **12**, 593-599
- Schmitz, U. K., and Lonsdale, D. M. (1989) A yeast mitochondrial presequence functions as a signal for targeting to plant mitochondria in vivo. *Plant Cell* 1, 783-791
- 12. Brandina, I., Graham, J., Lemaitre-Guillier, C., Entelis, N., Krasheninnikov, I., Sweetlove, L., Tarassov, I., and Martin, R. P. (2006) Enolase takes part in a macromolecular complex associated to mitochondria in yeast. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1757**, 1217-1228
- 13. Salinas, T., Duchene, A. M., and Marechal-Drouard, L. (2008) Recent advances in tRNA mitochondrial import. *Trends Biochem Sci* **33**, 320-329
- 14. Gowher, A., Smirnov, A., Tarassov, I., and Entelis, N. (2013) Induced tRNA import into human mitochondria: implication of a host aminoacyl-tRNA-synthetase. *PLoS One* **8**, e66228

- Rubio, M. A., Rinehart, J. J., Krett, B., Duvezin-Caubet, S., Reichert, A. S., Soll, D., and Alfonzo, J. D. (2008) Mammalian mitochondria have the innate ability to import tRNAs by a mechanism distinct from protein import. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U* S A 105, 9186-9191
- 16. Nierlich, D. P. (1982) Fragmentary 5S rRNA gene in the human mitochondrial genome. *Mol Cell Biol* **2**, 207-209
- 17. Ciganda, M., and Williams, N. (2011) Eukaryotic 5S rRNA biogenesis. *Wiley Interdiscip Rev RNA* **2**, 523-533
- Yoshionari, S., Koike, T., Yokogawa, T., Nishikawa, K., Ueda, T., Miura, K., and Watanabe, K. (1994) Existence of nuclear-encoded 5S-rRNA in bovine mitochondria. *FEBS Lett* 338, 137-142
- Smirnov, A., Comte, C., Mager-Heckel, A. M., Addis, V., Krasheninnikov, I. A., Martin, R. P., Entelis, N., and Tarassov, I. (2010) Mitochondrial enzyme rhodanese is essential for 5 S ribosomal RNA import into human mitochondria. *J Biol Chem* 285, 30792-30803
- 20. Smirnov, A., Tarassov, I., Mager-Heckel, A. M., Letzelter, M., Martin, R. P., Krasheninnikov, I. A., and Entelis, N. (2008) Two distinct structural elements of 5S rRNA are needed for its import into human mitochondria. *RNA* **14**, 749-759
- Smirnov, A., Entelis, N., Martin, R. P., Tarassov, I., Comte, C., Mager-Heckel, A. M., Addis, V., and Krasheninnikov, I. A. (2011) Biological significance of 5S rRNA import into human mitochondria: role of ribosomal protein MRP-L18Mitochondrial enzyme rhodanese is essential for 5 S ribosomal RNA import into human mitochondria. *Genes Dev* 25, 1289-1305
- Smirnov, A., Entelis, N., Martin, R. P., Tarassov, I., Comte, C., Mager-Heckel, A. M., Addis, V., and Krasheninnikov, I. A. (2011) Biological significance of 5S rRNA import into human mitochondria: role of ribosomal protein MRP-L18Mitochondrial enzyme rhodanese is essential for 5 S ribosomal RNA import into human mitochondria. in *Genes Dev*, United States. pp 1289-1305
- 23. Chu, S., Archer, R. H., Zengel, J. M., and Lindahl, L. (1994) The RNA of RNase MRP is required for normal processing of ribosomal RNA. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **91**, 659-663
- Schmitt, M. E., and Clayton, D. A. (1993) Nuclear RNase MRP is required for correct processing of pre-5.8S rRNA in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Mol Cell Biol* 13, 7935-7941
- Gill, T., Cai, T., Aulds, J., Wierzbicki, S., and Schmitt, M. E. (2004) RNase MRP cleaves the CLB2 mRNA to promote cell cycle progression: novel method of mRNA degradation. *Mol Cell Biol* 24, 945-953
- Maida, Y., Yasukawa, M., Furuuchi, M., Lassmann, T., Possemato, R., Okamoto, N., Kasim, V., Hayashizaki, Y., Hahn, W. C., and Masutomi, K. (2009) An RNAdependent RNA polymerase formed by TERT and the RMRP RNA. *Nature* 461, 230-235
- 27. Noh, J. H., Kim, K. M., Abdelmohsen, K., Yoon, J. H., Panda, A. C., Munk, R., Kim, J., Curtis, J., Moad, C. A., Wohler, C. M., Indig, F. E., de Paula, W., Dudekula, D. B., De, S., Piao, Y., Yang, X., Martindale, J. L., de Cabo, R., and

Gorospe, M. (2016) HuR and GRSF1 modulate the nuclear export and mitochondrial localization of the lncRNA RMRP. *Genes Dev* **30**, 1224-1239

- Mercer, T. R., Neph, S., Dinger, M. E., Crawford, J., Smith, M. A., Shearwood, A. M., Haugen, E., Bracken, C. P., Rackham, O., Stamatoyannopoulos, J. A., Filipovska, A., and Mattick, J. S. (2011) The human mitochondrial transcriptome. *Cell* 146, 645-658
- 29. Chang, D. D., and Clayton, D. A. (1989) Mouse RNAase MRP RNA is encoded by a nuclear gene and contains a decamer sequence complementary to a conserved region of mitochondrial RNA substrate. *Cell* **56**, 131-139
- 30. Chang, D. D., and Clayton, D. A. (1987) A mammalian mitochondrial RNA processing activity contains nucleus-encoded RNA. *Science* **235**, 1178-1184
- 31. Guerrier-Takada, C., Gardiner, K., Marsh, T., Pace, N., and Altman, S. (1983) The RNA moiety of ribonuclease P is the catalytic subunit of the enzyme. *Cell* **35**, 849-857
- 32. Pannucci, J. A., Haas, E. S., Hall, T. A., Harris, J. K., and Brown, J. W. (1999) RNase P RNAs from some Archaea are catalytically active. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **96**, 7803-7808
- Kikovska, E., Svard, S. G., and Kirsebom, L. A. (2007) Eukaryotic RNase P RNA mediates cleavage in the absence of protein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 104, 2062-2067
- 34. Kren, B. T., Wong, P. Y., Sarver, A., Zhang, X., Zeng, Y., and Steer, C. J. (2009) MicroRNAs identified in highly purified liver-derived mitochondria may play a role in apoptosis. *RNA Biol* **6**, 65-72
- Zhang, X., Zuo, X., Yang, B., Li, Z., Xue, Y., Zhou, Y., Huang, J., Zhao, X., Zhou, J., Yan, Y., Zhang, H., Guo, P., Sun, H., Guo, L., Zhang, Y., and Fu, X. D. (2014) MicroRNA directly enhances mitochondrial translation during muscle differentiation. *Cell* 158, 607-619
- Huntzinger, E., and Izaurralde, E. (2011) Gene silencing by microRNAs: contributions of translational repression and mRNA decay. *Nat Rev Genet* 12, 99-110
- 37. Filipowicz, W., Bhattacharyya, S. N., and Sonenberg, N. (2008) Mechanisms of post-transcriptional regulation by microRNAs: are the answers in sight? *Nat Rev Genet* **9**, 102-114
- 38. Fabian, M. R., Sonenberg, N., and Filipowicz, W. (2010) Regulation of mRNA translation and stability by microRNAs. *Annu Rev Biochem* **79**, 351-379
- Bartel, D. P. (2009) MicroRNAs: target recognition and regulatory functions. *Cell* 136, 215-233
- 40. Kim, V. N., Han, J., and Siomi, M. C. (2009) Biogenesis of small RNAs in animals. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **10**, 126-139
- 41. Friedman, R. C., Farh, K. K., Burge, C. B., and Bartel, D. P. (2009) Most mammalian mRNAs are conserved targets of microRNAs. *Genome Res* **19**, 92-105
- 42. Hesse, M., and Arenz, C. (2014) MicroRNA maturation and human disease. *Methods Mol Biol* **1095**, 11-25

- 43. Bandiera, S., Ruberg, S., Girard, M., Cagnard, N., Hanein, S., Chretien, D., Munnich, A., Lyonnet, S., and Henrion-Caude, A. (2011) Nuclear outsourcing of RNA interference components to human mitochondria. *PLoS One* **6**, e20746
- 44. Bienertova-Vasku, J., Sana, J., and Slaby, O. (2013) The role of microRNAs in mitochondria in cancer. *Cancer Lett* **336**, 1-7
- Barrey, E., Saint-Auret, G., Bonnamy, B., Damas, D., Boyer, O., and Gidrol, X. (2011) Pre-microRNA and mature microRNA in human mitochondria. *PLoS One* 6, e20220
- 46. Das, S., Kohr, M., Dunkerly-Eyring, B., Lee, D. I., Bedja, D., Kent, O. A., Leung, A. K., Henao-Mejia, J., Flavell, R. A., and Steenbergen, C. (2017) Divergent Effects of miR-181 Family Members on Myocardial Function Through Protective Cytosolic and Detrimental Mitochondrial microRNA Targets. J Am Heart Assoc 6
- 47. Das, S., Bedja, D., Campbell, N., Dunkerly, B., Chenna, V., Maitra, A., and Steenbergen, C. (2014) miR-181c regulates the mitochondrial genome, bioenergetics, and propensity for heart failure in vivo. *PLoS One* **9**, e96820
- Jagannathan, R., Thapa, D., Nichols, C. E., Shepherd, D. L., Stricker, J. C., Croston, T. L., Baseler, W. A., Lewis, S. E., Martinez, I., and Hollander, J. M. (2015) Translational Regulation of the Mitochondrial Genome Following Redistribution of Mitochondrial MicroRNA in the Diabetic Heart. *Circ Cardiovasc Genet* 8, 785-802
- 49. Salinas, T., Duchene, A. M., Delage, L., Nilsson, S., Glaser, E., Zaepfel, M., and Marechal-Drouard, L. (2006) The voltage-dependent anion channel, a major component of the tRNA import machinery in plant mitochondria. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **103**, 18362-18367
- 50. Pusnik, M., Charriere, F., Maser, P., Waller, R. F., Dagley, M. J., Lithgow, T., and Schneider, A. (2009) The single mitochondrial porin of Trypanosoma brucei is the main metabolite transporter in the outer mitochondrial membrane. *Mol Biol Evol* **26**, 671-680
- 51. Tarassov, I., Entelis, N., and Martin, R. P. (1995) An intact protein translocating machinery is required for mitochondrial import of a yeast cytoplasmic tRNA. *J Mol Biol* **245**, 315-323
- 52. De Pinto, V., Guarino, F., Guarnera, A., Messina, A., Reina, S., Tomasello, F. M., Palermo, V., and Mazzoni, C. (2010) Characterization of human VDAC isoforms: a peculiar function for VDAC3? *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1797**, 1268-1275
- 53. Yamamoto, T., Yamada, A., Watanabe, M., Yoshimura, Y., Yamazaki, N., Yoshimura, Y., Yamauchi, T., Kataoka, M., Nagata, T., Terada, H., and Shinohara, Y. (2006) VDAC1, having a shorter N-terminus than VDAC2 but showing the same migration in an SDS-polyacrylamide gel, is the predominant form expressed in mitochondria of various tissues. *J Proteome Res* **5**, 3336-3344
- Bonawitz, N. D., Clayton, D. A., and Shadel, G. S. (2006) Initiation and beyond: multiple functions of the human mitochondrial transcription machinery. *Mol Cell* 24, 813-825
- 55. Thomas, B. C., Chamberlain, J., Engelke, D. R., and Gegenheimer, P. (2000) Evidence for an RNA-based catalytic mechanism in eukaryotic nuclear ribonuclease P. *RNA* **6**, 554-562

- 56. Chen, H. W., Rainey, R. N., Balatoni, C. E., Dawson, D. W., Troke, J. J., Wasiak, S., Hong, J. S., McBride, H. M., Koehler, C. M., Teitell, M. A., and French, S. W. (2006) Mammalian polynucleotide phosphorylase is an intermembrane space RNase that maintains mitochondrial homeostasis. *Mol Cell Biol* 26, 8475-8487
- 57. Rainey, R. N., Glavin, J. D., Chen, H. W., French, S. W., Teitell, M. A., and Koehler, C. M. (2006) A new function in translocation for the mitochondrial i-AAA protease Yme1: import of polynucleotide phosphorylase into the intermembrane space. *Mol Cell Biol* 26, 8488-8497
- French, S. W., Dawson, D. W., Chen, H. W., Rainey, R. N., Sievers, S. A., Balatoni, C. E., Wong, L., Troke, J. J., Nguyen, M. T., Koehler, C. M., and Teitell, M. A. (2007) The TCL1 oncoprotein binds the RNase PH domains of the PNPase exoribonuclease without affecting its RNA degrading activity. *Cancer Lett* 248, 198-210
- 59. Koehler, C. M., Jarosch, E., Tokatlidis, K., Schmid, K., Schweyen, R. J., and Schatz, G. (1998) Import of mitochondrial carriers mediated by essential proteins of the intermembrane space. *Science* **279**, 369-373
- 60. Dihanich, M., Suda, K., and Schatz, G. (1987) A yeast mutant lacking mitochondrial porin is respiratory-deficient, but can recover respiration with simultaneous accumulation of an 86-kd extramitochondrial protein. *EMBO J* **6**, 723-728

# **Chapter 3:** PNPase knockout results in mtDNA loss and an altered metabolic gene expression program

#### Abstract

Polynucleotide phosphorylase (PNPase) is an essential mitochondria-localized exoribonuclease implicated in multiple biological processes and human disorders. To reveal role(s) for PNPase in mitochondria, we established PNPase knockout (PKO) systems by first shifting culture conditions to enable cell growth with defective respiration. Interestingly, PKO established in mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) resulted in loss of mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA). The transcriptional profile of PKO cells were similar to rho<sup>0</sup> mtDNA deleted cells. with perturbations seen in cholesterol (FDR=6.35 x 10-13), lipid (FDR=3.21 x 10-11), and secondary alcohol (FDR=1.04x10<sup>-12</sup>) metabolic pathways compared to wild type parental TM6 MEF cells. We found that processes related to axonogenesis (FDR= $4.49 \times 10^{-3}$ ), axon development (FDR =  $4.74 \times 10^{-3}$ ), and axonal guidance (FDR =  $4.74 \times 10^{-3}$ ) were overrepresented in PKO cells. This was intriguing considering that mutations in PNPase cause delayed myelination, hearing loss, encephalomyopathy, and chorioretinal defects in humans. Because over representation analysis revealed alterations in metabolic pathways in both PKO and rho<sup>0</sup> cells, we assessed the correlation of genes implicated in cell cycle progression (KEGG: MMU04110) and total metabolic gene sets (KEGG: MMU01100) and observed a strong positive correlation between PKO cells and rho<sup>0</sup> MEFs compared to TM6 cells. As expected from the transcriptomic profiles, we observe the proliferation rate of PKO cells clones to be 1.7% (SD  $\pm$ 

2.0%) and 2.4% (SD  $\pm$  1.6%) of normalized cell biomass per hour, which was lower than TM6 cells at 3.3% (SD  $\pm$  3.5%). Furthermore, PKO in mouse inner ear hair cells cause progressive hearing loss that parallel human familial hearing loss previously linked to mutations in PNPase. Combined, our study reports a novel observation that a knockout of a mitochondrial nuclease results in mtDNA loss and suggest that mtDNA maintenance could provide a unifying connection for the large number of biological activities reported for PNPase.

## Introduction

Polynucleotide phosphorylase (PNPase) is a conserved 3'-5' exoribonuclease that bacteria and most eukarya express, but is absent in archae (1,2). In addition to phosphorolytic RNA degrading activity, bacterial PNPase catalyzes template independent polymerization of RNA (3,4). The enzymatic features of bacterial PNPase have been well studied (4-10) and recent discoveries reveal bacterial PNPase involvement in modulating levels of multiple mRNAs and sRNAs (4,11-13), an etiology in cold-shock (14-16) and oxidative stress responses (17), biofilm formation (18-20), virulence (21), and even DNA recombination, repair and mutagenesis (22-25).

Similar to its bacterial counterpart, mammalian PNPase has several roles in RNA homeostasis, and it has also been found to function within mitochondria. Constitutive PNPase knockout (PKO) in mice is lethal at embryonic day 8, because PNPase is essential for maintaining mitochondrial homeostasis in all cell types (26,27). Mammalian PNPase exhibits enzymatic features that are similar to bacterial PNPase with a different optimal phosphate concentration for RNA degradation (28,29). In mitochondria, PNPase localizes to both the

intermembrane space (IMS) and matrix compartments as revealed in several model systems and by multiple localization methods (26,27,30,31). Knockdown studies have shown variable effects on the processing and polyadenylation of mitochondrial RNA (mtRNA) that is transcribed from mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) (32-34). Recent studies have established that PNPase and the hSUV3 RNA helicase form a mtRNA degrading complex and degrade mirror-mtRNAs, which are noncoding mtRNAs that are antisense and complementary to coding mtRNAs (31,34,35).

Also similar to bacterial PNPase, mammalian PNPase participates in many physiologic pathways beyond mtRNA regulation. One study suggests that PNPase regulates c-Myc levels possibly through interactions with EGFR (36), whereas another study suggests PNPase controls an interferon- $\beta$  (IFN $\beta$ )-induced reduction of c-Myc mRNA (37). PNPase modulates an IFN $\beta$ -induced decrease of mir-221 levels that results in growth inhibition in melanoma cells (38) and it regulates nucleus encoded small non-coding RNA import into mitochondria (27,39). PNPase is a type-I IFN induced gene (40) and over-expression at supra-physiologic levels affects reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation and NF- $\kappa$ B activation (41). Recently, PNPase was linked to metabolism control during somatic cell reprogramming to induced pluripotent stem cells (42,43). In humans, PNPase mutations genetically link to hereditary hearing loss, encephalomyopathy, and axonal and auditory neuropathy, gut disturbances, chorioretinal defects, Leigh syndrome, and delayed myelination (44-49). Combined, PNPase affects many essential cellular processes and pathways that regulate organism physiology and pathology without a unifying theme or underlying mechanism, which requires further investigation.

Almost all investigations to date elevate PNPase to supra-physiologic levels in gain-offunction studies or use knockdown approaches with incomplete loss of PNPase in loss-offunction work to gain insight into mammalian PNPase activities. A few studies examined changes in gene expression profiles with gain and loss of PNPase function using these approaches to help explain the plethora of impacted physiologic systems (50,51). However, no study eliminated PNPase completely to evaluate the impact on global gene expression and cell function, likely due to the essential role of PNPase for cell growth and survival under usual conditions in vivo and in culture. Given its mitochondrial localization, roles in mtRNA regulation, and its activity in small nucleus-encoded RNA import into mitochondria to control respiration, we reasoned that reducing the dependence of cells on mitochondrial function first could generate a suitable internal cell environment for stable knockout of PNPase. Here, we established complete PKO cells by first reducing immortalized mouse embryonic fibroblast (MEF) dependence on respiration. The resulting PKO cell lines enabled studies of changes in gene expression and cell function directly due to PNPase loss. We also examined the effect of PNPase loss-of-function in inner ear hair cells in mice, as homozygous PNPase mutation or loss links with familial hearing loss in humans (44).

#### Results

#### PNPase knockout results in loss of mtDNA and inability to respire

Our previous attempts to generate a PKO MEF line failed because deletion of the PNPase-encoding gene, *Pnpt1*, ultimately caused cell death (27). Given its essential role in maintaining mitochondrial homeostasis and its mitochondrial localization, we considered that PKO might disrupt mitochondrial functions required for survival (26). To test this idea, and because cell lines are known to rely on mitochondria to varying extents, we sought to establish PKO MEFs using a two-step approach. First, we generated a cell line that lacked mtDNA (rho<sup>0</sup>)

using  $Pnpt1^{fl/fl}$  MEFs isolated from our  $Pnpt1^{fl/fl}$  mouse colony. SV-40 large T-antigen immortalized  $Pnpt1^{fl/fl}$  MEFs, designated TM6, were incubated in ditercalinium chloride supplemented with uridine for 3 weeks to eliminate the mtDNA (52). PCR validated, respiration defective rho<sup>0</sup>  $Pnpt1^{fl/fl}$  MEFs were then infected with an adenovirus expressing Cre recombinase to delete the *loxP*-flanked portion of exon 2 in *Pnpt1*, generating non-functional PNPaseencoding alleles that translate out-of-frame with multiple stop codons in exons 3, 4, and 6 (27). Using this strategy, we obtained numerous independent rho<sup>0</sup> PKO MEF clones, indicating that eliminating mtDNA first provides a permissive internal cell environment for the complete loss of PNPase (data not shown).

rho<sup>0</sup> mammalian cells are pyrimidine auxotrophs that require uridine media supplementation to grow due to an inactive dihydroorotate dehydrogenase enzyme in the mitochondrial inner membrane, resulting from a non-functional electron transport chain (ETC) (53). Encouraged by generation of a PKO in rho<sup>0</sup> MEFs, we considered whether a simple preconditioning of mtDNA-containing MEFs with rho<sup>0</sup> permissive, uridine-supplemented media, rather than by chemical removal of mtDNA, would result in PKO MEF lines. Therefore, we incubated *Pnpt1*<sup>*fl/fl*</sup> TM6 MEFs in uridine-containing media for 3 weeks, followed by infection with an adenovirus expressing Cre recombinase. Multiple individual PKO MEF clones emerged from a background of dead and dying cells that were isolated, expanded, and 5 clones were PCR verified for complete loss of *loxP*-flanked exon 2 in the *Pnpt1* gene, as performed previously using internal and external PCR primer sets (Figure 3-1A) (27). We selected 3 PKO MEF clones, designated PKO-1, PKO-4, and PKO-6, for additional analyses. Immunoblotting revealed undetectable PNPase protein in these 3 PKO clone lines, in contrast with strong PNPase expression from *Pnpt1*<sup>*fl/fl*</sup> TM6 and rho<sup>0</sup> MEFs (Figure 3-1B). Thus, mtDNA-containing MEFs conditioned to grow in uridine-supplemented media tolerate PKO, whereas MEFs in standard growth media are non-permissive for PNPase loss.

To examine the impact of PKO on cell function, we first determined the effects on mtDNA content because chemically induced loss of mtDNA enabled subsequent PKO. Surprisingly, PCR detection of the Nd1 mitochondrial gene showed its absence in all 3 PKO clones (Figure 3-1C). This result suggested that PKO MEFs lost mtDNA, which we further examined by PicoGreen double-stranded DNA dye staining using fluorescence microscopy (Figure 3-1D). Whereas the TM6 MEF cells displayed green puncta in the cytosol marking abundant mtDNA, rho<sup>0</sup> and PKO MEFs lacked green cytosolic puncta, confirming the loss of mtDNA. All 3 PKO clones and rho<sup>0</sup> MEFs showed no respiration, which contrasted with TM6 MEFs, as measured by a Seahorse XF24 extracellular flux analyzer. This result was consistent with loss of mtDNA and resultant failure of the ETC (Figure 3-1E). Rather, these cells manufacture energy by substantially increasing glycolysis and show an elevated extracellular acidification rate (ECAR) that was ~two-fold higher than TM6 MEFs (Figure 3-1F). In cells with low or absent respiration, ECAR is a good approximation of glycolysis and lactate excretion. A plot of the ratio of OCR/ECAR provides a remarkable graphic display for the metabolic alteration caused by PKO (Figure 3-1G). Combined, these genetic, protein, and functional data indicate that MEFs that lose PNPase cannot respire or maintain the mitochondrial genome.

# Transcriptional, growth and cell cycle profiles are similar for PKO and rho0 cells

To determine the effect of PNPase loss on gene expression and the potential to alter cell physiology, we performed RNA-Seq analyses on TM6 MEFs, rho<sup>0</sup> cells derived from TM6 MEFs and PKO-1 and PKO-6 MEFs. PKO-4 cells were excluded from analysis because of aneuploidy detected by cell cycle profiling (data not shown). Principal components analysis (PCA) indicated extensive transcriptional variance, denoted by the first principal component (PC1), between TM6 MEF cells and the remaining cell lines (Figure 3-2A). Isolated PKO cells clustered away from the parental TM6 cell line and showed variability in inter-clone gene expression with little intra-clone variation (Figure 3-2A). However, PKO-1 and PKO-6 MEFs displayed similar expression signatures to rho<sup>0</sup> TM6 MEFs (Figure 3-2A). A rank-rank hypergeometric overlap (RRHO) analysis calculating the significance between overlaps of averaged PKO and rho<sup>0</sup> expression changes with respect to TM6 indicates strong correlative overlap in expression profiles between PKO and rho<sup>0</sup> cells (maximum  $-\log_{10}(P \text{ value}) > 4500)$ (Figure 3-2B). We identified a significant overlap in up- and down-regulated transcripts within PKO and rho<sup>0</sup> signatures and additionally sought to identify differentially expressed genes (DEGs) in both expression profiles. Our analysis identified 1,629 DEGs between rho<sup>0</sup> and TM6 MEFs, with a false discovery rate (FDR) adjusted q value below 0.01 and an absolute  $\log_2$  foldchange above 0.5, and 1,527 DEGs between PKO and TM6 MEFs using the same thresholds (Figure 3-2C). Of the DEGs expressed by rho<sup>0</sup> and PKO MEFs, 886 genes were in common, as anticipated due to significant overlaps in RRHO analysis and similar cellular physiology with the loss of mtDNA (Figure 3-2C).

We performed Gene Ontology (GO) gene set overrepresentation analysis (ORA) for each area represented in the Venn diagram (Figure 3-2C) and examined DEGs that are specific to rho<sup>0</sup> MEFs (cluster 1) and PKO MEFs (cluster 3) and those DEGs shared between rho<sup>0</sup> and PKO

MEFs (cluster 2). GO terms overrepresented in cluster 1 identified processes including regulation of cell morphogenesis (FDR =  $4.45 \times 10^{-4}$ ), cell-cell junction assembly (FDR =  $8.70 \times 10^{-3}$ ), mitochondrial DNA replication (FDR = 0.014), and regulation of protein stability (FDR = 0.026) (Figure 3-2D). Genes whose expression associates with mtDNA replication are elevated in rho<sup>0</sup> and reduced in TM6 MEFs (Figure 3-S1A). These genes include a subunit of ribonucleotide reductase that regulates cytosolic nucleotide pools (*Rrm2b*), an RNase removes an RNA primer in replicating mtDNA (*Rnaseh1*), and a pyrimidine transporter (*Slc25a33*) (Figure 3-S1A).

Amongst pathways overrepresented by PKO and rho<sup>0</sup> MEF DEGs (cluster 2) are cholesterol metabolic processes (FDR =  $6.35 \times 10^{-13}$ ), sterol metabolic processes (FDR=  $6.35 \times 10^{-13}$ ), lipid biosynthetic processes (FDR=  $3.21 \times 10^{-11}$ ), and secondary alcohol synthesis (FDR =  $1.04 \times 10^{-12}$ ), which were all reduced in both cell types (Figure 3-S1B). Cholesterol and sterol biosynthetic process repression is consistent with data from PNPase shRNA knockdown in melanoma cell lines, reported previously (51).

Pathways pertaining to neuronal function are overrepresented in PKO specific cluster 3 and include axonogenesis (FDR =  $4.49 \times 10^{-3}$ ), axon development (FDR =  $4.74 \times 10^{-3}$ ), and axon guidance (FDR =  $4.74 \times 10^{-3}$ ). Many of these neuronal genes regulate cell migration and adhesion (Figure 3-S1C). Although this study uses MEFs, it is interesting that PNPase expression differentially affects genes that regulate neuronal function, especially since PNPase mutations link to delayed myelination, hearing loss, encephalomyopathy, gut disturbances, and chorioretinal defects in humans (44-49). Axonogenesis (FDR =  $1.14 \times 10^{-3}$ ) and axon development (FDR =  $2.00 \times 10^{-4}$ ) pathways are also overrepresented in genes shared between rho<sup>0</sup> and PKO MEF DEGs (cluster 2). However, these axonogenesis and axon development

pathway overrepresented genes (cluster 2) differ from genes in PKO MEF-specific cluster 3 for the same ontologies. Thus, both loss of PNPase and loss of mtDNA may contribute uniquely to neurologic pathologies in patients with PNPase mutations. s

Because of the concordance in gene expression profiles between PKO and rho<sup>0</sup> MEFs (Figure 3-2B), we examined cell growth, cell cycle progression, and metabolic features in these cell types. Genes implicated in mitotic progression (KEGG: MMU04110) show a strong positive correlation for  $rho^0$  and PKO relative to TM6 MEFs (Pearson Correlation Coefficient (PCC) = 0.86, P value  $< 2.2 \times 10^{-16}$ ) (Figure 3-3A). Furthermore, given the importance of metabolism in cell growth and a key role for cholesterol biosynthesis in cell cycle progression, we assessed the correlation of metabolic gene expression between PKO and rho<sup>0</sup> MEFs (54,55). Total metabolic gene sets (KEGG: MMU01100) showed similar positive correlations for PKO and rho<sup>0</sup> expression profiles relative to TM6 (PCC = 0.79, P value <  $2.2 \times 10^{-16}$ ) (Figure 3-3B and Figure 3-S2). We next assessed whether these correlated expression profiles show phenotypic similarity by measuring growth, or biomass accumulation, rates for TM6, rho<sup>0</sup>, and PKO MEFs using a quantitative phase microscopy (QPM) technique called live cell interferometry (LCI) (56). As anticipated, rho<sup>0</sup> MEFs grew much slower than TM6 MEFs, and PKO clones accumulated biomass as slowly as rho<sup>0</sup> MEFs (Figure 3-3C). LCI quantification revealed a mean growth rate for TM6 and rho<sup>0</sup> MEFs of 3.3% (SD  $\pm$  3.5%) and 1.7% (SD  $\pm$  2.7%) of normalized cell biomass per hour, respectively, with a P value of 4.7 x  $10^{-10}$  (Figure 3-3C). PKO-1 and PKO-6 showed a mean growth rate of 1.7% (SD  $\pm$  2.0%) and 2.4% (SD  $\pm$  1.6%) of normalized cell biomass per hour, respectively, and with P values compared to the TM6 growth rate of 6.49 x  $10^{-12}$  and 5.54 x 10<sup>-5</sup>, respectively (Figure 3-3C). Furthermore, cell proliferation studies supported LCI quantified growth rate profiling data in that rho<sup>0</sup>, PKO-1 and PKO-6 cells replicated much slower than TM6

MEFs (Figure 3-3D). Finally, cell cycle analysis by flow cytometry revealed a trend in which rho<sup>0</sup> MEFs have a higher proportion of cells in S phase compared to TM6 MEFs (Figure 3-3E). This higher S phase trend persists for PKO-1 and PKO-6 MEFs, although the measurement standard deviation is too high for statistical significance (Figure 3-3E). The difference in cell cycling characteristics is easy to appreciate in the flow cytometry profiles of PKO-1 and PKO-6 MEFs, which resemble rho<sup>0</sup> MEFs, whereas the TM6 MEF flow profile has a distinct shape from the others (Figure 3-3F). Thus, integrated RNA-Seq, QPM, proliferation, and cell cycle analyses clearly show that PKO MEFs resemble rho<sup>0</sup> MEFs that do not respire.

#### PKO in inner ear hair cells causes progressive hearing loss

The PNPase E475G mutation results in hereditary hearing loss (44). We therefore examined PKO for physiological relevance by examining auditory effects in vivo using *Pnpt1*<sup>*fl*/*fl*</sup> *x Atoh1-Cre* expressing mice (Atoh1-Cre PKO mice). The auditory brainstem recordings of Atoh1-Cre PKO mice showed progressive hearing loss especially at higher frequencies. Up until 4 weeks of age both control and Atoh1-Cre PKO mice showed similar hearing capacities between 4 Hz and 16 Hz (Figure 3-4A). However, even at 3 weeks of age, the hearing capacity of Atoh1-Cre PKO mice above 16 Hz was significantly reduced compared to control mice (Figure 3-4A). By week 4, the lowest level of hearing for Atoh1-Cre PKO mice in the high frequency range at 32 kHz was above 78 db in contrast to 39 db for control mice (Figure 3-4A). Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) images of inner ear hair cell stereocilia show loss of cilia (yellow arrow) and stereocilia fusions (red arrow) in the middle turn and base of the cochlea that are responsible for hearing the middle and high frequencies, respectively (Figure 3-4B). Although the loss of PNPase in inner ear hair cells is likely to drive hearing loss, *Atoh1-Cre* 

recombinase expression also causes loss of PNPase expression in spiral ganglion cells, and defects in these neurons may contribute to hearing loss in mice. Overall, hearing impairment observed in Atoh1-Cre PKO mice recapitulates the hearing loss observed in PNPase mutation harboring patients and emphasizes the association of PNPase with sensorineural defects.

#### Discussion

We report that loss of PNPase, an RNA degrading enzyme that localizes in mitochondria, results in unanticipated deletion of the mitochondrial genome. Transcriptome profiling of PKO MEFs correlates significantly with rho0 MEFs and exhibits reduced expression of cholesterol and lipid biosynthesis genes compared to control wild-type TM6 MEFs. Cell growth, proliferation, and cell cycle features are similar between PKO and rho0 MEFs, suggesting a role for PNPase in maintaining mtDNA. PNPase loss-related changes in gene expression programs pertaining to axon function suggest a link with reported mutant PNPase neuronal disease phenotypes in humans, including familial hearing loss. Modeling PNPase loss in mouse inner ear hair cells leads to progressive auditory loss, reinforcing a potential connection uncovered from mining gene expression profiling data presented here.

Since PNPase does not belong to any of the previously identified classes of genes associated with mtDNA maintenance defects, it seems surprising that PKO results in mtDNA loss. Deletions and mutations of genes involved in mtDNA replication and repair (POLG, TWNK, TFAM, RNASEH1, LIG3 and MGME1), cytosolic and mitochondrial nucleotide pool regulating and import genes (TK2, DGUOK, SUCLA2, SUCLG1, ABAT, TYMP, RRM2B, AGK, and MPV17), along with mitochondrial dynamics genes (OPA1 and FBXL4), all result in mtDNA loss (Shokolenko et al., 2013; El-Hattab et al., 2017). Thus, it is intriguing to speculate on how PNPase may regulate the maintenance of mtDNA in a cell.

We hypothesize several potential reasons why lack of PNPase results in loss of mtDNA. Impaired import of small non-coding RNAs from the cytosol may reduce levels of nucleusencoded MRP RNA that is required for mtDNA replication. Since accumulation of mirror mtRNAs occurs in PNPase knockdown cells and in cells expressing dominant negative hSUV3, the binding partner of PNPase, it is also possible that accumulation of mirror mtRNAs may somehow inhibit replication of mtDNA (Szczesny et al., 2010; Borowski et al., 2013). PNPase functions in DNA repair in bacterial systems (Cardenas et al., 2009) and mammalian PNPase may have a similar function in mitochondria. We also cannot exclude that the loss of mtDNA may be a result of long-term dysregulated mtRNA metabolism. Although the mechanism(s) for how PNPase maintains mtDNA warrants further investigation, it nevertheless is interesting that PKO causes cells to functionally assume a rho0 phenotype.

PNPase regulates oxidative phosphorylation during reprogramming of somatic cells to induced pluripotent stem cells and is an essential factor for maintaining mitochondrial homeostasis (Chen et al., 2006; Khaw et al., 2015; Nishimura et al., 2017). Understanding the specific functions of PNPase may reveal how RNA regulation may affect cellular metabolism. Here, we established PKO MEF lines utilizing uridine supplemented media and show that PKO cells lose their mtDNA. This brings a new perspective to PNPase activity and suggests that mtDNA levels are important to consider when dissecting PNPase functionality. Also, PNPase loss impairs neuron-relevant gene expression even in non-neuronal cell types and the Atoh1-Cre PKO mice show reduced hearing through auditory brainstem recording analysis. Altogether, our study describes an additional unsuspected function for PNPase in mtDNA maintenance, which

51

could provide an underlying or unifying connection for its large number of reported activities in multiple biological systems and contexts.

#### **Materials and Methods**

**Cell Culture and Mice.** Pnpt1fl/fl MEFs, named TM6 (Wang et al., 2010), were grown at 37°C and 5% CO2 in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium supplemented with 10% Hyclone Fetal Bovine Serum (Thermo Scientific), 1X penicillin-streptomycin solution (Cellgro, Corning), and 50 µg/mL uridine (Sigma-Aldrich). MEF rho0 cells were established by culturing with 750 ng/mL ditercalinium dichloride dihydrochloride (NCI DCTD Developmental Therapeutics Program, NSC 335153, NIH), for 3 weeks followed by single cell colony isolation. PKO MEF lines were established by transduction of TM6 MEFs with a Cre-recombinase expressing adenovirus (SignaGen Laboratories cat # SL100707) in uridine- supplemented media, followed by isolation of single cell colonies. Atoh1-Cre PKO mice were established by crossing Pnpt1fl/fl C57BL/6J mice with Atoh1-Cre transgenic C57BL/6J mice (Perrin et al., 2010). All mice were housed in a pathogen-free animal facility at UCLA and IUPUI, with approval from the appropriate Institutional Animal Research Committees.

**Characterization of PKO MEFs.** Western blot was performed using standard molecular biology practices. PNPT 3370 antibody (Koehler/Teitell Labs) and β-tubulin MMS-410P (Covance) were used for immunoblotting. Assessments of mtDNA quantity were performed by PCR using primers for the nucleus-encoded control gene Lpl with forward primer: GATGGACGGTAAGAGTGATTC and reverse primer ATCCAAGGGTAGCAGACAGGT,

and mitochondria-encoded gene, Nd1 with forward primer CCCATTCGCGTTATTCTT and reverse primer AAGTTGATCGTAACGGAAGC. Immunofluorescence microscopy images were obtained from cells treated with Mitotracker Red CMXRos (Thermo Scientific) and PicoGreen dye (Thermo Scientific). OCR and ECAR measurements were performed as previously described (Zhang et al., 2012). The following primers were used to check for the presence of Pnpt1 exon 2 in the genome DNA: forward primer:

TATCCTCTGGGAAACTGGCA, reverse primer: ATTCGTACTGCCCCAACAGG. The following primers were used to check for the deletion of exon 2 in Pnpt1 that spans the exon 2 region: forward primer: TCGGGCACTCAGCTATTTGC, reverse primer:

CACCAACGGCATGAATTGGG. The following primers were used to check for the presence of the 3' end of Pnpt1: forward primer: ACCGCGACAATAACTGAAATC, reverse primer: GCAGCACTGCAGTCATGTTT..

**RNA Extraction.** TM6, rho0 MEFs, and PKO clones were grown in biological triplicates to 70-80% confluence and purified using TriZol Reagent (Life Technologies) or RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen). All samples used showed a A260/280 ratio > 2.00 (Nanodrop; Thermo Scientific).

**RNA-Seq Library Preparation**. Strand-specific ribosomal RNA (rRNA) depleted RNA-Seq libraries were prepared from 1 µg of total RNA using the KAPA Stranded RNA-Seq Kit with Ribo-Erase (Kapa Biosystems, Roche). Briefly, rRNA was depleted from total RNA samples, the remaining RNA was heat fragmented, and strand-specific cDNA was synthesized using a first strand random priming and second strand dUTP incorporation approach. Fragments were then A-tailed, adapters were ligated, and libraries were amplified using high-fidelity PCR. All libraries

were prepared in technical duplicates per sample (n = 12 samples, 24 libraries total), and resulting raw sequencing reads merged for downstream alignment and analysis. Libraries were paired-end sequenced at 2x125bp on an Illumina HiSeq.

**RNA-Seq Pre-Processing.** PKO clones 1 and 6, rho0, and TM6 MEFs were each sequenced in biological triplicates (n = 3, 12 total samples). Raw sequencing reads were converted into fastq files and filtered for low quality reads and Illumina sequencing adapter contamination using bcl2fastq (Illumina). Trimmed reads were then aligned to the Mus musculus transcriptome, generated using the NCBI mm10 (NCBI/mm10/GRCm38, December 2011) genome and RefSeq gene annotation, using RSEM 1.2.25 prepare-reference (command parameters --bowtie --bowtie2 --gtf \$(BUILD)/genes.gtf \$(GENOME).fa \$(RSEM)) (Li and Dewey, 2011). Transcript counts were estimated using RSEM 1.2.25 calculate-expression, and collapsed to gene level counts using RSEM 1.2.25 tbam2gbam (Li and Dewey, 2011). Gene-level transcript counts were extracted from the results output using custom R/3.4.1 scripts.

**Differential Gene Expression Analysis.** The resulting sample gene count matrix was size factor normalized and analyzed for pairwise differential gene expression using R/3.4.2 Bioconductor 3.6 package DESeq2 v1.18.1. Expression changes were estimated using an empirical Bayes procedure to generate moderated fold change values (Love et al., 2014; Huber et al., 2015). Significance testing was performed using the Wald test, and resulting P values were adjusted for multiple testing using the Benjamini-Hochberg procedure (Benjamini and Hochberg, 1995). DEGs were filtered using an adjusted false discovery rate (FDR) q value < 0.01 and an absolute log2 transformed fold-change > 0.5. Variance stabilized transform (VST) values in the gene count matrix were calculated and plotted for principal component analysis (PCA) using DESeq2 (Love et al., 2014; Huber et al., 2015). Scatterplots of gene expression fold-changes between TM6, rho0 and PKO MEFs were performed and Pearson/Spearman correlation coefficients calculated using R/3.4.1 package ggpubr v0.1.6 (https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/ggpubr/index.html). Genes of interest were extracted and heat maps were prepared using R Bioconductor packages pheatmap v1.0.8 and gplots v3.0.1 (Kolde, 2015; Gregory Warnes, 2016).

Gene Set Overrepresentation Analysis (ORA). DEGs were extracted and analyzed for pathway/gene ontology (GO) term overrepresentation using the R/3.4.1 Bioconductor 3.6 package clusterProfiler v3.6.0 and ReactomePA v1.22.0, using a background gene set of all genes expressed with at least one read count in the sample gene count matrix (Yu et al., 2012a; Yu and He, 2016). Overrepresented Reactome/KEGG pathways and GO terms were identified using significance testing cutoffs of P < 0.05, and an adjusted FDR < 0.25.

Rank-Rank Hypergeometric Overlap Analysis (RRHO). To determine overlapping significance between PKO and rho0 expression patterns relative to TM6, rank-rank hypergeometric overlap performed the online web was using server (http://systems.crump.ucla.edu/rankrank/rankranksimple.php) (Plaisier et al., 2010). Separate gene ranking lists were constructed according to the signed log10 transformed Wald test q value in fold change comparisons between PKO/TM6 and rho0/TM6. Hypergeometric testing was then performed to determine the significance of overlap between ranks in both datasets. Heat map values were plotted as the signed log10 transformed hypergeometric P value of overlap between ranks at the identified pixel; high values indicate enrichment of overlap, low values indicate reduced enrichment of overlap.

**Live Cell Interferometry (LCI).** Cells were plated into each well of an Ibidi 4 well Ph+ μ-slide (Ibidi, USA) at a density of 6 x103 cells/cm2. 24 hours later, Ibidi anti-evaporation oil (Ibidi, USA) was added to seal the liquid opening of each well and loaded onto the LCI stage. All 4 wells were imaged continuously, every 10 minutes for 24 hours with 15-20 locations per well. The LCI set up consists of a Zeiss Axio Observer Z1 inverted microscope, an on-stage incubation chamber (Zeiss) with temperature, CO2 and humidity modulations. QPM images were captured by a SID4BIO (Phasics) quadriwave lateral shearing interferometry camera. All cells were imaged using a 20x 0.4NA objective and a 660nm collimated LED (Thorlabs) light source.

**Cell Cycle Flow Cytometric Analysis.** Cells (~5 x 105) were collected, washed once with 500 µl FACS buffer and resuspended in 200 µl hypotonic propidium iodide staining solution containing 10 mg/ml RNAse, 10% Triton X-100, 85 mg/ml trisodium citrate and 2 mg/ml PI (Roche). Data was obtained on FACS BD LSRII and FACS BD Fortessa flow cytometers (BD Biosciences). Cell cycle analysis was performed with FlowJo software using the univariate model..

Auditory Brainstem Response (ABR). ABR waveforms were collected for frequencies between 4 kHz and 32 kHz at half-octave intervals, starting at supra-threshold levels and decreasing in 5 dB steps to a sub-threshold level. A Tucker-Davis Technologies System 3 was

used to generate symmetrically shaped tone bursts 1 ms in duration with 300 µs raised cosine ramps that were delivered to a calibrated magnetic speaker. Mice were anesthetized with Avertin and scalp potentials were recorded with subdermal electrodes, with signals amplified 20,000 times, bandpass filtered between 0.03 and 10 kHz, digitized using a 20,000 kHz sampling rate and subjected to artifact rejection. Stacked waveforms were compared and the lowest level of stimulation that evoked an unambiguous ABR waveform was designated as the threshold.

**Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM).** Mouse cochlea were dissected and fixed in 2.5% glutaraldehyde in 0.1 M sodium cacodylate buffer with 1 mM CaCl2¬ by perfusing dissected cochlea through the round and oval windows followed by incubation in the same solution at RT for 4 h. Following decalcification in 170 mM EDTA at 4°C for 16 h, the organ of Corti was dissected and processed for SEM as described (Belyantseva et al., 2009). Briefly, tissues were successively incubated in 2% each arginine, glycine, glutamic acid and sucrose in water, 2% each tannic acid and guanidine-HCl in water and then 1% osmium tetroxide. Samples were critical point dried from CO¬2 and sputter coated with platinum before viewing on a cold field emission SEM (Hitachi S4700).

Accession Numbers. All raw RNA-Seq reads and processed gene count matrices are in submission to the NCBI Short Read Archive (SRA) and Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO), respectively. GEO accession numbers for these data will be provided upon completion.

Acknowledgments. We thank members of the Teitell and Koehler Laboratories (UCLA) for assistance in mouse colony management, technical guidance, and helpful manuscript revisions.

We thank Stephen Benz and Justin Golovato (NantOmics, LLC) for technical and computational expertise in generating and pre-processing the RNA-Seq data in this study. We thank Jonathan Wanagat (UCLA) for reagents and advice related to mtDNA copy number characterization. Flow cytometry was performed at the Broad Stem Cell Research Center Flow Cytometry Core (UCLA). Supported by National Institutes of Health awards CA90571 (MAT), CA156674 (MAT), GM073981 (MAT and CMK), GM114188 (MAT), CA18589 (MAT), and GM61721 (CMK); California Institute of Regenerative Medicine RT307678 (CMK and MAT); National Institutes of Health Ruth L. Kirschstein National Research Service Award NS076228 (ES); Whitcome Pre-doctoral Training Program (UCLA) (ES); and an MBI-IDP Special Award (UCLA) (ES). We also acknowledge the Library of Science and Medical Illustrations (http://www.somersault1824.com).
# **Figures**



**Figure 3-1**. **PKO results in loss of mtDNA.** (A) PCR to evaluate Pnpt1 (encoding PNPase) exon 2 deletion in the parental MEF line, TM6, and 5 independent PKO lines (n = 5). Three primer sets include one to examine Pnpt1 exon 2 (in exon 2), a flanking set to capture deletion of

exon 2 (span exon 2), and a control set that amplified the 3' end of Pnpt1 (PNPase 3' end). (B) Representative immunoblot for PNPase protein in TM6 and 3 PKO clones. Total protein lysates were separated by SDS-PAGE and analyzed using polyclonal antibodies that target PNPase and  $\beta$ -tubulin. (C) PCR analysis of a control nucleus encoded Lpl gene and the mtDNA encoded Nd1 gene in TM6 and 3 PKO cell lines. (D) Fluorescence microscopy of TM6, rho0, and representative PKO (PKO-4) MEF cell lines with PicoGreen staining for double-stranded DNA (left), MitoTracker Red (center), and an overlay (right). (E-G) Respiration analysis using a Seahorse XF24 Extracellular Flux Analyzer on the cell lines in (B). Experiments were performed in biological triplicates (n = 3, ± SD) and normalized to protein content. (E) Oxygen consumption rate (OCR), (F) extracellular acidification rate (ECAR), and (G) OCR/ECAR ratios are shown (n = 3, ± SD).



**Figure 3-2**. **PKO cell gene expression patterns converge and diverge with rho0 MEFs.** (A) Principal Component Analysis (PCA) of TM6, rho0, PKO-1, and PKO-6 MEFs (n = 3 biological replicates per line; 12 replicates total). Expression profiles for each sample were plotted for their PC1 and PC2 scores, providing primary and secondary sources of variance, respectively. Samples were color coded based on cell type. (B) Rank-rank hypergeometric overlap (RRHO) maps of the log2 fold-change expression profiles between PKO and rho0 MEFs with respect to

TM6 MEFs. Color coding represents –log10 transformed hypergeometric P values, with higher values indicating strength of overlapping enrichment between PKO and rho0 gene lists. (C) Venn diagram of differentially expressed genes (DEGs) between rho0 MEFs (left) and PKO clones (right) with respect to TM6 MEFs. DEGs were identified in each comparison using an absolute log2 fold-change threshold above 0.5 and a false discovery rate (FDR) adjusted Wald q value below 0.01. Clusters indicate rho0 specific (cluster 1), PKO specific (cluster 3), and shared DEGs (cluster 2). (D) Dotplot of Gene Ontology (GO) overrepresentation analysis (ORA) of the rho0 specific, shared, and PKO specific DEG clusters. Dot size indicates the ratio of genes from the selected ontology set in the DEG cluster, color indicates significance of gene set overrepresentation in the cluster (FDR adjusted P value) following hypergeometric significance testing.



Figure 3-3. PKO and rho0 MEFs have similar cell growth, cell cycle and metabolic gene expression profiles. (A-B) Scatterplot of (A) mitotic progression and (B) metabolic gene expression changes between PKO (y-axis) and rho0 (x-axis) MEFs with respect to TM6 MEFs (calculated as log2 fold-change) (n = 3 biological replicates per line, 12 total). Linear regression lines were fit and Pearson (top value) and Spearman (bottom value) correlation coefficients were

calculated with accompanying P values calculated using two-tailed t significance tests. Gene sets were derived from KEGG database cell cycle ID MMU04110 (a) and metabolic ID MMU00100 (B). (C) Growth (biomass accumulation) rates for TM6, rho0, PKO-1, and PKO-6 cells were quantified by live cell interferometry (TM6 n=308, rho0: n=233, PKO-1: n=303 PKO-6: n =364). (Median=red stripe, 95% confidence interval=pink region  $\pm$  SD = purple region. (D) Proliferation of TM6, rho0, PKO-1 and PKO-6 MEFs by manual cell counting (n = 3,  $\pm$  SD). (E) Stacked barplots of phases of the cell cycle in percentage distributions for TM6, rho0, PKO-1, and PKO-6 MEFs (n = 3,  $\pm$  SD). (F) Representative cell cycle analysis profiles for TM6, rho0, PKO-1, and PKO-6 MEFs. DNA was stained with propidium iodide and profiles assembled by f flow cytometry.



Figure 3-4. Loss of PNPase results in hearing loss. (A) Auditory brainstem response test for WT (black) and Atoh1-Cre PKO mice (red) at 3 weeks and 4 weeks (n = 2). (B) SEM analysis of hair cell stereocilia. Yellow arrows indicate regions that lack cilia, and red arrows indicate regions of stereocilia fusion.

# **Supplementary Figures**





Figure S3-1. Heatmaps of selected overrepresented pathways in DEG clusters (related to Figure 3-2D). (A) Heat map of mtDNA replication genes (GO:0006264) overrepresented in cluster 1. (B) Cholesterol metabolic (GO:0008203), sterol metabolic (GO:0016125), lipid biosynthetic (GO:0008610), and secondary alcohol synthetic (GO:1902652) processes overrepresented in cluster 2. (C) Axonogenesis (GO:0007409), axon guidance (GO:0007411), and axon development (GO:0061564) genes overrepresented in cluster 3. Heat maps are hierarchically clustered based on Euclidean distance and Ward linkage. Heat map values are plotted as the variance stabilized transform (VST) subtracted by the gene row average mean of samples. (n = 3 biological replicates, 12 total).



**Figure S3-2. PKO and rho0 MEFs show highly correlated metabolic gene expression profiles (related to Figure 3-3B).** Scatterplot of metabolic gene expression values between PKO (y-axis) and rho0 (x-axis) MEFs with respect to WT TM6 MEFs (calculated as log2 fold-

change). Linear regression lines were fit and Pearson (top value) and Spearman (bottom value) correlation coefficients were calculated with accompanying significance P values calculated using two-tailed t significance tests. Gene sets were derived from the KEGG database under the identification numbers indicated above each plot.

# References

- 1. Leszczyniecka, M., DeSalle, R., Kang, D. C., and Fisher, P. B. (2004) The origin of polynucleotide phosphorylase domains. *Mol Phylogenet Evol* **31**, 123-130
- 2. Lin-Chao, S., Chiou, N. T., and Schuster, G. (2007) The PNPase, exosome and RNA helicases as the building components of evolutionarily-conserved RNA degradation machines. *J Biomed Sci* 14, 523-532
- 3. Grunberg-Manago, M., Oritz, P. J., and Ochoa, S. (1955) Enzymatic synthesis of nucleic acidlike polynucleotides. *Science* **122**, 907-910
- 4. Mohanty, B. K., and Kushner, S. R. (2011) Bacterial/archaeal/organellar polyadenylation. *Wiley Interdiscip Rev RNA* **2**, 256-276
- 5. Reiner, A. M. (1969) Characterization of polynucleotide phosphorylase mutants of Escherichia coli. *J Bacteriol* **97**, 1437-1443
- 6. Mohanty, B. K., and Kushner, S. R. (2000) Polynucleotide phosphorylase functions both as a 3' right-arrow 5' exonuclease and a poly(A) polymerase in Escherichia coli. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **97**, 11966-11971
- 7. Symmons, M. F., Jones, G. H., and Luisi, B. F. (2000) A duplicated fold is the structural basis for polynucleotide phosphorylase catalytic activity, processivity, and regulation. in *Structure*, England. pp 1215-1226
- 8. Briani, F., Del Favero, M., Capizzuto, R., Consonni, C., Zangrossi, S., Greco, C., De Gioia, L., Tortora, P., and Deho, G. (2007) Genetic analysis of polynucleotide phosphorylase structure and functions. *Biochimie* **89**, 145-157
- 9. Carzaniga, T., Mazzantini, E., Nardini, M., Regonesi, M. E., Greco, C., Briani, F., De Gioia, L., Deho, G., and Tortora, P. (2014) A conserved loop in polynucleotide phosphorylase (PNPase) essential for both RNA and ADP/phosphate binding. *Biochimie* **97**, 49-59
- Jarrige, A., Brechemier-Baey, D., Mathy, N., Duche, O., and Portier, C. (2002) Mutational analysis of polynucleotide phosphorylase from Escherichia coli. in *J Mol Biol*, England. pp 397-409
- 11. Bandyra, K. J., Sinha, D., Syrjanen, J., Luisi, B. F., and De Lay, N. R. (2016) The ribonuclease polynucleotide phosphorylase can interact with small regulatory RNAs in both protective and degradative modes. *RNA* **22**, 360-372
- 12. Cameron, T. A., and De Lay, N. R. (2016) The Phosphorolytic Exoribonucleases Polynucleotide Phosphorylase and RNase PH Stabilize sRNAs and Facilitate Regulation of Their mRNA Targets. *J Bacteriol* **198**, 3309-3317
- Silva, I. J., Saramago, M., Dressaire, C., Domingues, S., Viegas, S. C., and Arraiano, C. M. (2011) Importance and key events of prokaryotic RNA decay: the ultimate fate of an RNA molecule. *Wiley Interdiscip Rev RNA* 2, 818-836
- 14. Yamanaka, K., and Inouye, M. (2001) Selective mRNA degradation by polynucleotide phosphorylase in cold shock adaptation in Escherichia coli. *J Bacteriol* **183**, 2808-2816
- Goverde, R. L., Huis in't Veld, J. H., Kusters, J. G., and Mooi, F. R. (1998) The psychrotrophic bacterium Yersinia enterocolitica requires expression of pnp, the gene for polynucleotide phosphorylase, for growth at low temperature (5 degrees C). *Mol Microbiol* 28, 555-569

- 16. Bralley, P., Gatewood, M. L., and Jones, G. H. (2014) Transcription of the rpsO-pnp operon of Streptomyces coelicolor involves four temporally regulated, stress responsive promoters. *Gene* **536**, 177-185
- Wu, J., Jiang, Z., Liu, M., Gong, X., Wu, S., Burns, C. M., and Li, Z. (2009) Polynucleotide phosphorylase protects Escherichia coli against oxidative stress. *Biochemistry* 48, 2012-2020
- 18. Pobre, V., and Arraiano, C. M. (2015) Next generation sequencing analysis reveals that the ribonucleases RNase II, RNase R and PNPase affect bacterial motility and biofilm formation in E. coli. *BMC Genomics* **16**, 72
- Carzaniga, T., Antoniani, D., Deho, G., Briani, F., and Landini, P. (2012) The RNA processing enzyme polynucleotide phosphorylase negatively controls biofilm formation by repressing poly-N-acetylglucosamine (PNAG) production in Escherichia coli C. *BMC Microbiol* 12, 270
- 20. Kim, S. H., and Wei, C. I. (2009) Molecular characterization of biofilm formation and attachment of Salmonella enterica serovar typhimurium DT104 on food contact surfaces. *J Food Prot* **72**, 1841-1847
- 21. Rosenzweig, J. A., and Chopra, A. K. (2013) The exoribonuclease Polynucleotide Phosphorylase influences the virulence and stress responses of yersiniae and many other pathogens. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol* **3**, 81
- 22. Rath, D., Mangoli, S. H., Pagedar, A. R., and Jawali, N. (2012) Involvement of pnp in survival of UV radiation in Escherichia coli K-12. *Microbiology* **158**, 1196-1205
- 23. Becket, E., Tse, L., Yung, M., Cosico, A., and Miller, J. H. (2012) Polynucleotide phosphorylase plays an important role in the generation of spontaneous mutations in Escherichia coli. *J Bacteriol* **194**, 5613-5620
- 24. Cardenas, P. P., Carrasco, B., Sanchez, H., Deikus, G., Bechhofer, D. H., and Alonso, J. C. (2009) Bacillus subtilis polynucleotide phosphorylase 3'-to-5' DNase activity is involved in DNA repair. *Nucleic Acids Res* **37**, 4157-4169
- 25. Cardenas, P. P., Carzaniga, T., Zangrossi, S., Briani, F., Garcia-Tirado, E., Deho, G., and Alonso, J. C. (2011) Polynucleotide phosphorylase exonuclease and polymerase activities on single-stranded DNA ends are modulated by RecN, SsbA and RecA proteins. *Nucleic Acids Res* **39**, 9250-9261
- 26. Chen, H. W., Rainey, R. N., Balatoni, C. E., Dawson, D. W., Troke, J. J., Wasiak, S., Hong, J. S., McBride, H. M., Koehler, C. M., Teitell, M. A., and French, S. W. (2006) Mammalian polynucleotide phosphorylase is an intermembrane space RNase that maintains mitochondrial homeostasis. *Mol Cell Biol* 26, 8475-8487
- Wang, G., Chen, H. W., Oktay, Y., Zhang, J., Allen, E. L., Smith, G. M., Fan, K. C., Hong, J. S., French, S. W., McCaffery, J. M., Lightowlers, R. N., Morse, H. C., 3rd, Koehler, C. M., and Teitell, M. A. (2010) PNPASE regulates RNA import into mitochondria. *Cell* 142, 456-467
- 28. Portnoy, V., Palnizky, G., Yehudai-Resheff, S., Glaser, F., and Schuster, G. (2008) Analysis of the human polynucleotide phosphorylase (PNPase) reveals differences in RNA binding and response to phosphate compared to its bacterial and chloroplast counterparts. *RNA* 14, 297-309
- 29. French, S. W., Dawson, D. W., Chen, H. W., Rainey, R. N., Sievers, S. A., Balatoni, C. E., Wong, L., Troke, J. J., Nguyen, M. T., Koehler, C. M., and Teitell, M. A. (2007) The

TCL1 oncoprotein binds the RNase PH domains of the PNPase exoribonuclease without affecting its RNA degrading activity. *Cancer Lett* **248**, 198-210

- Rhee, H. W., Zou, P., Udeshi, N. D., Martell, J. D., Mootha, V. K., Carr, S. A., and Ting, A. Y. (2013) Proteomic mapping of mitochondria in living cells via spatially restricted enzymatic tagging. *Science* 339, 1328-1331
- 31. Borowski, L. S., Dziembowski, A., Hejnowicz, M. S., Stepien, P. P., and Szczesny, R. J. (2013) Human mitochondrial RNA decay mediated by PNPase-hSuv3 complex takes place in distinct foci. *Nucleic Acids Res* **41**, 1223-1240
- 32. Nagaike, T., Suzuki, T., Katoh, T., and Ueda, T. (2005) Human mitochondrial mRNAs are stabilized with polyadenylation regulated by mitochondria-specific poly(A) polymerase and polynucleotide phosphorylase. in *J Biol Chem*, United States. pp 19721-19727
- Slomovic, S., Portnoy, V., Yehudai-Resheff, S., Bronshtein, E., and Schuster, G. (2008) Polynucleotide phosphorylase and the archaeal exosome as poly(A)-polymerases. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1779, 247-255
- Chujo, T., Ohira, T., Sakaguchi, Y., Goshima, N., Nomura, N., Nagao, A., and Suzuki, T. (2012) LRPPRC/SLIRP suppresses PNPase-mediated mRNA decay and promotes polyadenylation in human mitochondria. *Nucleic Acids Res* 40, 8033-8047
- Szczesny, R. J., Borowski, L. S., Brzezniak, L. K., Dmochowska, A., Gewartowski, K., Bartnik, E., and Stepien, P. P. (2010) Human mitochondrial RNA turnover caught in flagranti: involvement of hSuv3p helicase in RNA surveillance. *Nucleic Acids Res* 38, 279-298
- 36. Yu, Y. L., Chou, R. H., Wu, C. H., Wang, Y. N., Chang, W. J., Tseng, Y. J., Chang, W. C., Lai, C. C., Lee, H. J., Huo, L., Chen, C. H., and Hung, M. C. (2012) Nuclear EGFR suppresses ribonuclease activity of polynucleotide phosphorylase through DNAPK-mediated phosphorylation at serine 776. *J Biol Chem* 287, 31015-31026
- 37. Sarkar, D., and Fisher, P. B. (2006) Polynucleotide phosphorylase: an evolutionary conserved gene with an expanding repertoire of functions. *Pharmacol Ther* **112**, 243-263
- 38. Das, S. K., Sokhi, U. K., Bhutia, S. K., Azab, B., Su, Z. Z., Sarkar, D., and Fisher, P. B. (2010) Human polynucleotide phosphorylase selectively and preferentially degrades microRNA-221 in human melanoma cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **107**, 11948-11953
- Wang, G., Shimada, E., Zhang, J., Hong, J. S., Smith, G. M., Teitell, M. A., and Koehler, C. M. (2012) Correcting human mitochondrial mutations with targeted RNA import. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 109, 4840-4845
- 40. Leszczyniecka, M., Su, Z. Z., Kang, D. C., Sarkar, D., and Fisher, P. B. (2003) Expression regulation and genomic organization of human polynucleotide phosphorylase, hPNPase(old-35), a Type I interferon inducible early response gene. *Gene* **316**, 143-156
- 41. Sarkar, D., Lebedeva, I. V., Emdad, L., Kang, D. C., Baldwin, A. S., Jr., and Fisher, P. B. (2004) Human polynucleotide phosphorylase (hPNPaseold-35): a potential link between aging and inflammation. *Cancer Res* 64, 7473-7478
- 42. Khaw, S. L., Min-Wen, C., Koh, C. G., Lim, B., and Shyh-Chang, N. (2015) Oocyte Factors Suppress Mitochondrial Polynucleotide Phosphorylase to Remodel the Metabolome and Enhance Reprogramming. *Cell Rep* **12**, 1080-1088
- 43. Nishimura, K., Aizawa, S., Nugroho, F. L., Shiomitsu, E., Tran, Y. T., Bui, P. L., Borisova, E., Sakuragi, Y., Takada, H., Kurisaki, A., Hayashi, Y., Fukuda, A., Nakanishi,

M., and Hisatake, K. (2017) A Role for KLF4 in Promoting the Metabolic Shift via TCL1 during Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell Generation. *Stem Cell Reports* **8**, 787-801

- 44. von Ameln, S., Wang, G., Boulouiz, R., Rutherford, M. A., Smith, G. M., Li, Y., Pogoda, H. M., Nurnberg, G., Stiller, B., Volk, A. E., Borck, G., Hong, J. S., Goodyear, R. J., Abidi, O., Nurnberg, P., Hofmann, K., Richardson, G. P., Hammerschmidt, M., Moser, T., Wollnik, B., Koehler, C. M., Teitell, M. A., Barakat, A., and Kubisch, C. (2012) A mutation in PNPT1, encoding mitochondrial-RNA-import protein PNPase, causes hereditary hearing loss. *Am J Hum Genet* **91**, 919-927
- 45. Alodaib, A., Sobreira, N., Gold, W. A., Riley, L. G., Van Bergen, N. J., Wilson, M. J., Bennetts, B., Thorburn, D. R., Boehm, C., and Christodoulou, J. (2016) Whole-exome sequencing identifies novel variants in PNPT1 causing oxidative phosphorylation defects and severe multisystem disease. *Eur J Hum Genet* **25**, 79-84
- Vedrenne, V., Gowher, A., De Lonlay, P., Nitschke, P., Serre, V., Boddaert, N., Altuzarra, C., Mager-Heckel, A. M., Chretien, F., Entelis, N., Munnich, A., Tarassov, I., and Rotig, A. (2012) Mutation in PNPT1, which encodes a polyribonucleotide nucleotidyltransferase, impairs RNA import into mitochondria and causes respiratory-chain deficiency. *Am J Hum Genet* **91**, 912-918
- 47. Slavotinek, A. M., Garcia, S. T., Chandratillake, G., Bardakjian, T., Ullah, E., Wu, D., Umeda, K., Lao, R., Tang, P. L., Wan, E., Madireddy, L., Lyalina, S., Mendelsohn, B. A., Dugan, S., Tirch, J., Tischler, R., Harris, J., Clark, M. J., Chervitz, S., Patwardhan, A., West, J. M., Ursell, P., de Alba Campomanes, A., Schneider, A., Kwok, P. Y., Baranzini, S., and Chen, R. O. (2015) Exome sequencing in 32 patients with anophthalmia/microphthalmia and developmental eye defects. *Clin Genet* 88, 468-473
- 48. Sato, R., Arai-Ichinoi, N., Kikuchi, A., Matsuhashi, T., Numata-Uematsu, Y., Uematsu, M., Fujii, Y., Murayama, K., Ohtake, A., Abe, T., and Kure, S. (2017) Novel biallelic mutations in the PNPT1 gene encoding a mitochondrial-RNA-import protein PNPase cause delayed myelination. *Clin Genet*
- 49. Matilainen, S., Carroll, C. J., Richter, U., Euro, L., Pohjanpelto, M., Paetau, A., Isohanni, P., and Suomalainen, A. (2017) Defective mitochondrial RNA processing due to PNPT1 variants causes Leigh syndrome. *Hum Mol Genet*
- 50. Sokhi, U. K., Bacolod, M. D., Emdad, L., Das, S. K., Dumur, C. I., Miles, M. F., Sarkar, D., and Fisher, P. B. (2014) Analysis of global changes in gene expression induced by human polynucleotide phosphorylase (hPNPase(old-35)). *J Cell Physiol* **229**, 1952-1962
- Sokhi, U. K., Bacolod, M. D., Dasgupta, S., Emdad, L., Das, S. K., Dumur, C. I., Miles, M. F., Sarkar, D., and Fisher, P. B. (2013) Identification of genes potentially regulated by human polynucleotide phosphorylase (hPNPase old-35) using melanoma as a model. *PLoS One* 8, e76284
- 52. Inoue, K., Takai, D., Hosaka, H., Ito, S., Shitara, H., Isobe, K., LePecq, J. B., Segal-Bendirdjian, E., and Hayashi, J. (1997) Isolation and characterization of mitochondrial DNA-less lines from various mammalian cell lines by application of an anticancer drug, ditercalinium. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **239**, 257-260
- 53. Gregoire, M., Morais, R., Quilliam, M. A., and Gravel, D. (1984) On auxotrophy for pyrimidines of respiration-deficient chick embryo cells. *Eur J Biochem* **142**, 49-55
- 54. Singh, P., Saxena, R., Srinivas, G., Pande, G., and Chattopadhyay, A. (2013) Cholesterol biosynthesis and homeostasis in regulation of the cell cycle. *PLoS One* **8**, e58833

- 55. Salazar-Roa, M., and Malumbres, M. (2017) Fueling the Cell Division Cycle. *Trends Cell Biol* 27, 69-81
- 56. Zangle, T. A., and Teitell, M. A. (2014) Live-cell mass profiling: an emerging approach in quantitative biophysics. *Nat Methods* **11**, 1221-1228

# **Chapter 4:** PNPase binds mitochondrial tRNAs, affects accumulation of antisense RNAs and binds mitochondrial ribosome assembly and RNA processing factors

## Introduction

The mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) carries genetic materials necessary for mitochondrial function and is uniquely organized with a compact design. The human mitochondrial DNA is a double stranded, circular molecule that is 16.5kb in length and encodes 22 tRNAs, 13 proteins and 2 rRNAs (1). Genes are encoded on both strands of the DNA, which is referred to as the heavy and light strand according to its buoyancy observed in denaturing cesium chloride gradients (2). The mammalian mitochondria DNA is very compact; some termination codons and 3' ends of tRNAs are not encoded in the DNA, it contains no intronic sequences and very few non-coding nucleotides between genes (1). The noncoding region called the control region located between tRNA phenylalanine and tRNA threonine encodes the origin of replication for the heavy strand and the promoter regions for both the heavy and light strand transcription (3). This noncoding region also contains the binding sites for transcription regulating factors (3). Knowing that the mtDNA is much smaller and structured differently than the nuclear DNA, it is understandable that it has an RNA transcription system that is vastly distinct from its nuclear counterpart.

The mitochondria produce polycistronic transcripts and process the individual RNAs from the precursor transcripts. The 3 polycistronic transcripts observed in the mitochondrial are:

H1 transcript (tRNA Phe to end of 16s rRNA), H2 transcript, which includes most of the heavy strand starting at 2 nt upstream of 12 srRNA and L strand transcript, which is transcribed from the opposite strand that encodes 8 tRNAs and ND6 (4,5). These polycistronic transcripts are mostly processed by the excision of tRNAs that flank coding or ribosomal genes, which is commonly referred to as the "tRNA punctuation" model (4,6). Many of the details in RNA processing and degradation for mitochondrial transcripts have not been heavily studied and have only recently become an active area of interest.

Despite efforts in studying nucleases and RNA degradation pathways in the mitochondria, currently there is no clear understanding of the RNA degradation mechanism in mammalian mitochondria. Mammalian mitochondrial RNA is believed to be stabilized by poly-A tails (7,8). However, unstable polyadenylation at 3' ends of truncated transcripts have also been reported and suggests a possible parallel to the polyadenylation assisted RNA decay pathway in the mitochondria (9). Thus the mammalian mitochondrial is thought to contain degradation pathways that are regulated by differential roles of polyadenylation, which can stabilize and trigger degradation through polyadenylation assisted RNA degradation as seen in the nuclear and cytosolic systems (10-12). In addition to endonucleases such as the RNase P complex and RNase Z, which are primarily involved in tRNA processing at 5' and 3' end respectively, there are several nucleases that have been identified in the mitochondria (13). Endonuclease G is a nonspecific DNA/RNA nuclease that is localized in the IMS and has a role during apoptosis (14,15). Rexo2 is in the IMS and matrix and is implicated in degrading oligoribonucleotides (16). The stable poly-A tails of mitochondrial RNAs have been shown to be degraded by PDE12, which is a 2' and 3' phosphodiesterase (17,18). In addition, the knockdown of LACTB2, which cleaves single stranded RNA in vitro, was shown to have a modest effect in

mitochondrial mRNA levels, but nevertheless induced mitochondrial dysfunction and apoptosis (19). The aforementioned nucleases have minor modifying roles for RNA degradation and the field has been interested in identifying the ultimate RNA degradation machinery that is responsible for bulk mitochondrial RNA degradation. Drawing from the DSS1 exoribonuclease/SUV3 RNA helicase RNA degradation complex identified in yeast mitochondria, the human homolog, PNPase exoribonuclease/SUV3 RNA helicase has been studied for its potential role as a RNA degradation machinery in the metazoan mitochondria.

Contrary to expectations, demonstrating PNPase/hSUV3 as the primary RNA degradation machinery has not been a straightforward story. Stable knockdown of PNPase has shown variable effects on the nature of poly-A tail and steady state levels of mitochondrial coding RNAs(20,21). Specifically, the poly-A tail of COX1 was abolished, COX3 poly adenylation did not seem to be affected, and ND3 and ND5 poly-A tails extended upon knockdown of PNPase (20). Steady state levels of ND2 levels were mildly increased upon PNPase knockdown, COX2, and CytB levels did not seem to change, and COX1 and 12S rRNA levels decreased slightly (21). Because mitochondria polycistronicaly transcribes its RNA through both strands of its DNA including regions that do not contain annotated genes, the mitochondrial matrix also contain many antisense RNAs that do not code for tRNA, rRNA or structural genes. Interestingly, PNPase and hSUV3 have been shown to participate in degrading these RNAs that are located on the antisense strand with respect to the annotated mitochondrial gene, which from here on will be referred to as mitochondrial antisense RNA (AS RNA) (21) (22). Thus, in contrast to coding RNAs, the AS RNAs of ND2, COX1, COX2, CYTB showed a stark increase upon PNPase knockdown while mitochondrial tRNA levels were shown to be mildly decreased (21).Similar increases of select mitochondrial AS RNA have been shown when hSUV3 function

has been suppressed (22).

Since the effect of PNPase on mitochondrial RNA levels was assayed on select mitochondrial transcripts, we sought to characterize the role of PNPase in the mitochondria with a multi-faceted approach. This study aims to further characterize the endogenous RNA targets of PNPase, characterize whether PNPase is responsible for degradation of other AS RNA species in the mitochondria, and identify its interaction partners.

#### PNPase binds to regions of mtRNA that contain tRNAs

Since PNPase is an RNA degrading and polymerizing enzyme in vitro, we performed UV crosslinking and analysis of cDNA (CRAC) to identify binding targets of PNPase using the WT PNPase and S484A PNPase, which is a catalytically inactive mutant that cannot degrade RNAs in vitro. At the time of this experiment, we strongly believed that PNPase was localized to the IMS of mitochondria based on previous studies (23,24). Therefore, we were surprised to find that all mitochondrial mRNAs and tRNAs were identified to bind PNPase (Figure 4-1A-B and data not shown). The target binding patterns for both the WT and S484A mutant PNPase were similar and there were minor difference between the peaks identified for WT and S484A PNPase samples. Though PNPase bound to all annotated mitochondrial transcripts on the sense strand, we observed that PNPase bound regions that include tRNAs at a high level. Specifically, PNPase bound regions include MT-TV, MT-TI, MT-TG, MT-TH, MT-TY and MT-TE. Both mitochondrial ribosomal RNAs were also seen to bind PNPase. In addition, 7S RNA transcribed from the noncoding region of the mitochondrial genome was also highly enriched in both of the PNPase CRAC samples (Figure 4-1A-B).

# Knockdown of PNPase results in mild changes in mitochondrial RNA of coding genes, but specific antisense RNAs accumulate in the mitochondria

Because PNPase seemed to interact with mitochondrial matrix localized RNAs, we next wondered whether knockdown of PNPase affects mitochondrial RNA levels significantly. It has already been shown by Borowski et al that mitochondrial antisense RNAs are degraded by PNPase, and mitochondrial mRNA levels are not affected drastically upon knockdown of PNPase (21). However, we wanted to verify the effect of PNPase in all other transcripts that were not detailed in this previous study. We first started with checking the sense strand transcripts of ND1, ND2, ND3, ND4, and ND6. As shown in (Figure 4-2A), ND1 and ND2 levels seemed to increase slightly upon knockdown of PNPase (si58 and si59) compared to the negative control sample that was transfected with non-specific siRNA (si+). For ND3, the transcript level did not change significantly but the size of the transcript shifted slightly. For ND4, knockdown of PNPase did not affect the transcript levels, and for ND6, the level seemed to decrease slightly. When we looked at non-ND transcripts, we observed decreases in the mRNA levels of COX1, COX2, COX3, CYTB, and ATP6 levels compared to the control siRNA (si+) transfected samples (Figure 4-3A). These results were consistent with Borowski et al, where they showed that knockdown of PNPase resulted in mild changes for sense strand of mRNAs and increase in mRNA levels for selected mitochondrial transcripts. In addition, 12S rRNA and 16 S rRNA levels also decreased upon PNPase knockdown (Figure 4-4A).

In contrast, the accumulation of AS RNA complementary to the coding mRNAs showed drastic changes for select transcripts. AS ND1 and ND2 RNA levels were higher when PNPase was knocked down (Figure 4-5A). The band size for the ND1 AS transcript was slightly larger than sense ND1 RNA, but the AS ND2 is comparable in size to the sense ND2 mRNA. In addition, knockdown of PNPase also resulted in accumulation of AS RNA for ND5 and ND6 transcripts, however, there was also a drastic change in band pattern of AS RNA, suggesting that PNPase knockdown may perturb various processing steps of AS RNA degradation. In contrast to these observations, AS ND4 transcript levels were not affected by knockdown of PNPase, which is very interesting because the sense RNA levels were also not affected by PNPase knockdown (Figure 4-5A). For non-ND transcripts, AS COX1 transcripts accumulated upon PNPase knockdown the molecular weight of this transcript was similar in size to the sense COX1 RNA. AS ATP6 and CYTB also accumulated where there seemed to be an accumulation of large molecular weight transcripts (Figure 4-6A). Also, the AS RNAs for 12S and 16S ribosomal RNAs seemed to be decreased when PNPase was knocked down, similar to what we observed for the sense strand of 12S rRNA and 16S rRNAs (Figure 4-6A).

# PNPase binds to ribosome assembly and RNA processing factors in the mitochondria

In order to better understand the function of PNPase in the mitochondria, we sought to understand the specific protein factors that interact with PNPase. Previous attempts to identify PNPase interaction partners by immunoprecipitation in native conditions did not reveal any reasonable candidates to study further (data not shown) and we reasoned that PNPase interaction partners may interact weakly or transiently. Thus, we used the approach to label proteins in the proximity of the protein of our interest by expressing a fusion protein consisting of PNPase fused to a biotin ligase called BIOID2 (25)25). These constructs were expressed in HEK-293T FlpIn cell lines. We verified the expression of this fusion protein and checked that the BioID2 fusion to the PNPase still permits biotinylation by the fused BIOID2 protein (Figure 4-7A-B). As a control cell line, we expressed eGFP fused to BIOID2 with a PNPase mitochondrial targeting sequence (amino acid 1-82) at its N-terminus (PNP-GFP-B2) in the same HEK-293T FlpIn cell line. We further performed a sub-mitochondrial fractionation experiment and showed that the full length (FL) PNPase-BIOID2 (FL PNP-B2) were present mostly in the mitochondrial matrix (Figure 4-7C).

We then cultured the cell lines expressing the fusion protein of our interest in the presence of biotin and performed the pull down experiments to identify all proteins that are biotinylated in each cell line. When we subtracted the proteins identified in the FL PNP-B2 pull down assay from those identified in the PNP-GFP-B2 pull down assay, we identified that PNPase most strongly interacted with hSUV3 (Table 4-1), agreeing with published studies (22,26,27). We also identified, LRPPRC, which has a role in maintaining the stability of mitochondrial RNAs (28), GRSF1, which is required for mitochondrial ribosome assembly and RNA recruitment (29,30), and MRPP1, which catalyze the 5' processing of mitochondrial tRNAs (Table 4-1). Interestingly, we also identified DHX30, DDX28, FASTKD2, FASTKD5, and possibly FASTKD3 as potential interaction partners for PNPase (Table 4-1). DHX30, DDX28, FASTKD2, FASTKD3, and FASTKD5 have all been reported to interact with PNPase (31,32). In addition, hSUV3 has also been reported to interact with DHX30, DDX28, FASTKD2, and FASTKD5 (31). DHX30 and DDX 28 are mitochondria localized putative RNA helicases

implicated in mitochondrial ribosome assembly (31). FASTKD2, FASTKD3, and FASTKD5 are members of the Fas-activated serine/threonine (FAST) kinase domain containing protein family. FASTKD2 and FASTKD5 have been shown to be important for mitochondrial RNA processing, and FASTKD2 is also implicated in mitochondrial ribosome assembly (31,33). In contrast, the specific function of FASTKD3 in the mitochondria has not been studied thoroughly (32). While most of PNPase function has been studied with regards to RNA processing and degradation functions in the mitochondria, its interactions with other RNA processing factors and mitochondrial ribosome assembly factors suggests a possible intersection of these processes in the mitochondria.

# Discussion

PNPase seems to bind all mitochondrial mRNAs, tRNAs, rRNAs, and even the 7S RNA. However, specific tRNA segments bound PNPase at high levels. When steady state levels of mitochondrial RNAs upon PNPase knockdown were assess, mitochondrial coding RNAs showed marginal changes in steady state levels. In contrast, on specific mitochondrial transcripts, there were increased accumulations of antisense noncoding RNAs upon knockdown of PNPase. Further, when we looked for PNPase interaction partners using the proximity labeling pull down method, we identified FASKD2, FASKD3, FASKD5, DHX30, and DDX28 to interact with PNPase. Thus, this study identified RNAs and protein factors that interact with PNPase and further characterized the effect of PNPase knockdown on mitochondrial RNA transcripts.

If PNPase is directly involved in the degradation of specific mitochondrial RNAs, it is interesting to consider how PNPase may recognize its specific targets. We have performed in

vitro systematic evolution of ligands by exponential enrichment (SELEX) analysis to identify motifs that are preferentially bound by PNPase. When we looked for the presence of these motifs (CTACCCC, CAACCCC, CTAGCCC) in the mitochondria RNAs, we identified that RNR1, ND1, ND2, COX1, ND3, COX3, and ND6 contained these motifs. However, we were not able to see a consistent pattern of steady state RNA level changes upon knockdown of PNPase for the aforementioned transcripts. Alternatively, RNAs that are polyadenylated or oligoadenylated may be a way to mark RNAs for degradation in the mitochondria. It is also conceivable that proteins that are attached to the RNAs may act as a signal for degradation.

The CRAC and BIOID2 analysis suggests that PNPase may localize in the mitochondrial matrix. Different experimental approaches have shown PNPase to be localized in the IMS and matrix of the mitochondria (21,23,34). Our experiments showed that PNPase interacts with mitochondrial RNAs and matrix localized proteins. Thus, there is a high likelihood of PNPase being localized to the matrix. In addition, the PNPase-BIOID2 fusion protein was localized into the matrix, again supporting that endogenous PNPase may localize in the matrix compartment.

Though PNPase binds to all mitochondrial tRNAs, rRNAs and mRNAs, high amount of specific tRNA containing regions interact with PNPase endogenously. The interaction of PNPase with other RNA processing enzymes and ribosome assembly factors suggest a possibly coordinated regulation of RNA processing and mitochondrial translation. In light of the recently discovered function of PNPase in regulating the metabolic shift during induced pluripotent stem cell differentiation, how expression levels of PNPase can affect the cellular reliance on oxidative phosphorylation and how its specific role in the mitochondria may relate to this metabolic shift is an interesting question to address in the future.

### **Materials and Methods**

**Construction of Cell Lines.** All tissue culture cells were cultured in DMEM (Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium) supplemented with 10% Fetal Bovine Serum (Omega Scientific) and 1x penicillin-streptomycin under 5% CO2 at 37°C. 293T FlpIn cell lines were constructed by transfecting the host cell line with pOG44 Flp-Recombinase Expression Vector (thermofisher) and pCDN5 FRT/TO vector expressing the fusion protein of interest (see supplemental). Specifically, approximately 1 million 293T FlpIn cells were plated in a 6 well plate the night before transfection. The next day, at 60-80% cellular confluency, the cells were transfected using 0.2µg of pCDNA 5 FRT/TO vector expressing the fusion protein of interest and 1.8µg of pOG44 vector using the BioT transfection agent (Bioland Scientific) following the manufacturer's protocol. After 24hours, the media was replaced, and the cells were split out of the 6 well plate after 48 hours into a 10cm plate and plated in selection media containing 10µg/mL blasticidin and 200µg/mL hygromycin. The cells were cultured until the individual colonies started to form on the 10cm, and all colonies were pooled together to establish a polyclonal cell line.

UV crosslinking and analysis of cDNA (CRAC) pull down. CRAC experiments were performed as described in Helwak et al (35). First set of CRAC experiments were performed in 293T cells transduced with retrovirus overexpressing S484A PNPase –histidine tag- protein C tag, Tim23-histidine tag-protein C tag, and WT 293T cells. Second set of CRAC experiments were performed in 293T FlpIn cells expressing a single copy of WT PNPase-histidine tagprotein C tag, S484A PNPase–histidine tag- protein C tag, and Tim23–histidine tag- protein C tag and the WT 293T FlpIn cells. Cell lysates were prepared as shown in step 1-7 of the published CLASH nature protocol (35), however, the expression of fusion proteins were induced with doxycycline for 24 hours

**CRAC Analysis.** The single end reads were adaptor-trimmed using cutadapt with default parameters. The trimmed reads were converted from fastq to fasta format and the duplicated reads were collapsed with customized perl script. The non-redundancy reads were aligned to human genome hg38 using novoalign (version 2.4.0 with parameters "-t 85 -F FA -l 15 -s 1 -o Native -r None"). Next, mapping reads were converted to a bed file, then they were further converted to bed graph and finally the tags were clustered using perl script in CLIP Tool Kit (CTK). The clusters with tags more than 10 reads were defined as PNPase binding peaks. Genome features of PNPase binding sites were annotated including 8 categories: promoter-TSS (transcription start site), 5' UTR, exon, intron, 3' UTR, TTS (transcription termination site), non-coding RNAs and intergenic regions using annotatePeaks, and motif were found using homer finding findMotifsGenome in Homer (36). Peaks in Mitochondria were annotated by overlapping with Mitochondria annotation files using bedtools (37).

**siRNA Knockdown.** siRNA knockdown of PNPase was performed in 293T cell lines. Briefly, 1.6 million 293T cells were plated into 6 well plates and reverse transfected using RNAiMAX (thermofisher) following the manufacturer's protocols. However, the siRNA concentration was kept at 20nM to follow the protocol used by Borowski et al (21). After 24-48 hours, cells were split out to 10cm plate as necessary, and cells were harvested after 72 hours post transfection.

Northern Blotting. Most experiments were based on n=2 or more, except for sense strand of

ND1 and antisense strand of ND1, ND4, ND5, Cox1, 12S, 16S rRNA which were assessed with n=1. RNA samples were prepared using Trizol Reagent and precipitated with isopropranol. Samples were glyoxylated by incubating in glyoxylation buffer (60% DMSO (v/v), 20% (v/v) deionized glyoxal 1.2X BPTE buffer, 4.8% glycerol, .2mg/mL ethydium bromide) at a 1:4 (RNA to gyloxylate mix) at 55°C for 1hr, cool on ice for 10 minutes and stored in -20°C. The 10X BPTE buffer was prepared as 100mM PIPES, 300mM Bis-Tris 10mM EDTA (pH8.0) and diluted as needed. Glyoxylated RNA samples were separated on 1X BPTE agarose gel in 1X BPTE. The RNA samples were transferred onto a hybord N+ nylon membrane using standard capillary transfer method in 10X SSPE buffer 0.01M EDTA, 1.49M NaCl and 0.1M phosphate buffer pH 7.4. The membranes were crosslinked and blocked in church buffer (1% BSA, 1 mM EDTA, 0.5 M NaPO4 pH 7.2, 7% SDS) at 65 °C for 1 hour. P32 labeled RNA probes were prepared using T7 MAXIscript kit using the manufacturer's protocol and were stored in -20C until use. The membranes were then hybridized with the appropriate probes overnight at 65 °C, washed with 2X SSPE + 0.1% SDS, 1X SSPE + 0.1% SDS, and 0.1X SSPE + 0.1% SDS and signals were detected by phosphor imaging autoradiograph.

**Proximity dependent biotinylation for identification of interacting proteins.** BIOID2 sequence was PCR amplified out of myc-BIOID2-MCS (addgene plasmid #74223) and inserted to the pcDNA5 FRT/TO vector, thus all BIOID2 cell lines constructed from this plasmid contains a myc tag. PNP-GFP construct was designed to contain the first 82 amino acids of PNPase so that this segment will contain the mitochondrial targeting sequence and a long enough flanking region to allow for the cleavage of the targeting sequence. The PNPase-BIOID2 cell line expresses an inducible construct consisting of full length PNPase followed by myc tag and BIOID2.

10 x 15cm were cultured per cell line, and grown to ~80% confluency. 24 hours before harvesting cells were the tissue culture medium was supplemented with 50mM biotin and 10nM doxycycline. Cells were subsequently harvested by scraping, and mitochondria was isolated by douncing in mitochondria isolation buffer consisting of 20mM HEPES ph 7.5, 70mM sucrose, 220mM mannitol and 0.5mM PMSF. The amount of purified mitochondria were normalized to equal protein mass among each sample, and were lysed in lysis buffer (8 M urea, 2% SDS, 100 mM Tris, pH 8) at room temperature fore 30 min. The samples were centrifuged and the supernatant was incubated with alkylated streptavidin beads for 2 hours at room temperature. The beads were then washed three times each with lysis buffer, wash II buffer (8 M urea, 2%) SDS, 500 mM NaCl, 100 mM Tris, pH 8), wash III buffer (8 M urea, 0.2% SDS, 500 mM NaCl, 5% ethanol, 5% isopropanol, 100 mM Tris, pH 8), and digestion buffer (8 M urea, 100 mM Tris, pH 8.5). The beads were then spun down, and resuspended in 50uL digestion buffer. The samples were processed and analyzed by mass spectrometry by the Wohlschlegel lab. The BIOID2 analysis was performed with 3 biological replicate samples where each sample set contained 2 technical replicates.

# Figures



**Figure 4-1**. **PNPase binds to regions of mtRNA that contain tRNAs.** (A) PNPase binding targets aligning to the heavy strand of mitochondrial RNAs. (B) PNPase binding targets aligning to the light strand of mitochondrial RNAs. All samples were sequenced in duplicates All samples were sequenced in duplicates (duplicates of Tim23-HisPC and wild type cell line, 293T FlpIn cells are not shown).



**Figure 4-2**. **Steady state level of sense RNAs encoding for ND-X transcripts do not change significantly upon knockdown of PNPase.** (A) Northern blots probing for *ND1, ND2, ND3, ND4*, and *ND6* are shown. *18S* rRNA is used as loading control (B) Western blot showing the extent of knockdown of PNPase in the samples transfected with si+ (negative control siRNA), si58 (siRNA #1 against PNPase) , and si59 (siRNA #2 against PNPase). These samples were used for subsequent northern blots.



Figure 4-3. Steady state level of sense RNAs encoding for non ND-X transcripts do not change significantly upon knockdown of PNPase. (A) Northern blots probing for *COX1*, *COX2*, *COX3*, *CYTB*, and *ATP6* are shown. *18S* rRNA is used as loading control



Figure 4-4. Steady state level of *12S* rRNA and *16S* rRNA decrease upon knockdown of PNPase. (A) Northern blots probing for *12S* rRNA and *16S* rRNA are shown. *18S* rRNA is used as loading control


Figure 4-5. Steady state level of specific antisense ND-X transcripts accumulate upon knockdown of PNPase. (A) Northern blots probing for AS *ND1*, *ND2*, *ND4*, *ND5* and *ND6* are shown. *18S* rRNA is used as loading control



**Figure 4-6**. **Steady state level of specific antisense non ND-X transcripts accumulate upon knockdown of PNPase.** (A) Northern blots probing for AS *COX1, ATP6, 12S rRNA, 16S rRNA* and *CYTB* are shown. *18S* rRNA is used as loading control



**Figure 4-7**. **PNPase interacts with ribosome assembly factors and RNA processing factors in the mitochondria.** (A) Western blot showing the levels of BIOID2 fusion proteins used in the proximity labeling assay. (B) Western blot showing the levels of total biotinylated proteins in the constructed cell lines. (C) Sub-mitochondrial fractionation of FL PNP-B2.

Target name		Function
Polyribonucleotide nucleotidyltransferase 1,	PNPT1	mtRNA degradation
ATP-dependent RNA helicase SUPV3L1	SUPV3L1	mtRNA degradation
Leucine-rich PPR motif-containing protein	LRPPRC	mtRNA processing and RNA loading to ribosmomes
Putative ATP-dependent RNA helicase DHX30	DHX30	mitochondrial ribosome assembly
Mitochondrial ribonuclease P protein 1	MRPP1	mt-tRNA processing
FAST kinase domain-containing protein 2	FASTKD2	mitochondrial ribosome assembly
G-rich sequence factor 1	GRSF1	mitochondrial ribosome assembly, recruitment of IncRNA and mRNA
FAST kinase domain-containing protein 5	FASTKD5	mtRNA processing of non canonical targets
FAST kinase domain-containing protein 3	FASTKD3	Unknown

**Table 4-1. Potential PNPase interaction partners identified from the BIOID2 proximity labeling assay.** PNPase interacting proteins identified from mass spectrometry analysis of streptavidin pull down elution of proteins biotinylated by FL PNPase-BIOID2 and EGFP-BIOID2 fusion proteins.

### References

- 1. Montoya, J., Lopez-Perez, M. J., and Ruiz-Pesini, E. (2006) Mitochondrial DNA transcription and diseases: past, present and future. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1757**, 1179-1189
- 2. Kasamatsu, H., and Vinograd, J. (1974) Replication of circular DNA in eukaryotic cells. *Annu Rev Biochem* **43**, 695-719
- 3. Gustafsson, C. M., Falkenberg, M., and Larsson, N. G. (2016) Maintenance and Expression of Mammalian Mitochondrial DNA. *Annu Rev Biochem* **85**, 133-160
- 4. Montoya, J., Gaines, G. L., and Attardi, G. (1983) The pattern of transcription of the human mitochondrial rRNA genes reveals two overlapping transcription units. *Cell* **34**, 151-159
- 5. Martin, M., Cho, J., Cesare, A. J., Griffith, J. D., and Attardi, G. (2005) Termination factor-mediated DNA loop between termination and initiation sites drives mitochondrial rRNA synthesis. *Cell* **123**, 1227-1240
- 6. Ojala, D., Montoya, J., and Attardi, G. (1981) tRNA punctuation model of RNA processing in human mitochondria. *Nature* **290**, 470-474
- Wilson, W. C., Hornig-Do, H. T., Bruni, F., Chang, J. H., Jourdain, A. A., Martinou, J. C., Falkenberg, M., Spahr, H., Larsson, N. G., Lewis, R. J., Hewitt, L., Basle, A., Cross, H. E., Tong, L., Lebel, R. R., Crosby, A. H., Chrzanowska-Lightowlers, Z. M., and Lightowlers, R. N. (2014) A human mitochondrial poly(A) polymerase mutation reveals the complexities of post-transcriptional mitochondrial gene expression. *Hum Mol Genet* 23, 6345-6355
- 8. Nagaike, T., Suzuki, T., Katoh, T., and Ueda, T. (2005) Human mitochondrial mRNAs are stabilized with polyadenylation regulated by mitochondria-specific poly(A) polymerase and polynucleotide phosphorylase. *J Biol Chem* **280**, 19721-19727
- 9. Slomovic, S., Laufer, D., Geiger, D., and Schuster, G. (2005) Polyadenylation and degradation of human mitochondrial RNA: the prokaryotic past leaves its mark. *Mol Cell Biol* **25**, 6427-6435
- 10. Slomovic, S., Fremder, E., Staals, R. H., Pruijn, G. J., and Schuster, G. (2010) Addition of poly(A) and poly(A)-rich tails during RNA degradation in the cytoplasm of human cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **107**, 7407-7412
- 11. Vanacova, S., Wolf, J., Martin, G., Blank, D., Dettwiler, S., Friedlein, A., Langen, H., Keith, G., and Keller, W. (2005) A new yeast poly(A) polymerase complex involved in RNA quality control. *PLoS Biol* **3**, e189
- Wyers, F., Rougemaille, M., Badis, G., Rousselle, J. C., Dufour, M. E., Boulay, J., Regnault, B., Devaux, F., Namane, A., Seraphin, B., Libri, D., and Jacquier, A. (2005) Cryptic pol II transcripts are degraded by a nuclear quality control pathway involving a new poly(A) polymerase. *Cell* 121, 725-737
- 13. Rossmanith, W. (2012) Of P and Z: mitochondrial tRNA processing enzymes. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1819**, 1017-1026
- 14. Bruni, F., Gramegna, P., Lightowlers, R. N., and Chrzanowska-Lightowlers, Z. M. (2012) The mystery of mitochondrial RNases. *Biochem Soc Trans* **40**, 865-869

- 15. Low, R. L. (2003) Mitochondrial Endonuclease G function in apoptosis and mtDNA metabolism: a historical perspective. *Mitochondrion* **2**, 225-236
- 16. Bruni, F., Gramegna, P., Oliveira, J. M., Lightowlers, R. N., and Chrzanowska-Lightowlers, Z. M. (2013) REXO2 is an oligoribonuclease active in human mitochondria. *PLoS One* **8**, e64670
- Rorbach, J., Nicholls, T. J., and Minczuk, M. (2011) PDE12 removes mitochondrial RNA poly(A) tails and controls translation in human mitochondria. *Nucleic Acids Res* 39, 7750-7763
- 18. Fiedler, M., Rossmanith, W., Wahle, E., and Rammelt, C. (2015) Mitochondrial poly(A) polymerase is involved in tRNA repair. *Nucleic Acids Res* **43**, 9937-9949
- Levy, S., Allerston, C. K., Liveanu, V., Habib, M. R., Gileadi, O., and Schuster, G. (2016) Identification of LACTB2, a metallo-beta-lactamase protein, as a human mitochondrial endoribonuclease. *Nucleic Acids Res* 44, 1813-1832
- 20. Slomovic, S., and Schuster, G. (2008) Stable PNPase RNAi silencing: its effect on the processing and adenylation of human mitochondrial RNA. *RNA* 14, 310-323
- 21. Borowski, L. S., Dziembowski, A., Hejnowicz, M. S., Stepien, P. P., and Szczesny, R. J. (2013) Human mitochondrial RNA decay mediated by PNPase-hSuv3 complex takes place in distinct foci. *Nucleic Acids Res* **41**, 1223-1240
- 22. Szczesny, R. J., Borowski, L. S., Brzezniak, L. K., Dmochowska, A., Gewartowski, K., Bartnik, E., and Stepien, P. P. (2010) Human mitochondrial RNA turnover caught in flagranti: involvement of hSuv3p helicase in RNA surveillance. *Nucleic Acids Res* **38**, 279-298
- 23. Chen, H. W., Rainey, R. N., Balatoni, C. E., Dawson, D. W., Troke, J. J., Wasiak, S., Hong, J. S., McBride, H. M., Koehler, C. M., Teitell, M. A., and French, S. W. (2006) Mammalian polynucleotide phosphorylase is an intermembrane space RNase that maintains mitochondrial homeostasis. *Mol Cell Biol* 26, 8475-8487
- Rainey, R. N., Glavin, J. D., Chen, H. W., French, S. W., Teitell, M. A., and Koehler, C. M. (2006) A new function in translocation for the mitochondrial i-AAA protease Yme1: import of polynucleotide phosphorylase into the intermembrane space. *Mol Cell Biol* 26, 8488-8497
- Kim, D. I., Jensen, S. C., Noble, K. A., Kc, B., Roux, K. H., Motamedchaboki, K., and Roux, K. J. (2016) An improved smaller biotin ligase for BioID proximity labeling. *Mol Biol Cell* 27, 1188-1196
- 26. Wang, D. D., Guo, X. E., Modrek, A. S., Chen, C. F., Chen, P. L., and Lee, W. H. (2014) Helicase SUV3, polynucleotide phosphorylase, and mitochondrial polyadenylation polymerase form a transient complex to modulate mitochondrial mRNA polyadenylated tail lengths in response to energetic changes. *J Biol Chem* **289**, 16727-16735
- Wang, D. D., Shu, Z., Lieser, S. A., Chen, P. L., and Lee, W. H. (2009) Human mitochondrial SUV3 and polynucleotide phosphorylase form a 330-kDa heteropentamer to cooperatively degrade double-stranded RNA with a 3'-to-5' directionality. *J Biol Chem* 284, 20812-20821
- 28. Sasarman, F., Brunel-Guitton, C., Antonicka, H., Wai, T., Shoubridge, E. A., and Consortium, L. (2010) LRPPRC and SLIRP interact in a ribonucleoprotein complex that regulates posttranscriptional gene expression in mitochondria. *Mol Biol Cell* **21**, 1315-1323

- 29. Jourdain, A. A., Koppen, M., Wydro, M., Rodley, C. D., Lightowlers, R. N., Chrzanowska-Lightowlers, Z. M., and Martinou, J. C. (2013) GRSF1 regulates RNA processing in mitochondrial RNA granules. *Cell Metab* **17**, 399-410
- 30. Antonicka, H., Sasarman, F., Nishimura, T., Paupe, V., and Shoubridge, E. A. (2013) The mitochondrial RNA-binding protein GRSF1 localizes to RNA granules and is required for posttranscriptional mitochondrial gene expression. *Cell Metab* **17**, 386-398
- 31. Antonicka, H., and Shoubridge, E. A. (2015) Mitochondrial RNA Granules Are Centers for Posttranscriptional RNA Processing and Ribosome Biogenesis. *Cell Rep*
- Simarro, M., Gimenez-Cassina, A., Kedersha, N., Lazaro, J. B., Adelmant, G. O., Marto, J. A., Rhee, K., Tisdale, S., Danial, N., Benarafa, C., Orduna, A., and Anderson, P. (2010) Fast kinase domain-containing protein 3 is a mitochondrial protein essential for cellular respiration. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 401, 440-446
- 33. Popow, J., Alleaume, A. M., Curk, T., Schwarzl, T., Sauer, S., and Hentze, M. W. (2015) FASTKD2 is an RNA-binding protein required for mitochondrial RNA processing and translation. *RNA* **21**, 1873-1884
- Rhee, H. W., Zou, P., Udeshi, N. D., Martell, J. D., Mootha, V. K., Carr, S. A., and Ting, A. Y. (2013) Proteomic mapping of mitochondria in living cells via spatially restricted enzymatic tagging. *Science* 339, 1328-1331
- 35. Helwak, A., and Tollervey, D. (2014) Mapping the miRNA interactome by cross-linking ligation and sequencing of hybrids (CLASH). *Nat Protoc* **9**, 711-728
- Heinz, S., Benner, C., Spann, N., Bertolino, E., Lin, Y. C., Laslo, P., Cheng, J. X., Murre, C., Singh, H., and Glass, C. K. (2010) Simple combinations of lineage-determining transcription factors prime cis-regulatory elements required for macrophage and B cell identities. *Mol Cell* 38, 576-589
- 37. Quinlan, A. R., and Hall, I. M. (2010) BEDTools: a flexible suite of utilities for comparing genomic features. *Bioinformatics* **26**, 841-842

## Chapter 5: Future Directions

# Role of PNPase in potentially regulating mitochondrial RNA levels

The CRAC assay has revealed that PNPase binds to regions containing tRNAs, and knockdown of PNPase results in accumulation of antisense RNAs in the mitochondria. Recently, processing intermediates of mitochondrial transcripts that contain tRNAs have been found in mouse cardiac mitochondria (1). Thus, it is possible to hypothesize a model in which PNPase may be responsible for degrading mitochondrial RNA processing intermediates that may contain tRNAs. The accumulation of RNA processing intermediates may induced the aberrant increase of steady state antisense RNA levels in the mitochondria. In verifying this model, several issues must be addressed. First, the levels of tRNAs should be checked to see if it is affected by the knockdown of PNPase. Second, the RNA segments bound by PNPase must be verified to be RNA processing intermediates found in human mitochondria. Third, the steady state levels of these RNA processing intermediates should be assessed upon knockdown of PNPase and the direct involvement of PNPase in degrading these RNA processing intermediates must be verified. Lastly, it is important to check whether PNPase catalytic activity is directly involved with the antisense RNA accumulation phenomenon, since the involvement of catalytic activity affecting steady state mtRNA levels has only been adequately addressed on sense RNAs (2).

Though published data from Borowski et al., suggests that specific tRNA levels are lower in PNPase knockdown samples, steady state tRNA levels should be verified upon knockdown of PNPase (2). Acrylamide gel northern blots can be utilized to follow steady state levels of small RNAs and it would be interesting to see whether there is a correlation between tRNAs whom their steady state levels are effected upon PNPase knockdown and tRNAs that are shown to bind PNPase in the CRAC assay. Although, it is apparent that lower levels of steady state mitochondrial coding RNAs may likely contribute to the decreased steady state levels of mitochondrial protein levels, it is also interesting to note whether decrease in tRNA levels may also contribute to this observation.

A recent study utilizing intramolecular ligation of RNA followed by sequencing of the circularized RNA revealed the presence of mitochondrial RNA processing intermediates, and it would be interesting to verify whether the RNA segments bound by PNPase are RNA processing intermediates (1). The study by Kuznetsova et al, purified RNA from mouse cardiac mitochondria and revealed a stable accumulation of RNA processing intermediate fragments around the region that contains mt-Tv, the region containing mt-Ti and mt-Tm, and the region containing mt-Th, mt-Ts2, and mt-Tl2. The patterns of these peaks are very similar to peaks identified from the PNPase CRAC samples. Furthermore, in their study they observed a remarkable increase of these intermediates in a system where one of the subunit of the 5' tRNA processing machinery, MRPP3 is knocked out (1). Thus, we can speculate that we would observe similar species of RNAs in the human cell lines, and PNPase may also bind these processing intermediate species in human cell lines utilizing the same intermolecular ligation technique followed by RNA sequencing.

In parallel to verifying whether RNA processing intermediates of mtRNA accumulate in human cell lines, the accumulation of these tRNA containing regions upon knockdown of PNPase and the involvement of PNPase catalytic activity for the increase in these intermediates should be assessed. To check for levels of RNA processing intermediates upon PNPase knockdown, the aforementioned RNA-seq method on RNA samples that have been intramolecularly circularized can be used to analyze RNA samples that have been purified from PNPase knock down cell lines. Alternatively, once the mtRNA processing intermediates are known, the accumulation of these species may be assessed using the traditional agarose or polyacrylamide gel northern approach. In order to verify whether PNPase catalytic activity is involved in the accumulation of RNA processing intermediates, RNAs purified from cell lines expressing the catalytically inactive mutant of PNPase, PNPase S484A PNPase or PNPase R445E, R446E may be utilized for RNA-seq or northern blot analysis.

We hypothesize that PNPase may be involved in degradation of RNA processing intermediates and the accumulation of these may indirectly result in increased steady state levels. Previous studies have suggested that PNPase may degrade antisense RNAs in the mitochondria, however the direct involvement of the catalytic activity of PNPase on the accumulation of mitochondrial antisense RNA has not been assessed, though its involvement on the accumulation of sense RNA was analyzed(2). Thus, it would be imperative to analyze whether the degradation capacity of PNPase is involved in the accumulation of antisense RNAs by repeating the agarose northern analysis using RNA samples extracted from cell lines expressing PNPase S484A or PNPase R445,446E. Though this assay will not be able to discern whether PNPase is directly or indirectly involved in the accumulation of antisense RNAs, nonetheless the involvement of PNPase catalytic activity on affecting the antisense RNA accumulation should be analyzed.

PNPase is a classically studied enzyme, but its role in the mammalian mitochondria remain to be elucidated. Though it is equally probable that PNPase may degrade both the RNA processing intermediates and the antisense RNAs, I hypothesize that the accumulation of mitochondrial antisense RNA is a secondary effect to the possible accumulation of RNA processing intermediate. Because antisense RNAs were not found to be bound to PNPase in our CRAC assay, we hypothesize that antisense RNA may not be the direct target of PNPase in the mitochondria. From our work with the BIOID2 fusion protein mass spectrometry analysis, PNPase was found to transiently interact or be present in the vicinity of RNA helicases and other protein factors that are involved in mitochondrial ribosome assembly. This suggests that in addition to its potential role in affecting mitochondrial RNA metabolism, PNPase may also cross talk with the mitochondrial ribosome is composed of ribosomal RNAs, and it is understandable that the assembly process may coordinate with the RNA regulatory proteins to maintain proper functioning of the translation machinery.

# PNPase and possible formation of a separate complex under stress conditions

With regards to PNPase interacting proteins, it would be interesting to see whether PNPase complex formation follows a similar pattern to what is seen in *E. Coli*. During cold shock, PNPase present in these bacteria binds CsdA, which is a different RNA helicase than what is normally present in the degradosome complex bound to PNPase (3). Thus it may be possible to imagine when the cell is under stressed conditions, such as an antiviral response, cold shock response, metabolic stress, or DNA damage response, PNPase may form a different multimeric complex under these circumstances. Since PNPase is an interferon induced gene, it is possible that it may have a specific function during antiviral response. Drawing from the bacterial PNPase example, it is conceivable that it may also have a specific function in mammalian cells under this condition. In addition, human PNPase has been co-crystalized with cysteine and regulation of bacterial PNPase activity by cysteine has been reported, thus conditions that alter the level of cysteine may affect PNPase activity and complex formation. Finally, since *E. Coli* and *B. Subtilis* PNPase has been implicated to have a role in DNA damage responses, it is possible that PNPase may form a different complex and function in this pathway also in the mammalian mitochondria (4,5). The involvement of PNPase in DNA damage repair is also interesting because our observation that knock down of PNPase results in mitochondrial DNA loss suggests a potential role of PNPase in mtDNA biosynthesis, maintenance or repair (6).

### **PNPase and mitochondrial RNA translocation**

As PNPase has been suggested to regulate RNA import, we have been interested in identifying factors involved in this pathway. The BIOID2 mass spectrometry assay revealed that PNPase may also be in proximity of two channel proteins, prohibitin 1 and prohibitin 2 (data not shown), though much less protein spectra were identified for these factors compared to mitochondrial ribosome assembly factors. Thus, it is possible that these proteins may be involved in translocating RNAs in the mitochondria. During stressed conditions, such as when PNPase is knocked down, many antisense mitochondrial RNAs accumulate to levels that are higher than normal (2), it is conceivable that accumulated mitochondrial RNA may translocate through these channels to the cytosol.

### **Concluding Remarks**

PNPase is an intriguing nuclease with many suggested roles in the mammalian cell. Despite a few studies that utilized cell lines that expressed PNPase at supra-physiologic levels, the advent of reliable knockdown and knock out methods have slowly revealed some interesting functions of PNPase in the mammalian mitochondria. Our study has revealed the effects of PNPase knockdown on mitochondrial RNA levels, RNAs binding to PNPase and protein factors that bind to PNPase. Further studies are warranted in understanding the role of PNPase in affecting mitochondrial RNA metabolism, how PNPase may cross talk with mitochondrial ribosome synthesis pathways, how PNPase complexes may change during stress conditions and possible roles under these settings, and what other protein factors maybe involved in the translocation of RNAs in the mitochondria. In lieu of the recent identification of PNPase as a factor that regulate the oxidative capacity in iPS cells during reprogramming, it would be very interesting to consider how the specific role of PNPase in the mitochondrial will contribute to this phenomenon (7).

### References

- 1. Kuznetsova, I., Siira, S. J., Shearwood, A. J., Ermer, J. A., Filipovska, A., and Rackham, O. (2017) Simultaneous processing and degradation of mitochondrial RNAs revealed by circularized RNA sequencing. *Nucleic Acids Res* **45**, 5487-5500
- Borowski, L. S., Dziembowski, A., Hejnowicz, M. S., Stepien, P. P., and Szczesny, R. J. (2013) Human mitochondrial RNA decay mediated by PNPase-hSuv3 complex takes place in distinct foci. *Nucleic Acids Res* 41, 1223-1240
- 3. Prud'homme-Genereux, A., Beran, R. K., Iost, I., Ramey, C. S., Mackie, G. A., and Simons, R. W. (2004) Physical and functional interactions among RNase E, polynucleotide phosphorylase and the cold-shock protein, CsdA: evidence for a 'cold shock degradosome'. *Mol Microbiol* **54**, 1409-1421
- 4. Cardenas, P. P., Carrasco, B., Sanchez, H., Deikus, G., Bechhofer, D. H., and Alonso, J. C. (2009) Bacillus subtilis polynucleotide phosphorylase 3'-to-5' DNase activity is involved in DNA repair. *Nucleic Acids Res* **37**, 4157-4169
- 5. Cardenas, P. P., Carzaniga, T., Zangrossi, S., Briani, F., Garcia-Tirado, E., Deho, G., and Alonso, J. C. (2011) Polynucleotide phosphorylase exonuclease and polymerase activities on single-stranded DNA ends are modulated by RecN, SsbA and RecA proteins. *Nucleic Acids Res* **39**, 9250-9261
- 6. Rath, D., Mangoli, S. H., Pagedar, A. R., and Jawali, N. (2012) Involvement of pnp in survival of UV radiation in Escherichia coli K-12. *Microbiology* **158**, 1196-1205
- Nishimura, K., Aizawa, S., Nugroho, F. L., Shiomitsu, E., Tran, Y. T., Bui, P. L., Borisova, E., Sakuragi, Y., Takada, H., Kurisaki, A., Hayashi, Y., Fukuda, A., Nakanishi, M., and Hisatake, K. (2017) A Role for KLF4 in Promoting the Metabolic Shift via TCL1 during Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell Generation. *Stem Cell Reports* 8, 787-801

# **Appendix I:** Correcting Human Mitochondrial Mutations with Targeted RNA Import

# Correcting human mitochondrial mutations with targeted RNA import

Geng Wang<sup>a</sup>, Eriko Shimada<sup>b</sup>, Jin Zhang<sup>b</sup>, Jason S. Hong<sup>b</sup>, Geoffrey M. Smith<sup>b</sup>, Michael A. Teitell<sup>b,c,d,1</sup>, and Carla M. Koehler<sup>a,c,1</sup>

Departments of <sup>a</sup>Chemistry and Biochemistry and <sup>b</sup>Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, David Geffen School of Medicine, and <sup>6</sup>Molecular Biology Institute, <sup>4</sup>Jonsson Comprehensive Cancer Center, Broad Stem Cell Research Center, and California NanoSystems Institute, University of California, Los Angeles, CA 90095

Edited by Nikolaus Pfanner, University of Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany, and accepted by the Editorial Board February 21, 2012 (received for review November 1, 2011)

Mutations in the human mitochondrial genome are implicated in neuromuscular diseases, metabolic defects, and aging. An efficient and simple mechanism for neutralizing deleterious mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) alterations has unfortunately remained elusive. Here, we report that a 20-ribonucleotide stem-loop sequence from the H1 RNA, the RNA component of the human RNase P enzyme, appended to a nonimported RNA directs the import of the resultant RNA fusion transcript into human mitochondria. The methodology is effective for both noncoding RNAs, such as tRNAs, and mRNAs. The RNA import component, polynucleotide phosphorylase (PNPASE), facilitates transfer of this hybrid RNA into the mitochondrial matrix. In addition, nucleus-encoded mRNAs for mitochondrial proteins, such as the mRNA of human mitochondrial ribosomal protein S12 (MRPS12), contain regulatory sequences in their 3'-untranslated region (UTR) that confers localization to the mitochondrial outer membrane, which is postulated to aid in protein translocation after translation. We show that for some mitochondrial-encoded transcripts, such as COX2, a 3'-UTR localization sequence is not required for mRNA import, whereas for corrective mitochondrial-encoded tRNAs, appending the 3'-UTR localization sequence was essential for efficient fusion-transcript translocation into mitochondria. In vivo, functional defects in mitochondrial RNA (mtRNA) translation and cell respiration were reversed in two human disease lines. Thus, this study indicates that a wide range of RNAs can be targeted to mitochondria by appending a targeting sequence that interacts with PNPASE, with or without a mitochondrial localization sequence, providing an exciting, general approach for overcoming mitochondrial genetic disorders

The mtDNA of mammals encodes 13 proteins of the electron transport chain, 22 tRNAs, and 2 rRNAs (1, 2). The majority of mitochondrial proteins and some noncoding RNAs are encoded in the nucleus and imported into mitochondria (3, 4). Whereas the pathways of protein translocation into mitochondria (3, 4). Whereas the pathways of protein translocation into mitochondria have been well studied, the mechanisms for nucleus-encoded RNA import into mitochondria, however, are not well understood, even though mitochondrial RNA import is a universal process (5, 6). Recent detailed sequencing analysis of the mitochondrial RNAs is more complex than previously thought, including an enrichment of several nucleus-encoded tRNAs and other noncoding RNAs (7), indicating that these RNAs are actively imported into mitochondria.

A subset of nucleus-encoded tRNAs is imported into the mitochondria of almost every organism (5, 8). The number of imported tRNAs ranges from one in yeast to all in trypanosomes. Recent mitochondrial transcriptome analysis suggests that this tRNA collection is broader in mammals than previously thought (7) as several unsuspected nucleus-encoded tRNAs are imported and processed to mature forms. In addition to in vitro evidence for a protein-only RNase P enzyme within mitochondria (9), the nucleus-encoded RNA components of RNase P and MRP enzymes are also imported into mitochondria and function in

PNAS | March 27, 2012 | vol. 109 | no. 13

mitochondrial (mt)DNA replication and transcription (10–12). The 5S ribosomal RNA translocates into mitochondria, assembles with ribosomes (13, 14), and may function in mtRNA translation, although the exact function of the 5S ribosomal RNA within mitochondria has yet to be firmly established. Finally, specific nucleus-encoded microRNAs have been isolated from mitochondria (7, 15). Thus, a broad spectrum of nucleus-encoded RNAs localize to mitochondria, although the functions for many of these diverse RNAs in mitochondria have not yet been determined.

The nucleus-encoded RNAs in the mitochondrion have potentially diverse import pathways, but the details of these pathways and import mechanisms are still being revealed (16). tRNAs in every organism are imported by a variety of pathways, some of which require cytoplasmic chaperones (17). The 5S ribosomal RNA is imported from the cytosol with the assistance of two proteins, matrix-localized rhodanese and mitochondrial ribosomal protein L18 (14). The ribosomal protein L18 serves as a conduit or chaperone to facilitate the association of the imported 5S ribosomal RNA with mitochondrial ribosomes. And the mammalian polynucleotide phosphorylase (PNPASE) enzyme localizes to the mitochondrial intermembrane space (18–20) where it may function as an RNA receptor to augment translocation of RNAs into the mitochondrial matrix (6, 21).

Specific mutations in mtDNA have been implicated in muscular and neuronal diseases and in the decline of organ function with aging (22, 23). Despite a significant need, there are currently no effective treatments for deleterious mtDNA alterations. DNA import into mitochondria to repair mtDNA alterations has been difficult and low in efficiency, so approaches at mitochondrial repair have exploited import pathway mechanisms (24). For example, allotopic expression of a subset of mitochondrial genes (recoded mtDNA expressed from the nucleus) has been explored to partially correct the effects of deleterious mutations for some mitochondrial genes, including tRNAs (25-27). However, this approach has been limited because imported mitochondrial proteins fail to assemble correctly in respiratory complexes. The import of RNA has been restricted to tRNAs from different species and requires additional foreign factors. We recently identified a unique approach to target nucleus-encoded RNAs to mitochondria, using the 20-ribonucleotide stem-loop sequence of H1 RNA, the RNA component of the RNase P enzyme that

www.pnas.org/cgi/doi/10.1073/pnas.1116792109

Author contributions: G.W., E.S., M.A.T., and C.M.K. designed research; G.W., E.S., J.Z., J.S.H., and G.M.S. performed research; G.W., E.S., J.Z., J.S.H., and G.M.S. contributed new reagents/ analytic tools; G.W., E.S., M.A.T., and C.M.K. analyzed data; and G.W., M.A.T., and C.M.K. wrote the paper.

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

This article is a PNAS Direct Submission. N.P. is a guest editor invited by the Editorial Board.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>To whom correspondence may be addressed. E-mail: koehlerc@chem.ucla.edu or mteitell@ mednet.ucla.edu.

This article contains supporting information online at www.pnas.org/lookup/suppl/doi:10. 1073/pnas.1116792109/-/DCSupplemental.

regulates its import (6). When appended to a nonimported RNA, the HI RNA import sequence, designated RP, enables the fusion transcript to be imported into isolated mitochondria (6).

Two longstanding models of human mtDNA disease are cytoplasmic hybrids (cybrids) derived from samples from patients with myoclonic epilepsy with ragged red fibers (MERRF) and mitochondrial encephalomyopathy, lactic acidosis, and stroke-like episodes (MELAS) (28–31). These cybrid lines harbor an A8344G (*mt-tRNA*<sub>AAA</sub><sup> $L_{ys}$ </sup>) mutation for MERRF and an A3243G  $(mt-tRNA_{UUR})$  mutation for MELAS, both of which cause inefficient mtRNA translation, which results in defective cell respiration. We demonstrate here that the mitochondrial defects in these mutant cybrid cells can be partially rescued by targeted import of allotopically encoded wild-type tRNAs, using the RP import signal and, for corrective tRNAs, a mitochondrial local-ization signal, derived from the 3'-untranslated region (UTR) of human mitochondrial ribosomal protein S12 (MRPS12), which targets the mRNA to the mitochondrial outer membrane (32). We also show that the RP import sequence is also capable of importing much larger, mitochondrial protein-encoding mRNAs in vivo, broadening the approach to target defects in all mtDNA alterations.

#### Results

H1 RNA Import Sequence Regulates Mitochondrial Import of mt-tRNA Precursors. Initially, we determined whether corrective, in vitro synthesized mitochondrial tRNA (mt-tRNA) precursors could be imported into isolated mitochondria and, if so, whether they were processed into mature mt-tRNAs. The *mt-tRNA*<sub>AAA</sub><sup>Lys</sup> precursor contains 67 and 74 ribonucleotides, and the *mt*-tRNA<sub>UUL</sub><sup>Leu</sup> precursor contains 93 and 76 ribonucleotides that are cleaved from the 5' and 3' transcript ends, respectively, during mt-tRNA maturation (2). In engineering the imported mt-tRNAs, the 5' end of each mt-tRNA precursor contained or lacked the 20-nt stem-loop sequence of  $\hat{H1}$  RNA that directs the import of this RNA component of the RNase P enzyme (6); this sequence is designated the RP sequence (6). Engineered tRNAs were then added to import assays that used mouse liver mitochondria isolated from wild-type or a liver-specific "knockout" (designated HepKO) of Pnpt1, the gene encoding for PNPASE (6) (Fig. 1A). The abundance of PNPASE in the HepKO mitochondria was decreased to approximately one-third the level present in WT mitochondria. Residual PNPASE expression in the HepKO liver is from heterogeneous liver elements and from the Alb<sub>CRE</sub> recombinase strain, which is hepatocyte specific but deletion incomplete (33). Only mt-tRNA precursors with the appended RP sequence were efficiently imported into isolated mitochondria, and import was markedly impaired to approximately one-sixth to one-eighth the level seen in WT mitochondria with reduced PNPASE expression (Fig. 1 *B* and *C*). Importantly, the 5' and 3' mt-tRNA precursor sequences were removed inside the mitochondria to yield mature 60- to 80ribonucleotide mt-tRNAs (Fig. 1B). To examine whether the imported mt-tRNAs could rescue defective mtRNA translation, in vitro import was combined with mitochondrial in organello in Mito inport was consider in intermediate  $M_{L_{eff}}$  in protein synthesis studies. The A8344G mutation (*mt-IRNA<sub>ALS</sub>*) in MERRF and the A3243G mutation (*mt-IRNA<sub>UUR</sub><sup>Leu</sup>*) in MELAS cause a substantial reduction in mtRNA translation (28, 29). A statistically significant increase in the steady-state abundance of total translated mitochondrial polypeptides was observed in both MERRF and MELAS cells following incubation with the mt-tRNA precursors containing the RP import sequence, but not with mt-tRNA precursors lacking RP (Fig. 2 A and B and Fig. S1). These data indicate that the RP sequence enabled PNPASE-dependent mt-tRNA precursor import into isolated mitochondria and that the imported mt-tRNA precursors were processed and functioned in at least partially correcting defective mtRNA translation.

Wang et al.



BIOCHEMISTRY

Fig. 1. H1 RNA import sequence regulates mitochondrial import of mttRNA precursors. (A) Hepatocyte-specific *Pnpt1* knockout (HepKO) in 6-wkold mice (6). Immunoblot from 6-wk-old WT and HepKO mouse livers shows ~50% reduction in PNPASE expression. (B) Radiolabeled mt-tRNA precursors with (*Upper*) a 5' H1 20-ribonucleotide predicted stem-loop sequence (designated *RP*, marked with loop in schematic) were in vitro transcribed and incubated with WT or HepKO liver mitochondria. Nonimported RNA was digested with added nuclease, followed by RNA isolation, separation on a urea acrylamide gel, and autoradiography. Import reactions were repeated with 1x and 2x amounts of mt-tRNA. (*Lower*) Loading control showing equivalent amounts of mitochondria used in the imports, as revealed by total mitochondrial nucleic acids separated on an agarose gel. (C) As in *B*, but the mt-tRNA precursor lacks the 5' H1 20-ribonucleotide predicted stemloop sequence.

The *RP* Sequence Directs Import of mt-tRNAs into Mitochondria in Vivo. To determine whether the *RP* import sequence functions in vivo, a mouse cytochrome oxidase 2 (mCOX2) mtRNA was used for import into human cells, because the sequence of mCOX2 differs significantly from that of human COX2 (hCOX2) (1, 2). The mCOX2 gene, with or without the added 5' *RP* import sequence, was placed under the control of the *H1* promoter (Fig. 3A) and constructs were introduced into HeLa cells via transient transfection. Two days after transfection, mitochondria were isolated and subjected to digitonin treatment (100 µg/1 mg of mitochondrial protein) in the presence of nuclease to generate mitoplasts as a means to determine whether the mCOX2 RNA

PNAS | March 27, 2012 | vol. 109 | no. 13 |



Fig. 2. Import mt-tRNA precursors with the *RP* sequence partially rescue the translation defect of isolated MERRF and MELAS mutant mitochondria. (A) mt-tRNA precursors with or without *RP* were imported into isolated WT or MERRF mitochondria from cybrid lines for 2 min at RT, followed by an additional 5 min with rNTP supplementation. Following RNase A digestion of the nonimported mt-tRNA, mitochondria were pelleted and resuspended in an in organello translation buffer with radiolabeled methionine and cysteine for 30 min at 37 °C. The autoradiograms are shown in Fig. S1. Individual lanes were quantified, and total radioactivity was calculated and normalized to total protein amounts. The WT control in the presence of assay buffer was set at 100%. *n* = 3 independent experiments. \**P* < 0.01 with Student's t test.

was indeed imported into the mitochondrial matrix. The presence of the mCOX2 RNA in the mitochondrial matrix was examined by RT-PCR. Only the mtRNA fusion transcript containing the RP import sequence directed the mCOX2 transcript into the mitochondrial matrix with an import efficiency of ~5-10%, indicating that the RP import sequence is required and functions in vivo (Fig. 3B). To examine whether the imported mtRNA is translated, hCOX2 expression constructs, with or without the RP import sequence, were generated and stably introduced into mouse embryonic fibroblasts, because the monoclonal COX2 antibody is specific for human COX2 protein. Cells expressing RP-hCOX2, but not hCOX2, nucleus-encoded mtRNA showed mitochondrial transcript import (Fig. S2 A and B) and hCOX2 protein translation within mitochondria (Fig. 3C), indicating that the RP import sequence also is required and functions with coding mtRNAs in vivo. hCOX2 localization was also verified within mitochondria (Fig. S2 B and C). hCOX2 protein was trypsin resistant, similar to inner membrane protein TIMM23 (Fig. S2B), in contrast to outer membrane protein TOMM40. In contrast to soluble PNPASE, hCOX2 assembled in the membrane because the protein was recovered in the pellet fraction after carbonate extraction, similar to the control, TOMM40 (Fig. S2C). Thus, hCOX2 is imported and assembles into the mitochondrial inner membrane. The data also show that the RP sequence enables mitochondrial import and processing of RNAs much larger (683 ribonucleotides) than tRNAs (60-80 ribonucleotides), providing a broader therapeutic potential. Thus, the RP sequence can potentially be used in general strategies to target large RNAs for import into mitochondria.

Functional Rescue of Mitochondrial tRNA Mutants. The in vivo rescue of function in mitochondria with mt-tRNA mutations has proven challenging (5). The usual processing of nucleus-encoded tRNA precursors occurs inside the nucleus (34, 35). When stably expressed from inside the nucleus, mt-tRNA precursors with the fused *RP* sequence did not rescue the respiratory defect

www.pnas.org/cgi/doi/10.1073/pnas.1116792109



Fig. 3. In vivo import of mitochondrial-coded COX2 into mitochondria, using the *RP* sequence. (A) Diagrams of *mCOX2* expression vectors. (B) Mitochondria were isolated from HELa cells expressing *mCOX2* or *RP-mCOX2*. Mitoplasts were made with digitonin, followed by treatment with nuclease. RNA was then isolated from total cell lysates (Input) or from nuclease-treated mitoplasts (Mito) and analyzed by primer-specific RT-PCR. *hCOX1* is a control for total and mitochondria-isolated RNAs. (C) Mitochondria were isolated from mouse embryonic fibroblasts stably expressing *hCOX2* or *RP-hCOX2*. hCOX2-specific expression was analyzed by Western blot from isolated mitochondria.

of MERRF or MELAS cells (Fig. 4 A and B). Instead, the RP and 5' mt-tRNA presequences were cleaved inside the nucleus (Fig. S3A). Moving the RP import signal to the 3' end of the mt-tRNA presequence was also ineffective as both 5' and 3' mttRNA presequences were cleaved in the nucleus (Fig. S3B). To stop the cleavage of mt-tRNA presequences with the RP sequence inside the nucleus, several ribonucleotides adjacent to the aminoacyl stem of the mt-tRNA were replaced, creating LysA, RPLysA, LeuA, and RPLeuA (Fig. 4A). The ribonucleotides adjacent to tRNA stems are usually unpaired; when the aminoacyl stem is extended by eliminating the mismatch caused by unpaired ribonucleotides, the cleavage rates of tRNA pre-sequences are significantly reduced (36). When LysA, RPLysA, LeuA, and RPLeuA were expressed in mammalian cells, an increase in unprocessed mt-tRNA precursors was detected (Fig. S3C). However, these nucleus-encoded mt-tRNA precursors still failed to rescue the MERRF or MELAS respiration defect (Fig. 4B).

We reasoned that the mt-tRNA precursors might not localize near the mitochondria and, therefore, the *RP* sequence could not function as an import signal, as it does with isolated mitochondria in vitro. Consistent with this reasoning is the known requirement for regional localization of cellular mRNAs. It was originally assumed that mRNAs associated only with the endoplasmic reticulum, but now it has been shown that different mRNAs can be targeted to different subcellular locations where translation occurs locally (37). Mitochondrial mRNAs, mainly of prokaryotic origin, are targeted to the mitochondrion by a 3'-UTR (38, 39). As an example, the mRNA of human mitochondrial ribosomal protein S12 (*MRPS12*) is targeted to the proximity of mitochondria through the microtubule network (32). Targeting is mediated by elements within 154 ribonucleotides

Wang et al.



Fig. 4. Three elements are required for mt-tRNA precursors encoded in the nucleus to rescue mt-tRNA respiratory defects in vivo. (A) Schematic of the mt-tRNA precursors generated for the in vivo rescue assay. The single step loop at the 5' of the second row structures is the H1 RNA import sequence, RP. The shaded box indicates ribonucleotides that were changed to make tRNA precursors less susceptible to processing in the nucleus. The solid box is the 3'-UTR of MRPS12 that localizes RNA to the vicinity of mitochondria (32). (B) tRNALys precursors lacking one or two of the three elements do not rescue the MERRF respiratory defect. (C) tRNALys or tRNALeu precursors with all three elements rescue respiration in MERRF and MELAS cells. n = 3 independent experiments. \*P < 0.01 with Student's t test.

MERFERENSA

consumption rate

6

4

2

0 Oxygen

MERTHUSN

MERSTRAPH

WT

nmol O2/min/mg

MELAS

MERBERHUSA

Control

LysAM

RPLVSAM

LysM

25 RPLysM

Pre-tRNALe

LysAM

RPLvsAM

Ĵι

Pre-tRNA Leur

LysA

**RPLvsA** 

ß

of its 3'-UTR (32). To test whether the 3'-UTR of MRPS12 assists in the import of mt-tRNA precursors into mitochondria in vivo, we fused the MRPS12 3'-UTR to the 3' end of stabilized and RP-containing mt-tRNA precursors. In total, eight expression constructs were generated, including LysM (mt-tRNAAAA Lys precursor with *MRPS12 3'*-UTR), *RPLysM* (*mt*-tRNA<sub>AAA</sub><sup>Lys</sup> precursor with *RP* and *MRPS12 3'*-UTR), *LysAM* (*mt*-tRNA<sub>AAA</sub><sup>Lys</sup> precursor with the extended stem and MRPS12 3'-UTR), RPLysAM (*mt-tRNA<sub>AAA</sub><sup>Lys</sup>*) precursor with *RP*, the extended stem, and *MRPS12* 3'-UTR), *LeuM* (*mt-tRNA<sub>UUR</sub><sup>Leu</sup>*) precursor with *MRPS12* 3'-UTR), *RPLeuM* (*mt-tRNA<sub>UUR</sub><sup>Leu</sup>*) precursor with *MRPS12* 3'-UTR), *RPLeuM* (*mt-tRNA<sub>UUR</sub><sup>Leu</sup>*) precursor with RP and MRPS12 3'-UTR), LeuAM (mt-tRNA<sub>UUR</sub><sup>Leu</sup> precursor with the extended stem and MRPS12 3'-UTR), and RPLeuAM (*mt-tRNA<sub>UUR</sub>*<sup>Leu</sup> precursor with *RP*, the extended stem, and *MRPS12* 3'-UTR) (Fig. 44).

Wang et al.

Stable polyclonal transfectants with the various tRNA chimeras in MERRF and MELAS cells were made and cell respiration was measured with an XF24 Extracellular Flux Analyzer (Seahorse Biosciences). When all three elements (the extended stem, the RP sequence, and MRPS12 3'-UTR) were present, the mt-tRNA precursors rescued MELAS and MERFF respiration defects (~2.5-fold increase); otherwise, no rescue was detected (Fig. 4C). Expression of mt-tRNA precursors in vivo did not have a significant effect on the respiration of wild-type cybrid cells, suggesting little perturbation of other cellular functions (Fig. 4C). To evaluate whether the rescue of respiration is from a correction in mtRNA translation by imported wild-type mttRNAs, an in vivo mitochondrial translation assay was performed with MERRF and MELAS cells expressing different versions of the mt-tRNA precursors. Consistent with the respiration

Control

□ LeuAM

RPLeuAM

PNAS | March 27, 2012 | vol. 109 | no. 13 |

BIOCHEMISTRY

results, MERRF and MELAS cells showed a substantial reduction in the synthesis of mitochondrion-encoded proteins compared with the wild-type cybrid cells. Only when the mt-tRNA precursors with all three elements were expressed, did mitochondrial protein synthesis recover (threefold to sixfold increase) (Fig. 5.4 and B). A complete recovery was not expected, as the mutant mt-tRNAs were still present in the mitochondria and likely competed with the imported wild-type mt-tRNAs during mtRNA translation. Stable mitochondrial protein levels in MERRF and MELAS cells were also examined. Consistent with the increase in respiration and in vivo translation results in the mutant cells expressing the mt-tRNA precursors containing all three elements, the levels of mitochondrial-encoded COX2 and



Fig. 5. Rescue of respiration is due to restoration of mitochondrial translation. (A) Analysis of mitochondrial translation in vivo with stable rescue cell lines. Mitochondrial translated proteins were separated by SDS/PAGE and visualized by autoradiography. (B) Quantification of specific bands on gels from A. Autoradiogram counts were normalized to protein amounts and expressed relative to WT control samples. (C) Steady-state levels of nucleusencoded and mitochondrial-encoded proteins in WT, MERRF, and MELAS cells. TOMM40 and PNPASE also serve as loading controls.

www.pnas.org/cgi/doi/10.1073/pnas.1116792109

ND6 proteins were markedly increased (Fig. 5C). To assess the assembly and activity of the respiratory chain complexes, in-gel activity assays for complex I were performed, using blue-native gel electrophoresis. In the MELAS and MERRF cells expressing the mt-tRNA precursors containing all three elements, the activity of complex I increased to 30–40% of the WT level (Fig. S4). These results show that for nucleus-encoded mt-tRNA precursors to be imported into and adequately function within mitochondria, an extended stem is required for a subpopulation of these precursors to escape the nucleus without the presequences being processed. Also, a mitochondria localization sequence such as MRPS12 3'-UTR is required, probably for the precursor to traffic to the proximity of mitochondria. And finally, an RNA import sequence, in this case RP, is required for the mitochondria to internalize the mt-tRNA precursor.

#### Discussion

Defects in mtDNA are implicated in a plethora of human conditions, including neurodegenerative and cardiovascular diseases, muscular disorders, and the process of aging (22, 23). Despite a significant need, there are currently no effective treatments for deleterious mtDNA alterations. Our results show that these disorders can potentially be treated using targeted mitochondrial RNA import. We show that the RP import sequence mediates import of not only mitochondrial tRNA precursors but also much larger nucleus-expressed mRNAs into the mitochondrial matrix. Disease-causing mutations and deletions in the mitochondrial genome seem to be fairly equally distributed along the mitochondrial DNA (5, 22, 23) and this approach may generalize to rescue them all.

Up to now, experimental approaches using mitochondrial RNA import to rescue mitochondrial function have been restricted to correcting the defects caused by mitochondrial tRNA mutations. These efforts require the introduction of nonnative tRNAs with foreign protein factors or the transfer of a large multisubunit aggregate into cells, which is of low efficiency and difficult to reproduce in desirable disease-relevant settings (27, 40, 41). Our approach, however, has no such restriction; rationally engineered human mitochondrial tRNAs and mRNAs can both be efficiently targeted and functional. The fusion RNA presequences are encoded in the nuclear genome and can be imported into mitochondria where they are processed, restore translation, and are degraded via normal pathways in the mitochondrion. Importantly, these modified RNAs do not appear to have negative effects on other cellular processes, as wild-type cell metabolism is not affected. In vivo, the efficient import also depends on how well the RP import sequence is protected from processing in the nucleus and cytosol and whether the RNA precursors can gain access to the vicinity of mitochondria. We have shown that even for precursors that are normally processed in the nucleus and have no access to the vicinity of mitochondria, there are avenues to manipulate the processing and trafficking, although it is interesting that, at least for allotopically expressed COX2 transcripts, a mitochondrial localization sequence is not required for RP sequence-PNPASE-mediated import.

The approach we have described here can be adapted for importing different kinds of RNA into mammalian mitochondria. The RNA sequences can be altered to inhibit processing steps in maturation in the nucleus without affecting the function of the mature RNAs in the mitochondria. For RNAs sequestered elsewhere in the cell, a mitochondria localization sequence from the 3'-UTR of MRPS12 can be appended to redirect the RNA precursor to the mitochondrion. Thus, this approach may generalize to mtDNA mutations in mt-tRNAs, mt-rRNAs, and protein-encoding mtRNAs as well as to heteroplasmic mtDNA populations, where ribozymes can be targeted (42). Thus, this rational transcript engineering approach may represent a unique therapeutic opportunity for a wide range of diseases caused by

Wang et al.

mutations in the mitochondrial genome for which current effective therapies are lacking.

#### **Materials and Methods**

Cell Culture, Transfection, and Transduction. Mammalian cell lines were maintained in DMEM growth medium supplemented with 10% FBS and 2% L-glutamine. MERRF and MELAS cybrid lines (kindly provided by Carlos Moraes, University of Miami Miller School of Medicine) were maintained in DMEM growth medium supplemented with 10% FBS, 2% L-glutamine, and 0.5 mg/mL uridine. Transient transfections were performed using Bio-T reagent (Bioland Scientific). In transfections with COX2 constructs, the calcium phosphate uptake method was used. Retroviral supernatants were produced

- Bibb MJ, Van Etten RA, Wright CT, Walberg MW, Clayton DA (1981) Sequence and gene organization of mouse mitochondrial DNA. Cell 26:167–180.
- 2. Anderson S, et al. (1981) Sequence and organization of the human mitochondrial genome. Nature 290:457–465
- 3. Chacinska A, Koehler CM, Milenkovic D, Lithgow T, Pfanner N (2009) Importing mitochondrial proteins: Machineries and mechanisms. *Cell* 138:628–644. 4. Entelis NS, Kolesnikova OA, Martin RP, Tarassov IA (2001) RNA delivery into mito-
- chondria. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 49:199-215.
- 5. Alfonzo JD, Söll D (2009) Mitochondrial tRNA import—the challenge to understand has just begun. Biol Chem 390:717-722.
- 6. Wang G, et al. (2010) PNPASE regulates RNA import into mitochondria. Cell 142: 456-467. Mercer TR, et al. (2011) The human mitochondrial transcriptome. Cell 146:645-658.
- 8. Duchêne AM, Pujol C, Maréchal-Drouard L (2009) Import of tRNAs and aminoacyltRNA synthetases into mitochondria. Curr Genet 55:1-18.
- 9. Holzmann J, et al. (2008) RNase P without RNA: Identification and functional re constitution of the human mitochondrial tRNA processing enzyme. Cell 135:462-474. 10. Chang DD, Clayton DA (1989) Mouse RNAase MRP RNA is encoded by a nuclear gene
- and contains a decamer sequence complementary to a conserved region of mitochondrial RNA substrate Cell 56:131-139 11. Chang DD, Clayton DA (1987) A mammalian mitochondrial RNA processing activity
- contains nucleus-encoded RNA. Science 235:1178-1184.
- Bonawitz ND, Clayton DA, Shadel GS (2006) Initiation and beyond: Multiple functions of the human mitochondrial transcription machinery. *Mol Cell* 24:813–825. 13. Smirnov A, et al. (2008) Two distinct structural elements of 55 rRNA are needed for its
- import into human mitochondria. RNA 14:749-759. 14. Smirnov A. Entelis N. Martin RP. Tarassov I (2011) Biological significance of 55 rRNA import into human mitochondria: Role of ribosor al protein MRP-L18. Genes Dev 25: 1289-1305.
- Kren BT, et al. (2009) MicroRNAs identified in highly purified liver-derived mito-chondria may play a role in apoptosis. *RNA Biol* 6:65–72.
- 16. Sieber F. Duchêne AM, Maréchal-Drouard L (2011) Mitochondrial RNA import: From diversity of natural mechanisms to potential applications. Int Rev Cell Mol Biol 287: 145 - 190
- Schneider A (2011) Mitochondrial tRNA import and its consequences for mitochon-drial translation. Annu Rev Biochem 80:1033–1053.
- Rainey RN, et al. (2006) A new function in translocation for the mitochondrial i-AAA protease Yme1: Import of polynucleotide phosphorylase into the intermembrane pace. Mol Cell Biol 26:8488-8497.
- 19. Chen HW, et al. (2006) Mammalian polynucleotide phosphorylase is an intermembrane space RNase that maintains mitochondrial homeostasis. Mol Cell Biol 26: 8475-8487
- 20. Chen HW, Koehler CM, Teitell MA (2007) Human polynucleotide phosphorylase: Location matters. Trends Cell Biol 17:600-608.
- 21. Wang G, Shimada E, Koehler CM, Teitell MA (2011) PNPASE and RNA trafficking into mitochondria, Biochim Biophys Acta, 10,1016/i.bbagrm.2011.10,001.
- 22. Wallace DC (1999) Mitochondrial diseases in man and mouse. Science 283:1482-1488

by transient transfection of the 293T Phoenix packaging cell line, after which the cells were bulk infected and selected in puromycin.

Biochemical Assays with Mitochondria and Additional Methods. Detailed methods are listed in SI Materials and Methods

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS. We thank Dr. Carlos Moraes at the University of Miami Miller School of Medicine for kindly providing the MELAS and MERRE ophid cell lines. This work was supported by grants from the National Institutes of Health (GM061721, GM073981, CA90571, and CA156674), the American Heart Association (06400768), the California Institute of Regen-erative Medicine (RS1-00313 and RB1-01397), and the Broad Stem Cell Research Center at University of California, Los Angeles.

- Wallace DC (1994) Mitochondrial DNA sequence variation in human evolution and disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 91:8739–8746.
- Kyriakouli DS, Boesch P, Taylor RW, Lightowlers RN (2008) Progress and prospects: Gene therapy for mitochondrial DNA disease. Gene Ther 15:1017–1023.
- Manfredi G, et al. (2002) Rescue of a deficiency in ATP synthesis by transfer of MTATP6, a mitochondrial DNA-encoded gene, to the nucleus. *Nat Genet* 30:394–399.
- 26. Karicheva OZ, et al. (2011) Correction of the consequences of mitochondrial 3243A>G mutation in the MT-TL1 gene causing the MELAS syndrome by tRNA import into mitochondria. Nucleic Acids Res 39:8173-8186.
- 27. Kolesnikova OA, et al. (2004) Nuclear DNA-encoded tRNAs targeted into mitochondria can rescue a mitochondrial DNA mutation associated with the MERRF syndrome in cultured human cells. Hum Mol Genet 13:2519-2534
- 28. Masucci JP, Davidson M, Koga Y, Schon EA, King MP (1995) In vitro analysis of mutations causing myoclonus epilepsy with ragged-red fibers in the mitochondrial tRNA (Lys)gene: Two genotypes produce similar phenotypes. Mol Cell Biol 15:2872-2881.
- Schon EA, Koga Y, Davidson M, Moraes CT, King MP (1992) The mitochondrial 29. tRNA(Leu)(UUR) mutation in MELAS: A model for pathogenesis. Biochim Biophys Acta 1101:206-209. 30. Kishnani PS, et al. (1996) Acute pancreatitis in an infant with lactic acidosis and
- a mutation at nucleotide 3243 in the mitochondrial DNA tRNALeu(UUR) gene. Eur J Pediatr 155:898–903.
- 31. Shoffner JM, et al. (1990) Myoclonic epilepsy and ragged-red fiber disease (MERRF) is associated with a mitochondrial DNA tRNA(Lys) mutation. Cell 61:931–937.
- Russo A, et al. (2008) cis-acting sequences and trans-acting factors in the localization of mRNA for mitochondrial ribosomal proteins. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1779:820–829. 33. Postic C. Magnuson MA (2000) DNA excision in liver by an albumin-Cre transgene
- occurs progressively with age. *Genesis* 26:149–150. 34. Ceballos M, Vioque A (2007) tRNase Z. *Protein Pept Lett* 14:137–145
- 35. Frank DN, Pace NR (1998) Ribonuclease P: Unity and diversity in a tRNA processing ribozyme. Annu Rev Biochem 67:153-180.
- 36. Lee Y, et al. (1997) Nuclear pre-tRNA terminal structure and RNase P recognition. RNA 3:175-185. 37. Donnelly CJ, Fainzilber M, Twiss JL (2010) Subcellular communication through RNA
- transport and localized protein synthesis. Traffic 11:1498-1505. 38. Marc P, et al. (2002) Genome-wide analysis of mRNAs targeted to yeast mitochondria.
- EMBO Rep 3:159-164. 39. Sylvestre J, Margeot A, Jacq C, Dujardin G, Corral-Debrinski M (2003) The role of the 3' untranslated region in mRNA sorting to the vicinity of mitochondria is conserved
- from yeast to human cells. Mol Biol Cell 14:3848-3856. Mahata B, Mukherjee S, Mishra S, Bandyopadhyay A, Adhya S (2006) Functional delivery of a cytosolic tRNA into mutant mitochondria of human cells. Science 314:
- 471-474. 41. Kolesnikova OA, et al. (2000) Suppression of mutations in mitochondrial DNA by
- tRNAs imported from the cytoplasm. *Science* 289:1931–1933. 42. Val R, et al. (2011) Organelle trafficking of chimeric ribozymes and genetic manipulation of mitochondria. Nucleic Acids Res 39:9262-9274.

Wang et al.

PNAS | March 27, 2012 | vol. 109 | no. 13 |

# **Appendix II:** PNPase and RNA trafficking into mitochondria

#### Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1819 (2012) 998-1007



#### Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect Biochimica et Biophysica Acta



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/bbagrm

#### Review

#### PNPASE and RNA trafficking into mitochondria $\stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\sim}$

#### Geng Wang <sup>a</sup>, Eriko Shimada <sup>b</sup>, Carla M. Koehler <sup>a,b,\*</sup>, Michael A. Teitell <sup>b,c,d,\*\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry, University of California at Los Angeles, Los Angeles, CA 90095, USA
<sup>b</sup> Molecular Biology Institute, University of California at Los Angeles, Los Angeles, CA 90095, USA

<sup>c</sup> Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, David Geffen School of Medicine at UCLA, Los Angeles, CA 90095, USA

<sup>d</sup> Jonsson Comprehensive Cancer Center, Broad Stem Cell Research Center, and California NanoSystems Institute, University of California at Los Angeles, Los Angeles, CA 90095, USA

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 4 August 2011 Received in revised form 26 September 2011 Accepted 7 October 2011 Available online 13 October 2011

Keywords: Polynucleotide phosphorylase PNPASE PNPT1 Mitochondria RNA trafficking Oxidative phosphorylation

#### ABSTRACT

The mitochondrial genome encodes a very small fraction of the macromolecular components that are required to generate functional mitochondria. Therefore, most components are encoded within the nuclear genome and are imported into mitochondria from the cytosol. Understanding how mitochondria are assembled, function, and dysfunction in diseases requires detailed knowledge of mitochondrial import mechanisms and pathways. The import of nucleus-encoded RNAs is required for mitochondrial biogenesis and function. but unlike pre-protein import, the pathways and cellular machineries of RNA import are poorly defined, especially in mammals. Recent studies have shown that mammalian polynucleotide phosphorylase (PNPASE) localizes in the mitochondrial intermembrane space (IMS) to regulate the import of RNA. The identification of PNPASE as the first component of the RNA import pathway, along with a growing list of nucleusencoded RNAs that are imported and newly developed assay systems for RNA import studies, suggest a unique opportunity is emerging to identify the factors and mechanisms that regulate RNA import into mammalian mitochondria. Here we summarize what is known in this fascinating area of mitochondrial biogenesis, identify areas that require further investigation, and speculate on the impact unraveling RNA import mechanisms and pathways will have for the field going forward. This article is part of a Special Issue entitled: Mitochondrial Gene Expression

© 2011 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

#### 1. Introduction

Mitochondrial biogenesis requires the import of nucleus-encoded macromolecules including proteins and RNAs. Compared to the mitochondrial protein import pathways, which have been well characterized [1-4], the pathways importing RNAs into mammalian mitochondria, and the functions of imported RNAs, are just being discovered. Mitochondrial import of nucleus-encoded RNAs including tRNAs, 5S rRNA, RNase P RNA, and MRP RNA is essential for mitochondrial DNA replication, transcription and translation [3,5-10]. The mitochondrial matrix localization of these small non-coding mammalian RNAs relies on a newly described RNA import regulator, polynucleotide phosphorylase (PNPASE) [11].

PNPASE is a highly conserved 3'-5' exoribonuclease expressed in organisms that include bacteria, plants, flies, mice, and humans, but is absent in fungi, Trypanosoma, and Archaea [12-16]. PNPASE degrades RNA by phosphorolysis and can also function as a template

mteitell@mednet.ucla.edu (M.A. Teitell).

independent polymerase [17-23]. Prokaryotic and plant PNPASE function in RNA quality control through its RNA polymerase and degradation activities [22-26]. However, the search for a specific function for mammalian PNPASE beyond its overall role in maintaining mitochondrial homeostasis has been confounding. This is because PNPASE was localized in the mitochondrial intermembrane space (IMS), which was believed to be devoid of RNA. The discovery that PNPASE regulates the import of selected nucleus-encoded small RNAs into mitochondria marks a turning point in understanding the function of PNPASE. This exciting discovery still leaves open many unanswered questions, including the mechanism(s) and pathway(s) of PNPASEregulated RNA import.

#### 2. PNPT1 expression and PNPASE structure

PNPT1, the gene encoding for PNPASE in humans, was first reported in a screen for upregulated genes in both senescent progeroid fibroblasts and terminally differentiated melanoma cells [27]. The PNPT1 gene is ~60 kb in length, contains 28 exons, and is located at 2p16.1 (UCSC Genome Browser, Assembly GRCh37/hg19, February, 2009). This genomic region shows deletions and amplifications in human B cell lymphoma and in several genetic disorders [28,29]. Relatively little is known about the transcriptional or post-transcriptional regulation of PNPT1 expression. So far, the only known inducers of PNPT1 transcription are

This article is part of a Special Issue entitled: Mitochondrial Gene Expression

Correspondence to: C. M. Koehler, Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry, University of California at Los Angeles, Los Angeles, CA 90095, USA. Tel.: +1 310 794 4834. \* Correspondence to: M. A. Teitell, Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, David Geffen School of Medicine at UCLA, Los Angeles, CA 90095, USA. Tel.: +1 310 206 6754.

E-mail addresses: koehler@chem.ucla.edu (C.M. Koehler),

<sup>1874-9399/\$ -</sup> see front matter © 2011 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.bbagrm.2011.10.001

the type I interferons (IFNs) [13]. Stimulation with IFN $\alpha$  or IFN $\beta$  was shown to activate the Janus-activated kinase (JAK)/signal transducer and activators of transcription (STAT) pathway, causing interferon-stimulated gene factor 3 (ISGF3) to bind to an interferon stimulated response element (ISRE) in the *PNPT1* promoter, inducing gene transcription [13]. The *PNPT1* promoter includes many additional regulatory protein-binding sites, such as a putative site for E2F transcription factor 3 (E2F3), which silences target gene expression during the G<sub>1</sub> to S cell cycle phase transition [13]. Since *PNPT1* expression was originally identified in senescent and terminally differentiated cells that have left the cell cycle, it would be interesting to know whether E2F3 acts as a *PNPT1* repressor and what its role could be in regulating *PNPT1* expression in cycling or senescent mammalian cells.

Whether PNPASE protein expression is regulated by type I IFN induction is still unresolved. From our own studies in mice, PNPASE is strongly expressed in all primary tissues examined including brain, heart, lung, liver, intestine, kidney, thymus, and skeletal muscle (data not shown). In one set of human cell line studies. PNPASE was not detectable without IFNB induction [30,31]. By contrast, other studies showed abundant PNPASE expression in human cell lines under basal conditions [32–34] with IFN $\beta$  exposure failing to induce further expression in some of the lines examined [32,33]. These differing results may reflect species and cell line specific differences or differences in detection reagents and methods employed. Since PNPT1 knockout is embryonic lethal and hepatocytes or mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) devoid of PNPASE expression cannot be propagated [11] it might be that all primary mammalian cell types require some level of PNPASE expression. This is sensible to consider. given the role of PNPASE in maintaining mitochondrial homeostasis and its underlying essential functions in RNA import and processing. What role type I IFN induction plays in PNPASE regulation of mitochondrial physiology is currently unknown. However, Type I IFNs are cytokines released by virally-infected cells that generally result in antiviral and growth inhibitory autocrine and paracrine responses [35]. The recent discovery of the mitochondrial antiviral signaling complex (MAVS, CARDIF) located on the mitochondrial outer membrane (OM), and its interaction with processed viral RNA fragments, suggests that juxtaposed PNPASE could have a RNA processing role in cellular antiviral responses, although there is no evidence for this possibility thus far [36].

PNPASE proteins from different species share five highly conserved sequence and structural motifs (Fig. 1). Two RNase PH domains, which are homologous to the *Escherichia coli* tRNA processing RNase PH enzyme, are located at the PNPASE amino-terminus [14]. An alpha-helical domain unique to PNPASE proteins is located between the two RNase PH domains [20,37]. And KH and S1 RNA binding domains, which are also present in other RNA binding proteins, are located at the PNPASE carboxy-terminus [37–39]. In *E. coli*, PNPASE can exist on its own, it can be bound to the RhIB RNA helicase, or it can participate in a degradosome complex with RNase E, RhIB, and enolase [15,21,40]. Crystallography studies using PNPASE isolated from *Streptomyces* 

antibioticus and from E. coli revealed that three PNPASE monomers form a doughnut-shaped structure through interactions of their catalytic RNase PH domains [37,41]. In such a configuration, the KH and S1 domains of each monomer localize to one face of the doughnut, where they can bind RNA substrates and guide them through the central enzymatic channel in the trimeric complex [37,41]. A cylindrical structure for PNPASE is also possible, in which two trimers stack into a hexameric configuration with an elongated central enzymatic channel. Plant genomes contain two distinct genes that encode for PNPASE, with one gene containing a chloroplast transit peptide and the other gene having a mitochondrial targeting pre-sequence (MTS) [38,42]. In contrast with its bacterial counterpart, chloroplast PNPASE is not known to interact with any other proteins and may instead form a homo-hexameric complex [43]. Isolated human PNPASE is ~260-280 kDa in native gels, also suggesting a homo-trimeric complex [11,32,37,41]. Interestingly, the archaeal and eukaryotic exosomes, which do not contain PNPASE but also function in RNA turnover and surveillance, have a similar trimeric doughnut-shaped quaternary structure [12,20].

#### 3. Subcellular localization of PNPASE

Mammalian PNPASE has an amino-terminal MTS and has been localized to mitochondria in both immunofluorescence and cellfractionation studies [32,44,45]. Since PNPASE processes RNA it was anticipated to reside in the mitochondrial matrix where mtRNA transcription, processing, and translation occur. However, subfractionation and protease-protection assays using isolated mouse liver mitochondria, or yeast mitochondria expressing exogenous human PNPASE, repeatedly showed an unexpected intermembrane space (IMS) localization [11,32]. This result was very surprising because RNAs are not known to reside in the mitochondrial IMS. Carbonate extraction studies further showed that PNPASE is a peripheral inner membrane (IM)-bound protein facing the IMS [32]. To reach its IMS location, PNPASE traffics through the translocase of the outer mitochondrial membrane (TOM) as a precursor, followed by engagement of the translocase of the inner mitochondrial membrane (TIM)-23 complex. These trafficking steps require an intact  $\Delta \Psi$  and are followed by the amino-terminus of PNPASE extending through the TIM23 complex so that the matrix processing peptidase (MPP), consisting of a Mas1/Mas2 heterodimer, can cleave away the 37-residue MTS. Then, the IM-bound i-AAA (ATPases associated with several diverse cellular activities) protease, Yme1, mediates the release of the mature amino-terminal portion of PNPASE into the IMS and functions as a translocation motor to pull the carboxyterminal portion of PNPASE through the TOM complex into the IMS [44] (Fig. 2). IMS-imported and processed PNPASE then assembles into a functional homo-oligomeric complex, consisting of a trimer or a dimer of trimers [44].

The IMS localization of mammalian PNPASE is highly reproducible. However, whether all PNPASE localizes exclusively in the IMS of mammalian mitochondria is controversial. Over-expressed PNPASE



Fig. 1. PNPASE structural domains are conserved between species. PNPASEs contain two RNase PH domains that are homologous to the bacterial tRNA processing enzyme, RNase PH, and these domains catalyze RNA degradation. The alpha helical domain (H) is unique to PNPASE, and the KH and S1 domain at the C terminus bind RNA. In contrast to bacteria and other mammals, plants express two forms of PNPASE, one with a chloroplast transit peptide (cTP) and the other with a mitochondrial targeting sequence (MTS). Adapted and reprinted with permission from Chen, et al., Trends in cell biology 17 (2007) 600–608.





Fig. 2. Mammalian PNPASE is imported into the mitochondrial IMS via a Yme1-dependent mechanism. After passing through the TOM complex at the OM, the PNPASE aminoterminus extends through the TIM23 complex at the IM into the matrix, where the 37 amino-acid MTS is removed by the matrix-processing peptidase (MPP). Mas1/Mas2. The mature amino-terminus is then released into the IMS with the help of IM-localized Yme1 i-AAA protease, which also helps to reel the remaining portion of PNPASE into the IMS from the cytosol. Mature, processed PNPASE then assembles into a homo-oligomeric complex, consisting of a trimer or a dimer of trimers attached to the IM Sci.

with a carboxy-terminal HA-tag was detected in the cytosol of the HO-1 melanoma cell line [31]. PNPASE has also been reported as an interacting partner for TCL1, a cytosol-localized nonenzymatic onco-protein that promotes B- and T-cell malignancies, and as a weak bind-ing partner for hSUV3, a mitochondrial matrix RNA helicase [46,47]. These extra-IMS locations, however, could be cell-type specific, condition-specific, or experimental artifact. For example, terminal differentiation, cellular senescence, or apoptosis could alter the distribution of PNPASE in a cell. Over-expression studies can also lead to the accumulation of proteins in locations that are normally devoid of them. Finally, the solubilization step used to identify interacting proteins compartments of a cell.

#### 4. The maintenance of mitochondrial homeostasis by PNPASE

The effect of reduced PNPASE expression on mitochondrial structure and function has been well studied using shRNA approaches. In a variety of mammalian cell types PNPASE expression above a critical threshold is required for mitochondrial homeostasis. Conversely, a reduction in PNPASE expression that fails to reach a critical knockdown threshold results in no observable changes in mitochondrial morphology or function [11,32,48]. PNPASE reduction to ~20–30% or less of the wild-type expression level caused filamentous mitochondrial networks to fragment with a drop in  $\Delta\Psi$  and a 2-fold or greater reduction in the activities of linked respiratory chain complexes I and III, II and III, or individual complexes IV and V [32]. These data indicate that PNPASE expression is required for efficient oxidative phosphorylation. PNPASE deficiency also leads to cellular changes secondary to mitochondrial dysfunction that include lactate accumulation, reduction in steady state ATP levels, and reduced cell proliferation [32].

*Pnpt1* knockout mice have been generated. A whole-animal *Pnpt1* knockout was embryonic lethal, indicating an essential role for PNPASE in early mammalian development [11]. By contrast, a liver-specific conditional *Pnpt1* knockout (HepKO, for hepatocyte knockout) was viable. The HepKO mouse was generated using albumin-CRE recombinate to excise *loxP* recombination sites that were inserted

flanking exon 2 of *Pnpt1*. A 2 to 4-fold PNPASE reduction in HepKO liver cells was achieved at ~6 to 8 weeks of age followed by a rebound in PNPASE expression thereafter, likely due to incomplete *Pnpt1* knockout from CRE recombinase-mediated excision and liver regeneration from hepatocytes still expressing *Pnpt1* [11]. Transmission electron microscopy of HepKO liver cells showed disordered, circular, and smooth IM cristae in contrast to the ordered, linear, stacked cristae with convolutions exhibited by wild-type control liver mitochondria. Oxygen consumption studies with a Clark-type electrode also revealed a 1.5 to 2-fold decrease in the activity of respiratory complex IV and complexes II + III + IV. These ultrastructure and functional results validate a role for PNPASE in maintaining mitochondrial homesostasis in a physiological, in vivo setting.

In addition to PNPASE loss-of-function studies, gain-of-function studies, despite the risk for aberrant PNPASE localization, also seem to support a role for PNPASE in mitochondrial homeostasis. PNPASE over-expression results in increased reactive oxygen species (ROS) accumulation over time, which subsequently leads to NF-kB activation and an increase in NF-kB-regulated pro-inflammatory cytokines, including IL-6, IL-8, RANTES, and MMP-3 [49,50]. The mechanism of ROS accumulation with PNPASE over-expression is unclear, although most ROS is produced within mitochondria as a result of respiratory chain activities [51–53]. PNPASE reduction inhibits respiratory chain production, respiratory complex activities, and oxygen consumption [11,32]. Excess PNPASE could have the opposite effect, with increased respiratory activity and mitochondrial ROS production, although this idea requires experimental validation.

#### 5. PNPASE, mtRNA processing, and RNA import into mitochondria

A reduction in respiration and the synthesis of mitochondrionencoded proteins of the respiratory chain in HepKO liver cells compared to wild-type controls led to studies of PNPASE in mtRNA transcription and translation. HepKO liver cells showed a surprising reduction in mature mtRNA transcripts and encoded proteins, directly related to deficient mtRNA processing [11]. All of the mammalian mtRNA processing molecules are encoded in the nuclear genome and synthesized either in the nucleus (RNAs) or cytosol (proteins), followed by import into mitochondria [10,53–56]. PNPASE deficiency had no significant effect on the mitochondrial import of nucleus-encoded proteins [11]. By contrast, HepKO liver cells showed a significant reduction in the RNA component of the RNase P mtRNA processing complex. The reduction in *RNase P* RNA was not from increased degradation, indicating instead a defect in *RNase P* RNA import with PNPASE deficiency [11]. Studies using a variety of in vitro and in vivo experimental systems have now demonstrated a direct role for PNPASE in regulating the import of multiple non-coding RNAs into mitochondria. The RNA import function of PNPASE is separable from its RNA-processing function, as an engineered point mutation that cripples its RNA-processing activity has no effect on RNA RNA import into mitochondria [11].

The molecular mechanism by which PNPASE distinguishes RNAs for processing versus those for import remains to be clarified. PNPASE recognizes an RNA stem–loop structure in some and perhaps all of the RNAs it helps to import [11]. It is not known whether mammalian PNPASE binds RNA stem–loop structures with its KH/S1 RNA binding domain in distinct ways to either trigger RNA import or processing. RNA structural elements regulate PNPASE functions in chloroplasts and prokaryotes and a stem–loop structure protects RNAs from degradation by chloroplast PNPASE [23,57,58]. It would be of great interest to determine whether mammalian PNPASE functions in a similar manner.

#### 5.1. RNAs imported into mitochondria

Most non-coding RNAs that function in mitochondria are encoded within the mtDNA [59]. On one end of the spectrum, the mtDNA of land plants and protists, such as *Chlamydomonas*, *Paramecium*, and *Tetrahymena* lack one or a few tRNAs that are required to translate mtRNA. At the other extreme, the trypanosomatid protozoa lack all of the mitochondrial tRNA genes. And for *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and *Marchantia polymorpha*, the mtDNA encodes a set of tRNAs that is sufficient for translating all mtRNA codons, but nucleus-encoded tRNAs are nevertheless imported for unknown reasons [60,61]. Mammalian mitochondria do not import tRNAs, except maybe the nucleus-encoded *tRNA<sub>CUG</sub>* <sup>Gin</sup> and *tRNA<sub>UUG</sub>* <sup>Gin</sup>. Additional nucleusencoded small RNA molecules are also present in mammalian mitochondria [54,62–65].

Early studies on tRNA import into mitochondria have shown that it is a selective process, with the selectivity determined by specific tRNA structural or sequence motifs [66]. RNA import is ATPdependent and involves protease-sensitive receptors at the mitochondrial OM. Thus far, two main general mechanisms for tRNA import into mitochondria have been identified. One mechanism is similar to protein import and is used by yeast to import  $tRNA^{Lys}_{min}$ (Fig. 3) [67.68]. This tRNA import mechanism requires an intact  $\Delta \Psi$ and utilizes the protein import pathway. An association with the precursor mitochondrial tRNA synthetase and aminoacylation of the tRNA by the cognate cytosolic synthetase are also required for import. In addition, the metabolic enzyme enolase helps to deliver a tRNA/ synthetase complex to the import machinery [69-71]. A second mechanism is independent of the protein import pathway and does not require cytosolic factors even though they may still have an influence when present (Fig. 3) [72]. This additional mechanism has been identified in most organisms that import tRNA into mitochondria including yeast [66,73], but this import pathway is less well defined. The OM voltage-dependent anion channel (VDAC) has an essential role for tRNA import in plants in vitro, but a homologous protein is dispensable for tRNA import in the protozoan, Trypanosoma brucei (Fig. 3) [74,75]. For Trypanosoma brucei, elongation factor 1a (eEF1a) mediates mitochondrial tRNA import (Fig. 3) [76].

RNase MRP is a site-specific endoribonuclease. It was originally isolated from mouse mitochondria and in vitro shows activity in processing mtRNA transcripts to form primers complementary to the mtDNA origin of replication [65]. RNase MRP has a nucleus-encoded RNA component that contains a decamer sequence complementary to a conserved region of mtRNA substrates [65]. Most RNase MRP, however, resides in the nucleus [77,78]. In *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, nuclear RNase MRP processes rRNA precursors to generate the mature 5.8S rRNA [79–82]. During mitosis in *S. cerevisiae*, nuclear RNase MRP is transiently relocated to temporal asymmetric MRP (TAM) bodies in the cytosol, where it cleaves the mRNA for a B-type



Fig. 3. Routes of mitochondrial tRNA import. Two mitochondrial tRNA import mechanisms have been reported. Shown on the far left is a tRNA import that utilizes the protein import pathway, including the TOM complex at the OM and the TIM23 complex at the IM. The imported tRNA is delivered to the mitochondrial OM bound to pre-mitochondrial lysyl tRNA synthetase (pre-mitolysRS) and enolase after aminoacylation by its cognate cytosolic synthetase. Enolase dissociates at the surface of mitochondria and the remainder of the protein-tRNA complex is imported together into the matrix. Thus far, this mechanism has only been described for the import of  $RNA_{CUU}^{LVS}$  into yeast mitochondria. A second mechanism has been reported in organisms-ranging from kinetoplastids to human that does not depend on the protein import pathway. Different factors have been identified in this pathway that are organism-specific, including the VDAC channel in the OM for plants and the translation elongation factor, eEF1a, for *T. brucei*.

cyclin, Clb2, to promote the end of mitosis [82,83]. The *S. cerevisiae* mitochondrial and nuclear RNase MRP have identical RNA components but contain distinct protein components and show differing enzymatic activities [84].

Another nucleus-encoded RNA that is imported into mammalian mitochondria is the RNA component of RNase P [10,54]. RNase P is an endoribonuclease that processes the 5' end of mitochondrial tRNAs [10]. The mammalian mitochondrial genome consists of a circular chromosome with tightly packed genes. Large polycistronic RNA transcripts are generated from the heavy and light strand promoters. tRNAs often separate the coding regions for electron transport chain complex subunits and, unlike nucleus-encoded tRNA precursors, do not have individual 3' or 5' pre-sequences [53,85]. In most arrangements, multiple tRNAs are grouped together without an intervening pre-sequence in the polycistronic transcripts. The processing of polycistronic transcripts to individual mtRNAs and mature tRNAs requires RNase P enzymatic activities. Earlier studies showed that the RNA component of RNase P was imported into mammalian mitochondria and was identical to the RNA component of nuclear RNase P [10,54]. By contrast, the RNA component of mitochondrial RNase P in S. cerevisiae is encoded within its mtDNA [86]. Recently, a functional protein-only mitochondrial RNase P enzyme was isolated from human mitochondria. This alternative mitochondrial RNase P has three protein subunits and processes single tRNA precursors with artificial 5' pre-sequences in vitro [56]. It remains to be determined whether the protein only mitochondrial RNase P can efficiently process physiological mitochondrial tRNA substrates, especially those that are sequentially linked in polycistronic transcripts with no intervening pre-sequences. Interestingly, a tRNA processing assay using mitoplast lysate with or without nuclease pre-treatment to eliminate RNA showed that an RNA component or components are required for efficient processing of abutting tRNA precursors, further confirming the existence of a RNA-containing mitochondrial RNase P complex [11]. Most likely, protein-only and RNA-containing RNase P complexes coexist in mammalian mitochondria.

The nucleus-encoded 5S rRNA was localized within mammalian mitochondria [64,87]. The 5S rRNA is the most abundant imported mammalian RNA and an essential ribosome component in almost all living organisms, providing regulatory interactions among most functional sites within the translating ribosomal machinery [88]. Although 5S rRNA has been detected in most non-mammalian organisms, the exact function of 5S rRNA inside mitochondria is still unresolved [89]. Recent studies suggest that 5S rRNA is a component of the mitochondrial ribosome, but based on prior structural analysis of the mitochondrial ribosome its role could be very different from its cytosolic counterpart [7,89,90].

There are also recent reports suggesting that specific microRNAs (miRNAs) localize inside mitochondria [63]. miRNAs are a class of small (~22 ribonucleotide) non-coding RNAs that regulate gene expression post-transcriptionally by binding to imperfectly or perfectly matched complementary sequences at the 3' end of target mRNAs, usually resulting in translational repression or transcript degradation and gene silencing [91,92]. They are present in almost all eukaryotes except fungi, algae, and marine plants, and are all nucleus-encoded [93]. The human nuclear genome is estimated to encode for over 1000 miRNAs. Fifteen miRNAs were identified in rat liver mitochondria and five of these were confirmed using specific probes [63]. Based on target analysis using sequence algorithms, such as Miranda and TargetScan, it appears that the miRNAs neither target mtRNA transcripts nor complement the nuclear RNAs that encode imported mitochondrial proteins, but instead seem to be involved in the regulation of genes associated with apoptosis, cell proliferation, and differentiation [63,94]. Hence, it was proposed that mitochondria might serve as reservoirs for specific miRNAs that modulate these cellular processes. Most recently, miRNAs along with Argonaute 2, a component of the RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC), were coimmunoprecipitated with the COX3 mtRNA transcript, suggesting that miRNA-mediated translational regulation could also occur in mammalian mitochondria [95]. Whether miRNAs localize in mitochondria is still under debate. A recent study showed that the enrichment of some miRNAs in mitochondria disappeared once mitoplast procedures were performed [96], suggesting that these miRNAs could be low level contaminants, or more interestingly, could be associated with the outer membrane or localized inside the IMS.

A virally-encoded RNA was also suggested to be translocated into mammalian mitochondria. The 2.7-kb cytomegalovirus (CMV)encoded  $\beta$ 2.7 RNA targets the Grim-19 (NDUFA13) protein of complex I in the electron transport chain [94]. CMV  $\beta 2.7$  RNA associates with Grim-19 to maintain mitochondrial function in support of viral replication. Interestingly, the mitochondrial OM protein MAVS is activated by viral RNA binding and functions to protect cells from infection by inducing a type I IFN anti-viral response [36,97]. At present, whether viral RNAs are localized inside mitochondria has not been firmly established. Candidate viral RNAs could associate with the cvtosolic precursor of proteins rather than the mature mitochondrionlocalized proteins. If mitochondrial localization indeed occurs, nothing is known about the mechanism(s) of viral RNA import or the mechanism(s) for providing processed viral RNA fragments to MAVS. An interesting candidate for mechanistic studies is PNPASE, as it processes RNA, is localized in the IMS, and its expression may be regulated in concert with both Grim-19 and MAVS, as all 3 genes appear to be induced by type 1 interferons [13,32].

#### 5.2. tRNA import into yeast and mammalian mitochondria

As already mentioned, nucleus-encoded *tRNA*<sup>Lys</sup><sub>CUU</sub> is imported into isolated yeast mitochondria in vitro [67,68] with tRNA synthetase binding, aminoacylation [69,70] and help from cytosolic enolase [71]. This import utilizes the TOM and TIM23 translocons and requires ATP and an intact  $\Delta \Psi$ , similar to protein translocation [98]. The yeast tRNA import pathway appears conserved in mammalian systems because isolated mitochondria from HeLa or HepG2 cells can be substituted for yeast mitochondria [68], and yeast cytosolic import factors remain essential for the process. However, studies addressing whether human cytosolic import factors were able to replace yeast cytosolic factors yielded conflicting results [68]. It is not known whether nucleus-encoded mammalian tRNA<sup>Lys</sup> can be imported into yeast or mammalian mitochondria under the same conditions. The in vitro transcribed mitochondrion-encoded tRNA<sup>Lys</sup>, however, was imported into isolated human mitochondria. In this case, human cytosolic factors were essential for import and could not be replaced by yeast cytosolic factors [64]. In vivo, yeast tRNA<sup>Lys</sup> derivatives can also be imported into mammalian mitochondria and rescue defects caused by mitochondrial tRNA<sup>Lys</sup> mutations [99].

Yeast *tRNA<sup>Cln</sup>* is also imported into isolated yeast mitochondria without requiring added cytosolic factors [100]. Recently, mammalian mitochondria were shown to import nucleus-encoded mammalian *tRNA<sup>Cln</sup>*<sub>CG</sub> and *tRNA<sup>Cln</sup>*<sub>CG</sub> [62]. Both *tRNA<sup>Cln</sup>*<sub>CG</sub> and *tRNA<sup>Cln</sup>*<sub>CW</sub> were also identified in mitochondria isolated from human and rat liver using subcellular fractionation and RT-PCR [62], providing in vivo relevance. These tRNAs were also imported into isolated mammalian mitochondria independent of added cytosolic factors. Import required ATP but not an intact  $\Delta \Psi$  [62].

#### 5.3. RNA import mechanisms

In vitro and in vivo assay systems were developed to study the function of PNPASE in mitochondrial RNA import because the RNA component of RNase P was markedly decreased in PNPASE deficient cells [11]. Systems to test import included (1) liver mitochondria isolated from HepKO mice, (2) MEFs isolated from *Pnpt1 loxP*-flanked mice infected with a CMV-CRE recombinase-expressing retrovirus to

reduce PNPASE expression, and (3) several mammalian cell lines containing shRNAs targeting *Pnpt1* transcripts [11]. In these assay systems, the import of *RNase P* RNA into mitochondria correlated with PNPASE abundance. Additional nucleus-encoded RNAs, such as *MRP* RNA and *5S* rRNA, that also localize to mitochondria also showed PNPASE-dependent import in these assay systems. Yeast mitochondria were also tested since the RNA component of RNase P is encoded within the yeast mitochondrial genome. Heterologous expression of PNPASE supported the import of *RNase P* RNA into yeast mitochondria, suggesting that general mechanisms and/or features of the RNA import pathway are conserved in yeast, rodents, and humans [11].

A physical interaction between RNase P RNA with PNPASE adds support for a direct PNPASE import mechanism and suggests that PNPASE may function as a RNA import receptor in the IMS. RNase P RNA has mitochondrial targeting features. A systematic dissection identified a 20-ribonucleotide sequence that was essential for in vitro import of human RNase P RNA [11]. When appended to a nonmitochondrial RNA, this core sequence targeted the non-mitochondrial RNA to the mitochondrion and PNPASE bound directly to the fusion transcript. Interestingly, the identified import sequence is predicted to form a stem-loop structure. A ~20 ribonucleotide non-identical sequence was identified in MRP RNA that was predicted to form a stem-loop structure. This MRP RNA sequence could also direct nonmitochondrial RNA import when placed into chimeric fusion transcripts. Thus, a common theme for imported RNAs may be the formation of a stem-loop that facilitates PNPASE binding without activating its RNA processing functions. Currently, there are no reports on the mechanism(s) for miRNA import into mitochondria.

Components of the import pathway for 5S rRNA into mammalian mitochondria have been described. Basic requirements include ATP, an intact  $\Delta\Psi$ , the protein translocases, and cytosolic factors [62]. The cytosolic factors include the cytosolic precursor of the mitochondrial tibosomal protein L-18 (MRP-L18) [7] and the mitochondrial thiosulfate sulfurtransferase, rhodanese [101]. MRP-L18 first binds to the 5S rRNA, inducing a conformational change. Misfolded rhodanese then binds to the 5S rRNA and the combination acts as reciprocal chaperones to facilitate import [101]. Inhibition of rhodanese expression decreased 5S rRNA import and mitochondrial translation in vivo

[101]. Two distinct structural elements of 5S rRNA are required for its mitochondrial import. One is in the proximal part of helix 1 containing a conserved uncompensated G:U pair, and the second is associated with the loop E-helix IV region with several non-canonical structural features [87,102]. Whereas PNPASE-dependent import did not seem to require cytosolic proteins, the import efficiency seems more robust with cytosolic factors, suggesting that multiple import pathways may be used for 5S rRNA import.

#### 5.4. The mechanism of PNPASE-dependent RNA import into mitochondria

For the import of nucleus-encoded mammalian *tRNA*<sup>Gln</sup><sub>CUG</sub> and *tRNA*-UUG<sup>Gln</sup>, ATP is required, but unlike the import of yeast tRNA<sup>Lys</sup> and 5S rRNA, import into mammalian mitochondria does not require an intact  $\Delta \Psi$  or cytosolic factors [62]. Interestingly, PNPASE enhances RNA import in yeast, which does not have a PNPASE homolog, indicating that PNPASE can augment a distinct RNA import mechanism directly or independently [11]. An intact  $\Delta \Psi$  is required for PNPASEdependent import of RNase P RNA and no cytosolic factors are required (Fig. 4) [11]. In mammalian cells PNPASE expression is required for cell survival, so how essential PNPASE is for RNA import remains unclear. Also, it is not known whether there are PNPASE dependent and independent mitochondrial RNA import mechanisms in mammals, as may be the case in PNPASE-modified yeast. Identification of additional RNA import pathway components, including OM and IM channels, is essential to dissect mechanisms of RNA import into mammalian mitochondria.

Although PNPASE RNA degradation and mitochondrial RNA import activities are separable [11], it is not known whether PNPASE has a gatekeeper function for RNA import, degrading misplaced RNAs in the IMS. A stem–loop structure protects RNA from degradation by PNPASE in chloroplasts and stem–loop sequences in human *RNase P* and *MRP* RNAs could have a similar role, protecting these RNAs from PNPASE degradation during import [23,57]. This speculated gatekeeper function could be a differential property of mammalian PNPASE in comparison to its bacterial and chloroplast counterparts. Recombinant mammalian PNPASE does not preferentially bind poly(A) containing RNAs, consistent with data that PNPASE also has a



Fig. 4. PNPASE regulates the import of nucleus-encoded small RNAs including RNase P RNA, MRP RNA, and 55 rRNA into the mitochondrial matrix. PNPASE promotes the import of RNAs from the cytosol into the matrix by binding to specific stem–loop motifs in the imported RNAs. Imported non-coding RNAs function in mitochondrial replication, transcription, and translation. The mitochondrial translation products are components of the oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) complexes I–IV.

lower poly(A) polymerase activity than its *E. coli* counterpart. Poly(A) polymerization activity depends on the concentration of ADP, which is significantly lower in the IMS compared to the matrix [103]. It would be interesting to know whether PNPASE degradation activity is regulated by pH, as the mitochondrial IMS has a redox buffering system and lower pH than the matrix.

#### 5.5. Mammalian PNPASE and mtRNA processing

In mammalian mitochondria, RNA editing is a critical step in gene expression. Large polycistronic RNA transcripts are generated from the heavy and light strand promoters [85]. RNA cleavage occurs at the 3' and 5' ends of the tRNAs that intervene between RNA coding genes, followed by polyadenylation of mtRNAs [104–106]. For several mitochondrial genes with a partial U or UA stop codon, the polyadenylation also has an additional role in enhancing mtRNA stability is still debated. Detection and isolation of truncated, non-abundant, polyadenylated mitochondrial RNAs suggests that polyadenylation could occur with RNA transcripts destined for degradation, whereas another study shows deadenylation sometimes leads to quick decay of certain mutant transcripts [107,108].

In bacteria, organelles, and some eukaryotes, polyadenylation is catalyzed by one of the poly(A) polymerases (PAPs) or PNPASE [109]. Previously, it was proposed that mammalian PNPASE could act as a mtRNA poly(A) polymerase and also degrade polyadenylated mtRNAs because it exhibits both polymerization and RNA degradation biochemical activities [103]. However, the IMS location of mammalian PNPASE potentially excludes a direct role in these processes, although an indirect effect on mtRNA processing may be possible [32]. shRNA against PNPT1 altered mtRNA polyadenylation without changing the mtRNA abundance [32,48,110]. In other studies, shRNA against PNPT1 affected polyadenylation to different extents for different mtRNAs. For example, 5' processing of COX1 mtRNA was defective and its poly(A) tail was abolished [110]. By contrast, PNPASE knockdown had no effect on COX3 polyadenylation and even led to longer poly(A) tail extensions for ND5 and ND3 mtRNAs [110]. Whether PNPASE regulates mtRNA polyadenylation by changing mitochondrial ATP concentrations is also unclear. Transient PNPT1 shRNA knockdown caused a decrease in cellular ATP, which could alter mtRNA poly(A) tail lengths [48,110]. However, stable PNPT1 shRNA knockdown showed inconsistent effects, with ATP levels decreased, slightly increased, or unaffected in different cell clones, all of which showed similar defects in mtRNA polvadenvlation [110]. Also, the effect that PNPT1 knockdown and ATP depletion had on mtRNA poly(A) tail lengths appears distinct, with the latter causing a decrease in poly(A) tail lengths in ND3 and ND5 mtRNA transcripts compared to an increase in poly(A) tail lengths by PNPT1 knockdown [110]. Other work showed that the human mitochondrial matrix protein hSUV3 regulates mtRNA stability and the removal of non-coding processing intermediates. PNPASE was reported to interact with hSUV3, but this would place PNPASE in the mitochondrial matrix [47]. Even though it is impossible to rule out a small fraction of PNPASE in the matrix, an equally plausible explanation for this interaction between hSUV3 and PNPASE is that it occurs during the solubilization step in co-immunoprecipitation assays. In fact, human mtPAP has been shown to polyadenylate the mature 3' ends of mtRNAs [48,111].

How mammalian PNPASE affects mtRNA processing is not resolved. PNPASE regulates the import of nucleus-encoded small RNAs including *RNase P* and *MRP* RNAs [11]. RNase P processes mitochondrial tRNAs and PNPASE knockdown results in the accumulation of partially processed polycistronic mtRNA transcripts, indicating a defect in cleaving polycistronic transcripts into individual coding RNAs, rRNAs, and tRNAs [11]. Interference of this early processing step could inhibit later processing steps, such as mature transcript polyadenylation and degradation. The polycistronic transcript cleavage sites are unique and could require different processing mechanisms, so that defective RNA import could cause variable defects in generating mature transcripts [85].

#### 6. Future directions and concluding remarks

Thus far, PNPASE has been identified as an IMS localized protein that directly regulates RNA import into mammalian mitochondria. The remaining components of this and potentially additional mammalian RNA import pathways, however, remain unknown. The in vivo and in vitro import assay systems established for PNPASE studies provide tools for identifying and dissecting additional import components and mechanisms [11]. Importantly, even though *S. cerevisiae* does not have a PNPASE homolog, heterologous PNPASE expression enhances the import of RNA in vivo and in vitro, suggesting the import pathways in mammalian cells and *S. cerevisiae* are compatible, which may provide a system where yeast genetic approaches can be employed.

A second area of potential significance is in the identification of additional imported RNA species and the elucidation of their functions inside mitochondria. So far, mammalian mitochondria have been shown to import *RNase P* RNA, *MRP* RNA, *SS* rRNA, CMV  $\beta$ 2.7 viral RNA, several tRNAs, and a few miRNAs. It is likely that additional nucleus-encoded RNAs, and possibly more viral RNAs, will be identified inside mitochondria. Knowledge of the range of mitochondrial RNA import signals will provide clues as to which RNAs are potential candidates for import. New assay systems may also be required to unravel the functions of imported RNAs.

A fundamental question in considering RNA import into mammalian mitochondria also remains to be addressed. Are there distinct pathways, even PNPASE-dependent and independent pathways, or is there one major import pathway with different RNA substrates requiring similar or distinct accessory factors? In fact, a few features seem to converge in all systems studied to date. ATP seems to be universally required for RNA import and import appears to depend on one or more OM factor(s). So far, it is still unknown whether mammalian PNPASE is involved in tRNA import into mitochondria.

The function(s) of PNPASE in the mitochondrial IMS is still not fully understood. One remaining challenge is to understand a role for its biochemically demonstrated RNA degradation activity. PNPASE degradation and import activities are separable. More work is required to determine whether PNPASE RNA degradation activity plays a role in RNA import, such as a gate-keeper for import or a waste-disposal shunt. Also, what role, if any, PNPASE has in responding to infection and the localization of viral RNA in the IMS remains to be elucidated.

In addition, there are possible roles for mammalian PNPASE in cellular locations other than the IMS. For example, PNPASE has been shown to be released from the IMS into the cytosol late, hours after apoptosis induction and caspase activation [32]. Could PNPASE participate in degrading cytosolic RNAs in cells committed to death? Also, PNPASE may participate in antiviral responses; does type I IFNinduced *PNPT1* expression produce additional PNPASE and, if so, does all the increased PNPASE traffic to the mitochondrial IMS? With the nearby MAVS complex on the OM, does PNPASE process IMS localized viral RNAs and, if so, what is its role in delivery to MAVS? Finally, new approaches will be required to determine unequivocally whether small amounts of endogenous mammalian PNPASE localize into the mitochondrial matrix, and, if so, what may be the functional consequences.

In addition to potential significance in viral infection and cell death, the RNA import function of mammalian PNPASE may be manipulated to correct mitochondrial dysfunction. mtDNA mutations have been linked to multiple human neuromuscular diseases [112– 114]. Aging is also associated with the accumulation of mtDNA G. Wang et al. / Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1819 (2012) 998-1007

- [44] R.N. Rainey, J.D. Glavin, H.W. Chen, S.W. French, M.A. Teitell, C.M. Koehler, A new function in translocation for the mitochondrial i-AAA protease Yme1: import of polynucleotide phosphorylase into the intermembrane space, Mol. Cell. Biol. 26 2006) 8488-8497
- [45] J. Piwowarski, P. Grzechnik, A. Dziembowski, A. Dmochowska, M. Minczuk, P.P. Stepien, Human polynucleotide phosphorylase, hPNPase, is localized in mito-chondria, J. Mol. Biol. 329 (2003) 853–857.
   S.W. French, D.W. Dawson, H.W. Chen, R.N. Rainey, S.A. Sievers, C.E. Balatoni, L.
- Wong, J.J. Troke, M.T. Nguyen, C.M. Koehler, M.A. Teitell, The TCL1 oncoprotein binds the RNase PH domains of the PNPase exoribonuclease without affecting
- [47] D.D. Wang, Z. Shu, S.A. Lieser, P.L. Chen, W.H. Lee, Human mitochondrial SUV3 and polynucleotide phosphorylase form a 330-kDa heteropentamer to cooperatively degrade double-stranded RNA with a 3'-to-5' directionality, J. Biol. Chem. [48] T. Nagaike, T. Suzuki, T. Katoh, T. Ueda, Human mitochondrial mRNAs are stabilized
- [46] I. Nagaike, I. Suzuki, I. Katon, I. Ceda, Human Minochana mixers are stabilized with polyadenylation regulated by mitochondria-specific poly(A) polymerase and polynucleotide phosphorylase, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (2005) 1972 1–19727.
   [49] D. Sarkar, I.V. Lebedeva, L. Emdad, D.C. Kang, A.S. Baldwin Jr., P.B. Fisher, Human polynucleotide phosphorylase (hPNPasedel-35): a potential link between aging and inflammation, Cancer Res. 64 (2004) 7473–7478.
- [50] D. Sarkar, P.B. Fisher, Molecular mechanisms of aging-associated inflammation, Cancer Lett. 236 (2006) 13–23. [51] T. Finkel, N.J. Holbrook, Oxidants, oxidative stress and the biology of ageing, Nature
- 408 (2000) 239-247 [52] V. Adam-Vizi, C. Chinopoulos, Bioenergetics and the formation of mitochondrial
- [52] V. Adam-Vizi, C. Chindpoulos, Biolenegeucs and the formation of minaton of respiration and reduction of yeast life span. Mol. Cell. Biol. 26 (2006) 4818–4829.
   [54] R.S. Puranam, G. Attardi, The RNase P associated with HeLa cell mitochondria
- contains an essential RNA component identical in sequence to that of the nuclear RNase P, Mol. Cell. Biol. 21 (2001) 548–561.
   O. Esakova, A.S. Krasilnikov, Of proteins and RNA: the RNase P/MRP family, RNA
- 16 (2010) 1725-1747.
  [56] J. Holzmann, P. Frank, E. Loffler, K.L. Bennett, C. Gerner, W. Rossmanith, RNase P without RNA: identification and functional reconstitution of the human mito-
- chondrial tRNA processing enzyme, Cell 135 (2008) 462–474. I. Lisitsky, P. Klaff, G. Schuster, Addition of destabilizing poly (A)-rich sequen
- to endonuclease cleavage sites during the degradation of chloroplast mRNA, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 93 (1996) 13398–13403.
   [58] S. Yehudai-Resheff, G. Schuster, Characterization of the *E. coli* poly(A) polymerase:
- nucleotide specificity, RNA-binding affinities and RNA structure dependence, Nucleic Acids Res. 28 (2000) 1139–1144.
   [59] N.S. Entelis, O.A. Kolesnikova, R.P. Martin, I.A. Tarassov, RNA delivery into mito-
- chondria, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 49 (2001) 199–215. [60] R.P. Martin, J.M. Schneller, A.J. Stahl, G. Dirheimer, Import of nuclear deoxyribo nucleic acid coded lysine-accepting transfer ribonucleic acid (anticodon C-U-U) into yeast mitochondria, Biochemistry 18 (1979) 4600–4605. [61] K. Akashi, M. Takenaka, S. Yamaoka, Y. Suyama, H. Fukuzawa, K. Ohyama, Coexistence
- of nuclear DNA-encoded tRNAVal(AAC) and mitochondrial DNA-encoded tRNAVal(UAC) in mitochondria of a liverwort Marchantia polymorpha, Nucleic Acids Res. 26 1998) 2168-2172.
- [62] M.A. Rubio, J.J. Rinehart, B. Krett, S. Duvezin-Caubet, A.S. Reichert, D. Soll, I.D. Alfonzo, Mammalian mitochondria have the innate ability to import tRNAs by a mechanism distinct from protein import, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 105 (2008) 9186-9191.
- [63] B.T. Kren, P.Y. Wong, A. Sarver, X. Zhang, Y. Zeng, C.J. Steer, MicroRNAs identified in highly purified liver-derived mitochondria may play a role in apoptosis, RNA Biol. 6 (2009) 65-72.
- N.S. Entelis, O.A. Kolesnikova, S. Dogan, R.P. Martin, I.A. Tarassov, 5 S rRNA and [64] Rev Enters and Reveal and State a
- and contains a decamer sequence complementary to a conserved region of mi-tochondrial RNA substrate, Cell 56 (1989) 131–139.
- tochondrial RNA substrate, Cell 56 (1989) 131–139.
  [66] T. Salinas, A.M. Duchene, L. Marechal-Drouard, Recent advances in tRNA mitochondrial import, Trends Biochem. Sci. 33 (2008) 320–329.
  [67] I. Tarassov, N. Entelis, R.P. Martin, Mitochondrial import of a cytoplasmic lysine-tRNA in yeast is mediated by cooperation of cytoplasmic and mitochondrial lysyl-tRNA synthetases, EMBO J. 14 (1995) 3461–3471.
  [68] O.A. Kolesnikova, N.S. Entelis, H. Mireau, T.D. Fox, R.P. Martin, I.A. Tarassov, Suppression of mutations in mitochondrial DNA by tRNAs imported from the cytoplasm, Science 289 (2000) 1931–1933.
  [60] N.S. Entelis, I.A. Mireau, P. Martin, I.A. Tarassov, Mitochondrial Import.
- [69] N.S. Entelis, I.A. Krasheninnikov, R.P. Martin, I.A. Tarassov, Mitochondrial import of a yeast cytoplasmic tRNA (Lys): possible roles of aminocylation and modi-fied nucleosides in subcellular partitioning, FEBS Lett. 384 (1996) 38–42.
- [70] U.K. Schmitz, D.M. Lonsdale, A yeast mitochondrial presequence functions as a signal for targeting to plant mitochondria in vivo, Plant cell 1 (1989) 783–791.
- [71] I. Brandina, J. Graham, C. Lemaitre-Guillier, N. Entelis, I. Krasheninnikov, L. [71] I. Brandina, J. Graham, C. Lemaitre-Guillier, N. Entelis, I. Krasheninnikov, L. Sweetlove, I. Tarassov, R.P. Martin, Enolase takes part in a macromolecular complex associated to mitochondria in yeast, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1757 (2006) 1217–1228.
   [72] J.D. Alfonzo, D. Soll, Mitochondrial tRNA import—the challenge to understand has just begun, Biol. Chem. 390 (2009) 717–722.
   [73] A. Schneider, L. Marechal-Drouard, Mitochondrial tRNA import: are there distinct the service of the servi
- mechanisms? Trends Cell Biol. 10 (2000) 509-513

- [74] T. Salinas, A.M. Duchene, L. Delage, S. Nilsson, E. Glaser, M. Zaepfel, L. Marechal--Drouard, The voltage-dependent anion channel, a major component of the tRNA import machinery in plant mitochondria, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103 2006) 18362-18367
- [75] M. Pusnik, F. Charriere, P. Maser, R.F. Waller, M.J. Dagley, T. Lithgow, A. Schneider, The single mitochondrial porin of *Trypanosoma brucei* is the main metabolite transporter in the outer mitochondrial membrane, Mol. Biol. Evol. 26 (2009) 671–680.
- [76] N. Bouzaidi-Tiali, E. Aeby, F. Charriere, M. Pusnik, A. Schneider, Elongation factor 1a mediates the specificity of mitochondrial tRNA import in T. brucei, EMBO J. 26 (2007) 4302-4312
- [77] G. Reimer, I. Raska, U. Scheer, E.M. Tan, Immunolocalization of 7-2-ribonucleoprotein in the granular component of the nucleolus, Exp. Cell Res. 176 (1988) 117–128. [78] H.A. Gold, J.N. Topper, D.A. Clayton, J. Craft, The RNA processing enzyme RNase
- MRP is identical to the Th RNP and related to RNase P, Science 245 (1989) 1377-1380.
- [79] M.E. Schmitt, D.A. Clayton, Nuclear RNase MRP is required for correct processing of pre-5.8s rRNA in Saccharomyces cerevisiae, Mol. Cell. Biol. 13 (1993) 7935–7941.
- [80] S. Chu, R.H. Archer, J.M. Zengel, L. Lindahl, The RNA of RNase MRP is required for normal processing of ribosomal RNA, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 91 (1994) 659-663.
- [81] Z. Lygerou, C. Allmang, D. Tollervey, B. Seraphin, Accurate processing of a eukaryotic precursor ribosomal RNA by ribonuclease MRP in vitro, Science 272 (1996) 268-270.
- [82] T. Cai, J. Aulds, T. Gill, M. Cerio, M.E. Schmitt, The Saccharomyces cerevisiae RNase mitochondrial RNA processing is critical for cell cycle progression at the end of
- mitosis, Genetics 161 (2002) 1029-1042. T. Gill, T. Cai, J. Aulds, S. Wierzbicki, M.E. Schmitt, RNase MRP cleaves the CLB2 mRNA to promote cell cycle progression: novel method of mRNA degradation,
- Mol. Cell. Biol. 24 (2004) 945–953.
   Q. Lu, S. Wierzbicki, A.S. Krasilnikov, M.E. Schmitt, Comparison of mitochondrial and nucleolar RNase MRP reveals identical RNA components with distinct enzy-
- matic activities and protein components, RNA 16 (2010) 529–537.
   [85] M.J. Bibb, R.A. Van Etten, C.T. Wright, M.W. Walberg, D.A. Clayton, Sequence and gene organization of mouse mitochondrial DNA. Cell 26 (1981) 167-180.
- M.J. Hollingsworth, N.C. Martin, RNase P activity in the mitochondria of Saccharon [86] cerevisiae depends on both mitochondrion and nucleus-encoded components. Mol.
- Cell. Biol. 6 (1986) 1058–1064. A.V. Smirnov, N.S. Entelis, I.A. Krasheninnikov, R. Martin, I.A. Tarassov, Specific features of 5S rRNA structure — its interactions with macromolecules and possible functions, Biochemistry (Mosc) 73 (2008) 1418–1437.
   [88] E.C. Kouvela, G.V. Gerbanas, M.A. Xaplanteri, A.D. Petropoulos, G.P. Dinos, D.L.
- Kalpaxis, Changes in the conformation of 5S rRNA cause alterations in prine functions of the ribosomal nanomachine, Nucleic Acids Res. 35 (2007) 5108-5119.
- [89] B.F. Lang, L.J. Goff, M.W. Gray, A 5 S rRNA gene is present in the mitochondrial genome of the protist *Reclinomonas americana* but is absent from red algal mitochondrial DNA, J. Mol. Biol. 261 (1996) 407-413.
- M.R. Sharma, E.C. Koc, P.P. Datta, T.M. Booth, LL. Spremulli, R.K. Agrawal, Structure of the mammalian mitochondrial ribosome reveals an expanded functional role for [90]
- its component proteins, Cell 115 (2003) 97–108. W. Filipowicz, S.N. Bhattacharyya, N. Sonenberg, Mechanisms of post-transcriptional regulation by microRNAs: are the answers in sight? Nat. Rev 9 (2008) 102-114
- [92] B.C. Meyers, F.F. Souret, C. Lu, P.J. Green, Sweating the small stuff: microRNA discovery in plants, Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 17 (2006) 139-146.
- Li Behm-Ansmant, J. Rehwinkel, E. Izauralde, MicroRNAs silence gene expres-sion by repressing protein expression and/or by promoting mRNA decay, Cold
- Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol. 71 (2006) 523–530. M.B. Reeves, A.A. Davies, B.P. McSharry, G.W. Wilkinson, J.H. Sinclair, Complex I binding by a virally encoded RNA regulates mitochondria-induced cell death, Science 316 (2007) 1345–1348. S. Bandiera, S. Ruberg, M. Girard, N. Cagnard, S. Hanein, D. Chretien, A. Munnich,
- [95] S. Lyonnet, A. Henrion-Caude, Nuclear outsourcing of RNA interference compo
- Lyonnet, A. Henrion-Laude, Nuclear outsourcing of KNA Interference components to human mitochondria, PLOS One 6 (2011) e20746.
   T.R. Mercer, S. Neph, M.E. Dinger, J. Crawford, M.A. Smith, A.M. Shearwood, E. Haugen, C.P. Bracken, O. Rackham, J.A. Stamatoyannopoulos, A. Filipovska, J.S. Mattick, The human mitochondrial transcriptome, Cell 146 (2011) 645–658.
   E. Meylan, J. Curran, K. Hofmann, D. Moradpour, M. Binder, R. Bartenschlager, J. E. Meylan, J. Curran, K. Hofmann, D. Moradpour, M. Binder, R. Bartenschlager, J. K. Mattick, M. Stanta, K. Bartenschlager, J. K. Bartenschlager, B. K. Bartensch
- Tschopp, Cardif is an adaptor protein in the RIG-I antiviral pathway and is targeted by hepatitis C virus, Nature 437 (2005) 1167–1172.
- [98] I. Tarassov, N. Entelis, R.P. Martin, An intact protein translocating machinery is required for mitochondrial import of a yeast cytoplasmic tRNA, J. Mol. Biol. 245 (1995) 315-323.
- 249 (1995) 315–323.
  O.A. Kolesmikova, N.S. Entelis, C. Jacquin-Becker, F. Goltzene, Z.M. Chrzanows-ka-Lightowlers, R.N. Lightowlers, R.P. Martin, I. Tarassov, Nuclear DNA-encoded tRNAs targeted into mitochondria can rescue a mitochondrial DNA mutation associated with the MERRF syndrome in cultured human cells, Hum. Mol. Genet. 13 (2004) 2519–2534. [99]
- [100] J. Rinehart, B. Krett, M.A. Rubio, J.D. Alfonzo, D. Soll, Saccharomyces cerevisiae imports the cytosolic pathway for Gln-tRNA synthesis into the mitochondrion, Genes Dev. 19 (2005) 583–592.
- [101] A. Smirnov, C. Comte, A.M. Mager-Heckel, V. Addis, I.A. Krasheninnikov, R.P. Martin, N. Entelis, I. Tarassov, Mitochondrial enzyme rhodanese is essential fo 5 S ribosomal RNA import into human mitochondria, J. Biol. Chem. 285 (2010) 30792-30803.

mutations [115,116]. Currently, there is no efficient approach for overcoming mtDNA mutations in these morbid diseases. Existing therapies target symptoms instead of mending primary defects. Mitochondrial gene therapy provides an interesting approach to treating the root cause of these diseases. One practical application of studies on RNA import into mitochondria is to complement mtDNA alterations by introducing and importing corrective RNAs. Mitochondrial RNA import sequences could potentially be used to import RNAs that normally are not imported, such as those that could repair defective or inefficient electron transport chain mtRNAs. Another possible application is to manipulate the mitochondrial transcription or translation profile. For example, anti-sense RNAs could be imported to inhibit the expression of mutated mtRNA transcripts or to generate models of disease. Overall, the accumulating data indicates that RNAs, like proteins and lipids, traffic to the mitochondria and are required for proper mitochondrial function. Mammalian PNPASE is required for the import of some if not all of these small nucleusencoded RNAs.

#### Acknowledgments

This research is supported by the NIH (GM061721, GM073981, GM081621, CA90571, and CA156674), the Muscular Dystrophy Association (022398), the American Heart Association (0640076N), the California Institute of Regenerative Medicine (CIRM RB1-01397), and the Whitcome pre-doctoral training program of the UCLA Molecular Biology Institute.

#### References

- [1] A. Chacinska, C.M. Koehler, D. Milenkovic, T. Lithgow, N. Pfanner, Importing mi tochondrial proteins: machineries and mechanisms. Cell 138 (2009) 628-644.
- [2] O. Schmidt, N. Pfanner, C. Meisinger, Mitochondrial protein import: from prote-omics to functional mechanisms, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 11 (2010) 655–667.
- [3] A.M. Duchene, C. Pujol, L. Marechal-Drouard, Import of tRNAs and aminoacyl-tRNA synthetases into mitochondria, Curr. Genet. 55 (2009) 1–18.
   [4] F. Sieber, A.M. Duchene, L. Marechal-Drouard, Mitochondrial RNA import: from diversity of natural mechanisms to potential applications, Int. Rev. Cell. Mol.
- Biol. 287 (2011) 145-190. I. Tarassov, P. Kamenski, O. Kolesnikova, O. Karicheva, R.P. Martin, I.A. Krasheninnikov N. Entelis, Import of nuclear DNA-encoded RNAs into mitochondria and mitochondri-al translation, Cell cycle 6 (2007) 2473–2477.
- [6] P. Kamenski, O. Kolesnikova, V. Jubenot, N. Entelis, I.A. Krasheninnikov, R.P. Martin, I. Tarassov, Evidence for an adaptation mechanism of mitochondrial translation via tRNA import from the cytosol, Mol. cell 26 (2007) 625–637.
- A Smirnov N Entelis R P Martin I Tarassov Biological significance of 5S rRNA [7] import into human mitochondria: role of ribosomal protein MRP-L18, Genes Dev. 25 (2011) 1289-1305.
- [8] D.D. Chang, D.A. Clayton, A novel endoribonuclease cleaves at a priming site of mouse mitochondrial DNA replication, EMBO J. 6 (1987) 409–417.
- [9] H.D. Robertson, S. Altman, J.D. Smith, Purification and properties of a specific *Escherichia coli* ribonuclease which cleaves a tyrosine transfer ribonucleic acid precursor, J. Biol. Chem. 247 (1972) 5243–5251.
- CJ. Doersen, C. Guerrier-Takada, S. Altman, G. Attardi, Characterization of an RNase P activity from HeLa cell mitochondria. Comparison with the cytosol RNase P activity, J. Biol. Chem. 260 (1985) 5942–5949. [10]
- G. Wang, H.W. Chen, Y. Oktay, J. Zhang, E.L. Allen, G.M. Smith, K.C. Fan, J.S. Hong, S.W. French, J.M. McCaffery, R.N. Lightowlers, H.C. Morse III, C.M. Koehler, M.A. [11] Teitell, PNPASE regulates RNA import into mitochondria, Cell 142 (2010) 456-467
- [12] R. Raijmakers, W.V. Egberts, W.J. van Venrooij, G.J. Pruijn, Protein-protein interactions between human exosome components support the assembly of RNase PH-type subunits into a six-membered PNPase-like ring, J. Mol. Biol. 323 (2002) 653-663.
- [13] M. Leszczyniecka, Z.Z. Su, D.C. Kang, D. Sarkar, P.B. Fisher, Expression regulation and genomic organization of human polynucleotide phosphorylase, hPNPase(old-35), a Type I interferon inducible early response gene, Gene 316 (2003) 143-156
- [14] M. Leszczyniecka, R. DeSalle, D.C. Kang, P.B. Fisher, The origin of polynucleotide
- [14] In Restauring the barrier for hanger to be for the form of the barrier for t 243-263
- [16] C.Y. Kao, L.K. Read, Opposing effects of polyadenylation on the stability of edited and unedited mitochondrial RNAs in Trypanosoma brucei, Mol. Cell. Biol. 25 (2005) 1634-1644.

- [17] J.M. Andrade, V. Pobre, I.J. Silva, S. Domingues, C.M. Arraiano, The role of 3'-5' exoribonucleases in RNA degradation, Prog. Mol. Biol. Transl. Sci. 85 (2009) 187-229
- [18] U.Z. Littauer, H. Soreq, The regulatory function of poly(A) and adjacent 3' sequences in translated RNA, Prog. Nucleic Acid. Res. Mol. Biol. 27 (1982) 53–83.
- [19] M. Grunberg-Manago, Messenger RNA stability and its role in control of gene expression in bacteria and phages, Annu. Rev. Genet. 33 (1999) 193–227.
- [20] M.F. Symmons, M.G. Williams, B.F. Luisi, G.H. Jones, A.J. Carpousis, Running rings around RNA: a superfamily of phosphate-dependent RNases, Trends Biochem. Control (2000) 141 (2001) 141 Sci. 27 (2002) 11–18.
- S. Lin-Chao, N.T. Chiou, G. Schuster, The PNPase, exosome and RNA helicases as the building components of evolutionarily-conserved RNA degradation machines, J. [21] Biomed. Sci. 14 (2007) 523-532.
- B.K. Mohanty, S.R. Kushner, Polynucleotide phosphorylase functions both as a 3' right-arrow 5' exonuclease and a poly(A) polymerase in *Escherichia coli*, Proc. Natl. [22] Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 97 (2000) 11966-11971.
- Yehudai-Resheff, M. Hirsh, G. Schuster, Polynucleotide phosphorylase func-[23] tions as both an exonuclease and a poly(A) polymerase in spinach chloroplasts, Mol. Cell. Biol. 21 (2001) 5408–5416. S. Holec, H. Lange, K. Kuhn, M. Alioua, T. Borner, D. Gagliardi, Relaxed transcrip-
- tion in *Arabidopsis* mitochondria is counterbalanced by RNA stability control mediated by polyadenylation and polynucleotide phosphorylase, Mol. Cell. Biol. 26 (2006) 2869–2876.
- R. Rott, G. Zipor, V. Portnoy, V. Liveanu, G. Schuster, RNA polyadenylation and degradation in cyanobacteria are similar to the chloroplast but different from *Escherichia coli*, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 15771–15777. [25]
- [26] A. Jarrige, D. Brechemier-Baey, N. Mathy, O. Duche, C. Portier, Mutational analysis of polynucleotide phosphorylase from *Escherichia coli*, J. Mol. Biol. 321 (2002) 397–409.
- M. Leszczyniecka, D.C. Kang, D. Sarkar, Z.Z. Su, M. Holmes, K. Valerie, P.B. Fisher. [27] Identification and cloning of human polynucleotide phosphorylase, hPNPase old-35, in the context of terminal differentiation and cellular senescence, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 99 (2002) 16636-16641.
- N. Fukuhara, H. Tagawa, Y. Kameoka, Y. Kasugai, S. Karnan, J. Kameoka, T. Sasaki, Y. Morishima, S. Nakamura, M. Seto, Characterization of target genes at the 2p15–16 [28] amplicon in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, Cancer Sci. 97 (2006) 499–504. L.S. Kirschner, S.E. Taymans, S. Pack, E. Pak, B.L. Pike, S.C. Chandrasekharappa, Z.
- Zhuang, C.A. Stratakis, Genomic mapping of chromosomal region 2p15–p21 (D2S378–D2S391): integration of Genemap'98 within a framework of yeast and bacterial artificial chromosomes, Genomics 62 (1999) 21–33.
- D. Sarkar, E.S. Park, P.B. Fisher, Defining the mechanism by which IFN-beta downregulates c-myc expression in human melanoma cells: pivotal role for human polynuclectide phosphorylase (hPNPaseold-35), Cell Death. Differ. 13 [30] (2006) 1541-1553
- D. Sarkar, E.S. Park, L. Emdad, A. Randolph, K. Valerie, P.B. Fisher, Defining the [31]
- D. Sarkai, E.S. Fark, E. Elinda, A. Kaludiph, K. Valerie, F.S. Fisher, Demining the domains of human polynucleotide phosphorylase (INPNaseOLD-35) mediating cellular sensecence, Mol. Cell. Biol. 25 (2005) 7333–7343.
  H.W. Chen, R.N. Rainey, C.E. Balatoni, D.W. Dawson, J.J. Troke, S. Wasiak, J.S. Hong, H.M. McBride, C.M. Koehler, M.A. Teitell, S.W. French, Mammali-an polynucleotide phosphorylase is an intermembrane space RNase that multiple mitight hemospheric (INP) (2012) (2012) (2012) [32] maintains mitochondrial homeostasis, Mol. Cell. Biol. 26 (2006) 8475-8487.
- K. Gewartowski, R. Tomecki, L. Muchowski, A. Dmochow Ska, A. Dzwonek, M. [33] Malecki, H. Skurzak, J. Ostrowski, P.P. Stepien, Up-regulation of human PNPase mRNA by beta-interferon has no effect on protein level in melanoma cell lines, Acta Biochim. Pol. 53 (2006) 179–188.
- H. Hayakawa, M. Sekiguchi, Human polynucleotide phosphorylase protein in re-sponse to oxidative stress, Biochemistry 45 (2006) 6749–6755. [34] [35]
- L.C. Platanias, Mechanisms of type-I- and type-II-interferon-mediated signalling, Nat. Rev. Immunol. 5 (2005) 375-386. [36] R.B. Seth, L. Sun, C.K. Ea, Z.J. Chen, Identification and characterization of MAVS, a
- mitochondrial antiviral signaling protein that activates NF-kappaB and IRF 3, M.F. Symmons, G.H. Jones, B.F. Luisi, A duplicated fold is the structural basis for
- polynucleotide phosphorylase catalytic activity, processivity, and regulation, Structure 8 (2000) 1215–1226.
- S. Yehudai-Resheff, V. Portnov, S. Yogev, N. Adir, G. Schuster, Domain analysis of [38] the chloroplast polynucleotide phosphorylase reveals discrete functions in RNA degradation, polyadenylation, and sequence homology with exosome proteins, Plant Cell 15 (2003) 2003-2019.
- L.M. Stickney, J.S. Hankins, X. Miao, G.A. Mackie, Function of the conserved S1 and KH domains in polynucleotide phosphorylase, J. Bacteriol. 187 (2005) 7214-7221
- G.G. Liou, H.Y. Chang, C.S. Lin, S. Lin-Chao, DEAD box RhlB RNA helicase physically associates with exoribonuclease PNPase to degrade double-stranded RNA indeper dent of the degradosome-assembling region of RNase E, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) -41162.
- Z. Shi, W.Z. Yang, S. Lin-Chao, K.F. Chak, H.S. Yuan, Crystal structure of Escherichia [41] coli PNPase: central channel residues are involved in processive RNA degradation, RNA 14 (2008) 2361–2371.
- M. Walter, J. Kilian, J. Kudla, PNPase activity determines the efficiency of mRNA 3'-end processing, the degradation of tRNA and the extent of polyadenylation in chloroplasts, EMBO J. 21 (2002) 6905–6914. [42]
- S. Baginsky, A. Shteiman-Kotler, V. Liveanu, S. Yehudai-Resheff, M. Bellaoui, R.E. Settlage, J. Shabanowitz, D.F. Hunt, G. Schuster, W. Gruissem, Chloroplast [43] PNPase exists as a homo-multimer enzyme complex that is distinct from the Escherichia coli degradosome, RNA 7 (2001) 1464-1475.

#### G. Wang et al. / Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1819 (2012) 998-1007

- [102] A. Smirnov, I. Tarassov, A.M. Mager-Heckel, M. Letzelter, R.P. Martin, I.A. Krasheninnikov, N. Entelis, Two distinct structural elements of 5S rRNA are needed for its import into human mitochondria, RNA 14 (2008) 749-759.
- V. Portnoy, G. Palnizky, S. Yehudai-Resheff, F. Glaser, G. Schuster, Analysis of the human polynucleotide phosphorylase (PNPase) reveals differences in RNA bind-[103] ing and response to phosphate compared to its bacterial and chloroplast counterparts, RNA 14 (2008) 297–309.
   [104] S. Anderson, A.T. Bankier, B.G. Barrell, M.H. de Bruijn, A.R. Coulson, J. Drouin, I.C.
- Eperon, D.P. Nierlich, B.A. Roe, F. Sanger, P.H. Schreier, A.J. Smith, R. Staden, I.G. Young, Sequence and organization of the human mitochondrial genome, Nature
- Young, Sequence and organization of the numbar hinocholinal genome, Nature 290 (1981) 457–465.
  [105] K. Tomita, T. Ueda, K. Watanabe, RNA editing in the acceptor stem of squid mitochondrial tRNA(Tyr), Nucleic Acids Res. 24 (1996) 4987–4991.
  [106] S. Yokobori, S. Paabo, Polyadenylation creates the discriminator nucleotide of chicken mitochondrial tRNA(Tyr), J. Mol. Biol. 265 (1997) 95–99.
  [107] S. Slomovic, D. Laufer, D. Geiger, G. Schuster, Polyadenylation and degradation of the state of the state
- human mitochondrial RNA: the prokaryotic past leaves its mark, Mol. Cell. Biol. 25 (2005) 6427–6435.
- [2003] 0427-0433.
   [108] R.J. Temperley, S.H. Seneca, K. Tonska, E. Bartnik, LA. Bindoff, R.N. Lightowlers, Z.M. Chrzanowska-Lightowlers, Investigation of a pathogenic mtDNA microde-letion reveals a translation-dependent deadenylation decay pathway in human mitochondria, Hum. Mol. Genet. 12 (2003) 2341-2348.

- [109] T. Nagaike, T. Suzuki, T. Ueda, Polyadenylation in mammalian mitochondria: insights from recent studies, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1779 (2008) 266–269.
   [110] S. Slomovic, G. Schuster, Stable PNPase RNAi silencing: its effect on the
- processing and adenylation of human mitochondrial RNA, RNA 14 (2008) 310-323.
- R. Tomecki, A. Dmochowska, K. Gewartowski, A. Dziembowski, P.P. Stepien, Identification of a novel human nuclear-encoded mitochondrial poly(A) polymerase, [111] Nucleic Acids Res. 32 (2004) 6001-6014.
- D.C. Wallace, Mitochondrial DNA sequence variation in human evolution and disease, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 91 (1994) 8739–8746. [112] [113] D.C. Wallace, Mitochondrial diseases in man and mouse, Science 283 (1999)
- 1482-1488. [114] W. Fan, K.G. Waymire, N. Narula, P. Li, C. Rocher, P.E. Coskun, M.A. Vannan, J.
- Narula, G.R. Magregor, D.C. Wallace, A mouse model of mitochondrial disease reveals germline selection against severe mtDNA mutations, Science 319 (2008) 958–962.
- (a) So Society C. Paradies, F.M. Ruggiero, Mitochondrial dysfunction in brain aging: role of oxidative stress and cardiolipin, Neurochem. Int. 58 (2010) 447–457. [115]
- [116] G. Paradies, F.M. Ruggiero, G. Petrosillo, E. Quagliariello, Age-dependent impairment of mitochondrial function in rat heart tissue. Effect of pharmacological agents, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 786 (1996) 252-263.

# **Appendix III:** Mitochondria-Targeted RNA Import

## **Chapter 11**

#### **Mitochondria-Targeted RNA Import**

Geng Wang, Eriko Shimada, Mahta Nili, Carla M. Koehler, and Michael A. Teitell

#### Abstract

The import of a modest number of nucleus-encoded RNAs into mitochondria has been reported in species ranging from yeast to human. With the advent of high-throughput RNA sequencing, additional nucleusencoded mitochondrial RNAs are being identified. Confirming the mitochondrial localization of candidate RNAs of interest (e.g., small noncoding RNAs, miRNAs, tRNAs, and possibly lncRNAs and viral RNAs) and understanding their function within the mitochondrion is assisted by in vitro and in vivo import assay systems. Here we describe these two systems for studying mitochondrial RNA import, processing, and functions.

Key words Mitochondria, RNA import, Polynucleotide phosphorylase (PNPASE)

#### 1 Introduction

Mitochondria import a range of nucleus-encoded RNAs, with different species having different substrate specificities [1]. Some of these RNAs are processed within mitochondria and have functions different from their cytosolic or nuclear counterparts [2]. Studying nucleus-encoded mitochondrial RNAs emphasizes a few general approaches. First, RNA localization inside mitochondria can be confirmed using organelle fractionation after the substrate RNA is imported in vitro. Second, the processing or cleavage of imported RNAs can be studied using northern blotting or in vitro import of radiolabeled RNA substrates of known length. Specific RNA processing sites and the addition of nucleotides can be identified using RNA ligation, followed by semiquantitative RT-PCR and sequencing, as described previously [3]. Finally, the functions of imported RNAs can be studied using approaches that are specific to the RNA species of interest. In addition to mechanistic and functional studies, mitochondrial RNA import pathway(s)

....

Volkmar Weissig and Marvin Edeas (eds.), Mitochondrial Medicine: Volume I, Probing Mitochondrial Function, Methods in Molecular Biology, vol. 1264, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-2257-4\_11, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2015

Geng Wang et al.

and signal sequence(s) can be co-opted to import RNAs of interest into mitochondria to rescue defects caused by mtDNA mutations or to change the mitochondrial genome expression profile [4, 5]. Here, we describe two mitochondrial RNA import systems for these studies. One system is an in vitro import assay that uses in vitro-transcribed RNA substrates and either isolated yeast or mammalian mitochondria. A second, more challenging, and currently less efficient and less well-understood system is an in vivo import assay that utilizes an RNA import signal sequence in exogenously expressed DNA to target nucleus-encoded RNAs for import into mitochondria. The RNA substrates for in vitro import can be either radiolabeled or unlabeled and detected using autoradiography or RT-PCR, respectively. For yeast mitochondria, exogenous expression of the mammalian RNA import protein, polynucleotide phosphorylase (PNPASE), generates a system with enhanced import efficiency for substrate RNAs [6]. The efficiency of the in vivo import system varies markedly depending on the RNA to be imported; unfortunately, the precise rules for efficient RNA import in vivo have not been fully elucidated. In vivo, pre-mitochondrial processing of target RNA in the nucleus and/or cytosol and trafficking of RNA to the mitochondrion needs to be carefully considered, as these factors seem to greatly affect RNA import efficiency [5].

#### 2 Materials

All solutions should be prepared using RNase-free water and the reagents used should be analytical grade. Unless indicated otherwise, all reagents should be prepared and stored at room temperature.

2.1 Mitoc RNA I 2.1.1 Transci	In Vitro hondrial mport In Vitro ription	1. MEGAscript <sup>®</sup> SP6 Kit from Ambion (catalog number: AM1330) is used for in vitro transcription. The kit contains an enzyme mix, 10× reaction buffer, and solutions of ATP, CTP, GTP, and UTP ( <i>see</i> <b>Note 1</b> ). 2. $\alpha$ -P <sup>32</sup> -labeled CTP, 6,000 Ci/mmol, 10 mCi/mL ( <i>see</i> <b>Note 2</b> ).
2.1.2	RNA Isolation	<ol> <li>RNase-free water. Store at 4 °C.</li> <li>Trizol reagent (Invitrogen). Store at 4 °C.</li> <li>Chloroform.</li> <li>75 % Ethanol (RNAse-free). Store at 4 °C.</li> <li>Isopropyl alcohol.</li> </ol>
2.1.3	In Vitro RNA Import	1. 2× Import buffer for yeast mitochondria: 1.2 M sorbitol, 100 mM KCl, 100 mM HEPES, 20 mM MgCl <sub>2</sub> , pH 7.1. Store at -20 °C.
2.1.4 Urea- Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis (Urea-PAGE)	<ol> <li>2× Import buffer for mammalian mitochondria: 0.45 M mannitol, 0.15 M sucrose, 20 mM HEPES, 50 mM KCl, 10 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, pH 7.4. Store at -20 °C (<i>see</i> Note 3).</li> <li>100 mM ATP. Store at -20 °C.</li> <li>100 mM DTT (prepare fresh).</li> <li>500 mM NADH. Store at -20 °C.</li> <li>500 mM sodium succinate (prepare fresh).</li> <li>10 mg/mL RNase A. Store at -20 °C.</li> <li>10 mg/mL proteinase K. Store at -20 °C.</li> <li>SDS buffer: 1 % SDS, 100 mM NaCl, 10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4.</li> <li>5× Tris-borate-EDTA (TBE) buffer.</li> <li>40 % Acrylamide/bisacrylamide (29:1) solution. Store at 4 °C.</li> <li>Ammonium persulfate: 10 % solution in water (prepare fresh).</li> <li>N,N,N,N-tetramethyl-ethylenediamine (TEMED).</li> <li>Formamide loading buffer: 95 % deionized formamide, 5 mM EDTA, 0.025 % (w/v) SDS, 0.025 % (w/v) bromophenol blue. Store at -20 °C (<i>see</i> Note 4).</li> </ol>	
---	--	
2.2 In Vivo Mitochondrial RNA Import 2.2.1 Transient Transfection	<ol> <li>2× HEPES-buffered saline (HBS): 50 mM HEPES, 280 mM NaCl, 1.5 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HP0<sub>4</sub>, pH 7.1.</li> <li>1 M CaCl<sub>2</sub>.</li> </ol>	
2.2.2 Mitochondria Isolation	<ol> <li>Mitoprep buffer: 0.225 M mannitol, 0.075 M sucrose, 20 mM HEPES, pH 7.4. Store at 4 °C.</li> <li>0.5 M EDTA. Store at 4 °C.</li> <li>0.2 M PMSF. Store at -20 °C.</li> </ol>	
2.2.3 RNase A Treatment, RNA Isolation, and DNase Treatment	<ol> <li>10 mg/mL digitonin (prepare fresh).</li> <li>10 mg/mL RNase A. Store at -20 °C.</li> <li>SDS buffer: 1 % SDS, 100 mM NaCl, 10 mM Tris-Cl, pH 7.4.</li> <li>RNase-free water. Store at 4 °C.</li> <li>Trizol reagent (Invitrogen). Store at 4 °C.</li> <li>Chloroform.</li> <li>75 % RNase-free ethanol. Store at 4 °C.</li> <li>Isopropyl alcohol.</li> <li>DNase I, RNase-free (Thermo Scientific).</li> </ol>	
2.2.4 RT-PCR	1. One-Step RT-PCR Kit (e.g., Promega).	

specified.

### 3 Methods

3.1	In	Vitro
Mito	cho	ndrial
RNA	Im	port

3.1.1 In Vitro

Transcription

1. Prepare a DNA template that contains the SP6 polymerase promoter site for in vitro transcription.

Carry out all procedures at room temperature unless otherwise

2. Perform in vitro transcription using the MEGAscript<sup>®</sup> Kit from Ambion (*see* **Note 5**). Mix all of the components at room temperature in a 0.5 mL Eppendorf tube. The following is an example of a 20 μL reaction (*see* **Note 6**):

ATP	1.5 μL
СТР	1.0 µL
GTP	1.5 μL
UTP	1.5 μL
10× Reaction buffer	2.0 µL
α-P <sup>32</sup> -CTP	7.5 µL
Linear template DNA <sup>a</sup>	0.1–1.0 µg
Enzyme mix	$2.0\ \mu L$
Nuclease-free water	to 20 $\mu L$

<sup>a</sup>Use 0.1–0.2 µg PCR-product template or ~1 µg linearized plasmid

- 3. Pipette the mixture up and down or flick the tube gently. Then centrifuge the tube briefly to collect the reaction mixture at the bottom of the tube. Incubate at 37 °C for 2–4 h. If the transcripts are less than 500 ribonucleotides (nt), a longer incubation time (up to 16 h) may be advantageous.
- 3.1.2 RNA Isolation
- 1. After incubation, add 400  $\mu$ L Trizol reagent and 170  $\mu$ L chloroform to the mixture and vortex for 1 min.
- 2. Centrifuge the sample at  $12,400 \times g$  for 5 min at room temperature.
- 3. Transfer the upper aqueous phase into a fresh Eppendorf tube carefully without disturbing the interphase. Add  $300 \ \mu L$  isopropanol to the aqueous solution and mix by pipetting or inverting the tube.
- 4. Centrifuge the sample at 20,000×g for 10 min at 4 °C (see Note 7).
- 5. Carefully remove the supernatant. Add 600  $\mu$ L ice-cold 75 % ethanol to the tube and invert the tube ten times.
- 6. Centrifuge at 20,000 × g for 2 min at 4 °C. Remove the supernatant (*see* **Note 8**).

 Dry the RNA pellet at 37 °C and resuspend the RNA in RNasefree water (*see* Note 9). The RNA can be used fresh or stored at -80 °C for later use.

3.1.3 In Vitro RNAFor import into mammalian mitochondria, always use freshly iso-<br/>lated mitochondria. For import into yeast mitochondria, freshly<br/>isolated mitochondria or mitochondria that were previously iso-<br/>lated, flash-frozen, and stored at -80 °C can be used. For import,<br/>finding a good negative control RNA that is not imported is<br/>required, and it is recommended that at least two different concen-<br/>trations of test and control RNA is used in each experiment.

- 1. Freshly prepare 500 mM sodium succinate and 100 mM DTT. Thaw the 2× RNA import buffer, 500 mM NADH, and 100 mM ATP at room temperature.
- 2. Assemble the import reaction at room temperature. The following amounts are for a single 200  $\mu$ L reaction in a 1.5 mL Eppendorf tube:

2× Import buffer (yeast)	98 μL
RNase-free water	$62\;\mu\mathrm{L}$
100 mM ATP	10 µL
500 mM NADH	$2.0\;\mu L$
100 mM DTT	$4.0\;\mu\mathrm{L}$
Mitochondria (100 $\mu g$ )	$10 \ \mu L$
5 pmol RNA	$10 \ \mu L$

Yeast mitochondria import reaction:

Mammalian mitochondria import reaction:

2× Import buffer (mammals)	98 μL
RNase-free water	58 µL
100 mM ATP	$10 \ \mu L$
500 mM sodium succinate	6.0 µL
100 mM DTT	$4.0\ \mu L$
Mitochondria (100 µg)	$10 \ \mu L$
5 pmol RNA	10 µL

- 3. Add together everything in the import reaction except the RNA and incubate at 30  $^{\circ}$ C for 5 min.
- 4. Add RNA to the import reaction and mix gently. Incubate at 30 °C for 10 min to import RNA (*see* Note 10).

2 Geng Wang et a	al.
	<ol> <li>After import, add 1 μL of 10 mg/mL RNase A to the import reaction. Incubate at 30 °C for 20 min (see Note 11).</li> </ol>
	6. Transfer the mixture to a new tube and incubate at 30 °C for an additional 10 min ( <i>see</i> Note 12).
	7. Centrifuge the mitochondria into a pellet at $11,000 \times g$ for 4 min at room temperature. Proceed immediately to step 2 in the next section.
3.1.4 RNA Purification	1. Add proteinase K to $1 \times$ SDS buffer at a final concentration of 25 µg/mL and heat the SDS buffer to 95 °C.
	2. Add 100 $\mu L$ of SDS buffer from the previous step to the mitochondrial pellet and incubate at 80 $^{\circ}C$ for 1 min.
	3. Immediately isolate RNA according to the purification steps detailed in Subheading 3.2, above, and dry the RNA pellet.
3.1.5 5 % Urea-PAGE	1. Prepare a 5 % urea-polyacrylamide gel before starting the import assay and pre-run the gel for 30 min at 300 V.
	2. Dissolve mitochondrial RNA in 30 $\mu$ L of formamide loading buffer and incubate at 95 °C for 10 min.
	3. Immediately load RNA samples onto the urea-polyacrylamide gel. Electrophorese at 300 V until the dye front reaches the bottom of the gel ( <i>see</i> <b>Note 13</b> ).
	When unlabeled RNA is used, the imported RNA can be detected by semiquantitative RT-PCR. Since many more steps are required, it may potentially introduce additional inefficiencies and/or may result in increased RNA degradation. Also, it is impor- tant to note that if the RNA is processed upon import, the primers that detect the RNA precursor form may not detect the processed RNA version.
3.1.6 Film Exposure	1. Following electrophoresis, remove the gel and place it onto a Whatman filter paper and dry it on a vacuum gel dryer.
	2. Expose the gel for 1–7 days on X-ray film (see Note 14).
3.2 In Vivo Mitochondrial RNA Import	The system described here is for adherent mammalian cells (e.g., HEK293, HeLa, mouse embryonic fibroblasts) only. Clone the RNA-encoding gene into a desired mammalian vector. Noncoding RNA promoters or mRNA promoters have both been used successfully. Since semiquantitative RT-PCR is used for detection, it is essential to design primers that specifically amplify the imported RNA and distinguish it from endogenous sequences. In vivo RNA import is generally more complicated than in vitro RNA import with many parameters that affect efficiency still to be defined and with RNA localization and processing issues to consider, so a mitochondrial RNA import signal appended to an RNA of interest alone rarely results in successful mitochondrial import without further expression vector modifications.

3.2.1 Mammalian Tissue Culture Cell Transformation	1. Split a fairly confluent (70–90 %) culture between 1:3 and 1:4 into 15 cm plates ( <i>see</i> <b>Note 15</b> ).
	2. When the cells are 70 % confluent, transfect the cells with con- trol and RNA import constructs of interest (the protocol below is one example method of many; <i>see</i> <b>Note 16</b> ).
	(a) Replace cell media with fresh DMEM+10 % FBS and supplements.
	(b) In a sterile tube, mix 100 μg of DNA with 128 μL 1 M CaCl <sub>2</sub> , 500 μL 2× HBS, and enough ddH <sub>2</sub> O to make up a total volume of 1 mL ( <i>see</i> Note 17). Incubate the mixture at room temperature for 20 min.
	(c) Carefully add the mixture to the plates in a dropwise fash- ion. Mix by rocking back and forth.
	(d) Incubate the transfected cells in a 5 % $CO_2$ incubator for 48 h ( <i>see</i> Note 18).
3.2.2 Mitochondria Isolation	1. Collect cells by centrifuging at $2,000 \times g$ for 2 min at room temperature. Remove the supernatant. Wash the cells with 1 mL 1× PBS, pH 7.4.
	2. Resuspend the cells in 1.5 mL mitoprep buffer with 1 mM EDTA and 0.5 mM PMSF and transfer to a 5 mL glass/Teflon homogenizer. Perform 30 dounce strokes ( <i>see</i> Note 19).
	3. Transfer homogenate into a 1.5 mL Eppendorf tube and centrifuge at $800 \times g$ for 5 min at 4 °C. Transfer the supernatant to a new Eppendorf tube.
	4. Resuspend the pellet in 1.5 mL mitoprep buffer. Perform 20 dounce strokes. Transfer homogenate into a 1.5 mL Eppendorf tube and centrifuge at $800 \times g$ for 5 min at 4 °C. Transfer the supernatant to a new Eppendorf tube. Take out 25 $\mu$ L from each supernatant and keep it on ice as a measure of assay input.
	5. Spin down the supernatants from the first and second dounc- ing at $800 \times g$ for 5 min at 4 °C.
	6. Transfer the supernatants to new Eppendorf tubes and centri- fuge at $11,000 \times g$ for 5 min at 4 °C. Combine the pellets and wash with 1 mL mitoprep buffer. Centrifuge at $11,000 \times g$ for 5 min at 4 °C, remove the supernatant, and resuspend the pel- let in 30 µL mitoprep buffer.
3.2.3 RNase	1. RNase A treatment.
and DNase I Treatment	<ul> <li>(a) Add 200 μg fresh mitochondria into 200 μL mitoprep buffer.</li> </ul>
	(h) Add 1 ut 10 mg/mI digitanin to the mitechandria

(b) Add 1  $\mu$ L 10 mg/mL digitonin to the mitochondria. Vortex gently at a low speed (*see* **Note 20**).

Geng Wang et al.

	<ul> <li>(c) Add 0.5 μL RNase A to the mixture (see Note 21). Incubate the mixture at 27 °C for 20 min. After incubation, centrifuge at 11,000×g for 5 min. Remove as much supernatant as possible.</li> <li>2. Trizol RNA isolation.</li> <li>(a) Resuspend the pellet from the previous step in 100 μL SDS buffer with 25 μg/mL proteinase K preheated to 95 °C. Quickly put the tubes in an 80 °C heat block for 5 min (see Note 22).</li> <li>(b) Add 400 μL Trizol reagent and 170 μL chloroform to the lysate. Purify the RNA as indicated in Subheading 3.2, above, of the in vitro import protocol (see Note 23).</li> <li>3. DNase L treatment</li> </ul>
	Resuspend the nucleic acid mixture in 30 $\mu$ L DNase buffer with 0.5 unit of DNase I. Incubate at 37 °C for 30 min. Transfer the tubes to 65 °C and incubate for 10 min to inacti- vate DNase I.
3.2.4 RT-PCR	Use 1 $\mu$ L sample as template for a 20 $\mu$ L reaction. Specific primers are used for the one-step RT-PCR reaction ( <i>see</i> <b>Note 24</b> ).
4 Notes	
	1. For in vitro transcription, different RNA polymerase promoters, such as SP6, T7, or T3, can be used.
	2. The radiolabel can be on any of the four ribonucleosides, but it must be labeled at the $\alpha$ position. Do not use $\beta$ - or $\gamma$ -labeled ribonucleoside triphosphates. Make sure to use caution when working with radioactive materials and follow institutional handling, use, and waste management protocols.
	3. Many different buffers are used for mammalian mitochondria isolation. However, we recommend the use of a mannitol-sucrose buffer for the isolation procedure, so the mitochondria are maintained in the same conditions as the import buffer.
	4. Heating the RNA sample with formamide loading buffer dena- tures the RNA and nucleases.
	5. It is essential to pick the kit for the specific promoter. It is not necessary to use a kit, and homemade transcription systems can be used instead. However, we have observed that the commer- cial kits generally have a higher yield and increased full-length RNA products.
	6. Different genes can have very different yields even with the same promoter and the same kit, so it is important to adjust the volume and reaction time as needed.

- 7. In most cases, a pale white RNA pellet will form at the bottom of the tube.
- 8. Remove as much supernatant as possible. Otherwise the drying would take much longer.
- 9. Do not dry the RNA at temperatures higher than 37 °C. Drying at a higher temperature makes it more difficult for the pellet to dissolve in water. For unlabeled RNA that requires semiquantitative RT-PCR for detection, it is necessary to perform the DNase treatment before proceeding to the next step.
- 10. In general, RNA import is quick. 10 min is normally sufficient, but the import reaction time can be adjusted up to 20 min.
- 11. RNase A is chosen because it does not require a strict buffer condition, so a buffer exchange step is not required. It is important to handle RNase A carefully, so it will not contaminate the samples in later steps. Hold the stock tube with only one hand and change gloves right after adding the enzyme. Alternatively, 25 µg/mL of S7 nuclease may be used in a 200 µL reaction containing 50 mM Tris–Cl, pH 8.0, and 5 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>.
- 12. This step ensures thorough RNase A treatment because some RNA may stick on the upper wall of the tube and not mix with the enzyme.
- 13. The percentage of the gel should be decided according to the length of the precursor and mature RNA species of interest. For RNA lengths between 200 and 500 nt, a 5 % urea-polyacrylamide gel is sufficient. It is not recommended to run the dye front off of the gel. This will cause the buffer to become radioactive.
- 14. Often, the import efficiency is not high, so a long exposure time is needed.
- 15. This method works best for adherent cells. The transfection efficiency varies among cell lines.
- 16. A control construct should encode RNA that is not imported into mitochondria. An import construct encodes the RNA of interest or RNA with an import signal and other sequences that are required for import.
- 17. The amount of the construct used should be adjusted so that the control and the import RNAs are expressed at similar levels, if possible.
- 18. The incubation time after transfection should be determined according to the experimental need.
- 19. It is important to avoid bubbles. Perform dounce strokes slowly.
- 20. This step permeabilizes the mitochondrial outer membrane.
- 21. Do not add too much RNase A because it cannot be easily inactivated even by added SDS and heat.